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08HELPING CLIENTS SOLVE PROBLEMS



BlackRock’s long-stated corporate mission has been to help our clients solve problems.
This unwavering commitment to helping clients with their investment challenges
may sound simple, but it demands we bring together the collective resources of our
organization from around the world. It requires the integration of our deep capital
markets expertise, extensive risk management and advisory capabilities, and our 
time-tested operating processes. More importantly, it requires that we stop to listen.

Today, we hear clearly that investors of all sizes have rapidly changing needs, unique 
to their particular circumstances. We hear that they want to be prepared for whatever
the market brings next. We hear that clients want objective advice and tailored solutions
from strategic partners that can provide a diversified platform through which to allocate
investments globally. And we remain keenly aware of the fiduciary responsibilities of 
our business and the trust our clients and shareholders place in us. 

Recent industry events highlight basic principles of corporate ethics, culture and integrity.
As we enter our tenth year as a public company on the New York Stock Exchange, we
recognize that our clients look to us as an independently managed firm for thoughtful
and objective advice that they can trust. We are committed to earning that trust each and
every day and, through our efforts, to creating enduring portfolio and shareholder value.

177528_Narr_R2  4/13/09  7:42 PM  Page 1



FINANCIAL & BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

(in thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Revenue
Operating income, as adjusted
Net income, as adjusted

Per share: Diluted earnings, as adjusted
Book value

Assets under management (in millions)

Years ended December 31,

2008

$5,063,908
1,661,816

858,138

6.45
92.89

1,307,151

2007

$4,844,655
1,517,800
1,079,694

8.17
90.13

1,356,644

2006

$2,097,976
673,148
444,703

5.33
83.57

1,124,627

1

2

1

1

1 Operating income, operating margin, net income and diluted earnings per share are presented on an as adjusted basis. Please see pages 19 and 20 for GAAP 

reconciliation. 2 Please see Important Notes on inside back cover.

At December 31, 2008, BlackRock managed $1.307 trillion of assets, down less than 4% from year-end
2007 in the face of global equity market declines in excess of 30%.  

Over 1,000 clients in more than 39 countries awarded BlackRock $167.6 billion of net new business 
during 2008, driving a 12% organic growth rate for the year. 

We successfully navigated hostile money markets, adding 8% in liquidity AUM and gaining market share
in the highly competitive cash management business.

Our domestic retail business expanded its presence on third-party distribution platforms, helping drive
$7.1 billion of net inflows from retail and high net worth investors.

BlackRock’s international retail platform retained its ranking as the second largest cross-border fund
manager and ranked number one in net sales in the U.K. 

Institutional investors globally turned to us for innovative investment solutions, resulting in $23.9 billion
of net new business in products such as liability-driven investing, fiduciary outsourcing and distressed or
opportunistic investments.

Institutional investors also sought a variety of financial markets advisory services from BlackRock,
including the management and long-term liquidation of $145.0 billion of advisory assets.

BlackRock Solutions® closed the year with more than $7 trillion of positions managed on our Aladdin®

platform, adding 72 outsourcing, risk management, advisory and Aladdin assignments.

During the fourth quarter, we finished insourcing operations and implementing our systems in Europe,
effectively completing the MLIM integration.

Investment performance remained competitive in many products — 70%, 85% and 91% of equity and 
balanced fund assets outperformed peer group medians for the one-, three- and five-year periods ended
December 31, 2008, respectively.2

We ended the year with over 5,000 employees in 21 countries working together to serve our clients and
achieve our mission to be the most respected investment and risk manager in the world.
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I
n 2008, the global capital markets
experienced the most traumatic 
disruption since the 1930s. Equity

markets worldwide suffered declines
of 40% on average.* Credit markets
were similarly challenged, as investors
sought safety in the most liquid 
government securities and guaranteed
bank deposits. The decrease in wealth
has been devastating and is driving 
a dramatic retrenchment in the global
economy, reshaping of the financial
system, and reexamination of business
and investment practices. 

BlackRock navigated these hostile
conditions by maintaining discipline in
our investment processes, serving our
clients and managing our business.
We achieved organic growth of 12%,
with $167.6 billion of net new business
during the year. Our operating income,
as adjusted, was up 9% versus 2007 
to $1.7 billion. At the same time, our
net income, as adjusted, declined 20%
due to negative marks on investments
we have made alongside our clients, 
principally in illiquid alternative
investment products. 

While it doesn’t give me great joy to
say, “we were less bad,” our common
stock performed slightly better (0.1%)
than the S&P 500* for calendar year
2008. We have outperformed the
S&P 500 by considerably more over
time, having achieved excess returns
of 17% and 24% per annum over the
three- and five-year periods ended 

December 31, 2008, respectively, and
31% annualized since our initial public
offering on October 1, 1999.

I am proud of our record of creating
long-term shareholder value, but our
day-to-day focus remains dedicated to
our clients. We have always believed
that if we deliver what we promise to
our clients and add value as a strategic
partner in helping them solve problems,
our franchise will flourish, our business
will grow, our ability to retain and
attract the best talent will be enhanced,
and our strategic flexibility will be 
preserved. That, in a nutshell, is 
how we seek to build enduring share-
holder value.

Events of the past year and the ongoing
turmoil provide critical context for
understanding BlackRock’s business
in 2008 and beyond. In my nearly 33
years in the business, I have never
witnessed more hostile markets. 
Led by the continuing decline in home
prices and deteriorating credit quality,
yield spreads widened sharply. The
impact was initially felt most signifi-
cantly on the balance sheets of invest-
ment banks, commercial banks and
other highly leveraged financial players,
which were forced to delever by raising
capital, selling assets or both. 

Gradually, the depth of the oncoming
recession became apparent and 
consumer confidence sank along with
personal net worth. Consumers with-
drew, spreading earnings pressure to
other sectors of the global economy
and dragging equity prices down further.
For investors, not only were net asset
values falling, but correlations across
markets and investment strategies
were increasing — the benefits of diver-
sification were elusive and traditional
asset allocation strategies seemed 
to be failing.

September brought a tsunami of epic
proportions. Although the financial
system broadly was under increasing
pressure, there was little appetite for
supporting “too big to fail” institutions.
Lehman Brothers was allowed to fail,

MY FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

April 2009

* Please see Important Notes on inside back cover.
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No one is immune to the effects of
hostile market and economic condi-
tions. Our clients have been affected.
Banks, insurance companies, pension
plans, endowments and individual
investors have been affected. Invest-
ment managers, including BlackRock,
have been affected. In 2008, we were

hurt by adverse marks on our balance
sheet and to a lesser extent by reduced
revenues following the fourth quarter
collapse of the equity markets. The
income statement impact will be more
pronounced in 2009, as we suffer the
full year effect of lower market levels.
Our management team began working
together in October 2008 to streamline
our processes and ensure that our
resources were properly aligned with
our business needs and strategic pri-
orities. Reengineering efforts involved
difficult decisions that we implemented
as respectfully as possible.

Our earnings model is closely aligned
with our clients. We employ little
leverage and use our balance sheet
only to make seed investments or
coinvest with our clients. When our
clients’ net asset values decline, the
value of our coinvestments and our
management fees decline, and when
returns turn negative, performance
fees based on absolute returns are
eliminated until we recover the related
hurdle rates. Similarly, our compen-

filing for bankruptcy on September 15,
2008, which led directly to the failure
of a major institutional money market
fund. When the Reserve Primary Fund
“broke the buck” on September 16th,
investors panicked and the money
markets completely froze. 

These events in turn led to the first
government programs to stabilize the
markets, followed by TARP, TALF,
PPIP, monetary policy easing, and
other forms of government support
and stimulus. When I met with clients
during the October IMF meetings in
Washington D.C., the focus was on the
global nature of the crisis and the need
for a coordinated response to thaw
interbank lending and frozen credit
markets. Six months later, economic
conditions are more impaired. Just
recently, the G20 concluded its meeting
in London by acknowledging the need
for significant global government
spending to avoid depression and lead
the world economy out of recession. 
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sation model, which is a function of
operating results and relative invest-
ment performance and includes a 
significant stock component that vests
over multiple years, is highly aligned
with both our clients and shareholders.
We believe in pay for performance 
and have abided by its principles since
we founded BlackRock 21 years ago.

As an investment manager, our first
priority is investing the money entrusted
to us by our clients to achieve their
investment objectives. I am proud of
our team and their collective efforts
throughout this crisis. Some made
heroic efforts, working around the
clock to help clients find solutions to
very difficult problems. Most made
outstanding contributions by keeping
their heads down and focusing on the
daily blocking and tackling that is so
essential to our success.

Our cash management team is a 
great example. Throughout the turmoil,
they never forgot that our promise to
investors is safety, liquidity and yield —
in that order. As markets became

increasingly volatile, and financial
credits increasingly uncertain, our 
liquidity portfolio managers worked
closely with credit analysts, risk 
management professionals and their
fixed income counterparts to position
their portfolios to protect our clients.
Even in the face of approximately $44.4
billion of outflows during the latter half
of September, we met every redemp-
tion request in our cash management
portfolios during that period. When
investors returned in the fourth quarter,
we were rewarded with $48.6 billion 
of net new business and growth in
market share. 

Beta had a huge impact on the rest 
of our investment products. Our equity
and balanced portfolio teams performed
very well relative to their peers, but
market movements wiped out $179.2
billion (39%) of AUM during the year.
Similarly, adverse markets caused
alternative AUM to fall by $14.3 billion
(20%), but we distinguished the firm
by not gating redemptions when our
clients needed access to their money.
Finally, volatile and unfavorable credit
markets led to a $23.3 billion (5%)
decline in fixed income AUM. Perfor-
mance was mixed, with solid results
in specialty products but poor relative
performance in multi sector portfolios.
Over the past year, we refined our
team structure to enhance focus and
accountability and we allocated addi-
tional resources to add or augment
our capabilities. 

Our work with clients during the year
was heavily oriented toward problem
solving and delivering innovative
investment and risk management
solutions. We worked closely with
institutional investors to develop more
holistic strategies, including liability-
driven investing, fiduciary outsourcing
and strategic partnerships. In addition,
clients sought our advice and assistance
on a variety of troubled portfolios, and
turned to BlackRock for opportunities
to invest in special situations and 
distressed investments in anticipation
of an eventual recovery. 

We redoubled our efforts to provide
timely and thoughtful communications
on market issues, and we worked
closely with our distribution partners
to help them consider portfolio and
product strategies to add value to
their clients. Among other things,
these efforts contributed to over 65
new product placements on third-party
distribution platforms, $7.1 billion 
of net new business from U.S. retail
and high net worth investors, and
increased market share in the U.S.
and the U.K. Our global retail business
is poised to benefit when market 
conditions improve.

BlackRock Solutions (BRS) had a
record year in 2008, more than doubling
revenues to $406 million. The team
added 72 new assignments, completed
a two-year system implementation
and insourcing of our EMEA opera-
tions, deployed new functionality, and
closed a small, but highly strategic
acquisition in Australia. Most impor-
tantly, the firm recognized the great
need for balance sheet advice and
mobilized resources quickly to help
our clients. For more than two
decades, public and private institutions
have turned to BlackRock for services
that leverage our unique combination
of capital markets, risk management
and analytical capabilities. From the
outset, fiduciary obligations and client
confidentiality requirements in BRS
have been strictly observed through
the use of information barriers. 

Early in the year, we formed a new
group in BRS called Financial Markets
Advisory (FMA) to assist clients with
valuation, portfolio restructuring 
and long-term liquidations. We were
selected to help multiple central banks,
government agencies and financial
institutions on a variety of assignments.
These engagements, which represented
$145.0 billion of advisory AUM at year-
end, are complicated, time consuming
and resource intensive. Given the
magnitude and sensitivity of some of
our assignments, and to ensure that
they do not detract from our work with
our asset management clients, we

5

Laurence D. Fink

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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managers, family offices, mutual fund
sponsors and institutional managers —
should be regulated. There should be
no difference between publicly traded
and privately held firms. More broadly,
a stronger regulatory regime needs 
to be global, to recognize the ever
increasing interdependencies among
nations and the associated increase 
in systemic risk, and to ensure that
U.S. companies are not put at a 
competitive disadvantage relative to
their international peers. 

I don’t know what the future holds. 
I do know that we must be prepared to
embrace change, to collaborate with
our clients and with each other globally,
to have the most talented team in the
industry, and to maintain the flexibility
to pursue strategic opportunities as
they arise. Our goal is to be more
respected tomorrow than we are today,
and to earn that respect through the
good work we do for our clients. 
That is the mission that energizes
BlackRock’s citizens and motivates us
to work hard every day. I thank each
and every one of my colleagues for
their contributions, their commitment
and their enthusiasm. I would also
like to thank PNC for their continuing
support, and our Board of Directors
for their guidance and for challenging
us to continually raise our efforts to a
new level. Finally, I thank our clients
for their ongoing trust and confidence
in BlackRock.

Sincerely,

Laurence D. Fink
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

tailor solutions that help our clients
address their investment and risk
management needs.

At the same time, legislators and 
regulators are engaged in vigorous
debate on the future of finance. Their
actions will have a profound impact 
on the economic outlook for the U.S.
and the world. Taxpayer interests are
central to the policy discussion, and
rightly so. It is my most fervent hope
that policymakers remember that it is
in our national interest to be interna-
tional — robust global capital markets
and the free flow of capital across
borders serve taxpayer interests by
lowering the cost to finance bailout
and stimulus programs, as well as
sustaining vital relationships with our
trading partners throughout the
world. Further, to maintain confidence
in the workings of the global financial
system, it is essential that rules are
transparent and consistently applied
and that lawful contracts are unequiv-
ocally respected. 

It is also in our national interest to
have the strongest, most liquid capital
markets in the world and to rebuild
our position of leadership in financial
services. To do so, I believe we must
enhance regulatory oversight of our
financial system. In the investment
management industry, too many firms
fall through the cracks. All organiza-
tions that manage more than $500
million — hedge funds, private equity

6

enhanced existing information barriers
and built a dedicated capital markets
team in FMA, which is operated and
managed separately from our portfolio
management teams and strengthens
our ability to provide independent,
objective advice. 

Market turmoil contributed to further
changes in the financial landscape,
including consolidation that affects
our distribution relationships. Bank of
America acquired Merrill Lynch at the
beginning of 2009, providing what we
expect will be a larger, more stable
platform for the future. We are excited
to extend our strategic partnership
with the Global Wealth Management
business and with Bank of America’s
broader leadership team. I am also
pleased to welcome three new directors
to our Board, including two designees
from Bank of America. 

We have also undertaken a number 
of organizational changes over the
past year, as the next generation of
leaders emerges. I would like to thank
Barbara Novick for her long and highly 
successful leadership of our Account
Management Group. Earlier this year,
Barbara transitioned out of that role
to serve as a senior advisor on a part-
time basis. I would also like to thank
Bob Doll for his service as a Director.
Bob stepped down from the Board in
February so that he could devote his
time more fully to his responsibilities
as global chief investment officer for
equities, and to his efforts with and on
behalf of our clients. 

As I look ahead, I know that we are not
headed “back to the future.” Investors
globally are grappling with fundamental
questions about the markets and 
their investment strategies, about the
efficacy of traditional asset allocation,
asset liability management and risk
management strategies. We come 
to these discussions as a fiduciary for
our clients and endeavor to listen
thoughtfully, to think through strategic
and operational alternatives, and to
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OUR CLIENTS

BlackRock serves a diverse universe

of institutional and retail investors

globally. Products are offered both

directly and through financial interme-

diaries. We seek to leverage our broad

capabilities and global perspective 

to help clients address investment 

and risk management challenges 

and access attractive investment

opportunities. BlackRock has fund

registrations in 40 jurisdictions around

the globe and serves clients in more

than 60 countries. Assets under 

management (AUM) at year-end

totaled $1.307 trillion, including

$1.162 trillion of investment assets

and $145.0 billion of advisory assets.

Investment assets are managed on

behalf of a geographically diverse

clientele, with $780.7 billion, or 67%,

managed for U.S. investors and 

$381.5 billion, or 33%, managed for

international investors. The advisory

asset base is significantly more con-

centrated among a small number of

institutions, 95%, or $137.3 billion, of

which is managed for U.S. clients and

5%, or $7.7 billion, for international

investors.

Institutional 
BlackRock’s institutional clients 

span Europe, the Middle East, Africa

(EMEA), Asia Pacific and the Americas.

The types of investors served include

pension plans, charities and other 

tax-exempt institutions; insurance

companies, corporations, banks and

other taxable institutions; and central

banks, government agencies, sovereign

wealth funds and other official institu-

tions. At December 31, 2008, BlackRock

managed $1.079 trillion of assets 

on behalf of institutional investors

globally, including $934.1 billion of

investment assets and $145.0 billion

of advisory assets. Investment AUM

included $613.9 billion, or 66%, 

managed for U.S. clients and $320.2

billion, or 34%, managed for interna-

tional institutions.

Assets managed for tax-exempt 

institutions, including defined benefit

and defined contribution pension plans,

foundations, endowments and other

non-profit organizations, decreased

11% to $271.2 billion at December 31,

2008, due to adverse markets and 

foreign exchange translation. In 2008,

BlackRock was awarded net new

business of $19.6 billion from tax-

exempt clients, including $3.3 billion

of advisory assets, driven by significant

inflows from U.S. and international

pension funds. At year-end, 62% 

of assets managed for tax-exempt

institutions were invested in fixed

income strategies, 34% in equities, 

3% in alternatives and 1% in advisory

7

CLIENT MIX — GEOGRAPHIC $1.307 Trillion AUM

Japan/Asia 5%

EMEA/Australia 22%

Americas 73%

U.S.
95%

Int’l
5%

Investment AUM

Advisory AUM
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Our goal is to be more respected tomorrow than we 
are today, and to earn that respect through the good work
we do for our clients. 

managers of insurance assets world-

wide and continues to benefit from

increasing momentum toward invest-

ment outsourcing. This business is,

however, subject to event risk arising

from insurance company mergers, 

as we experienced during the year. 

We work closely with our taxable 

institution clients to provide highly 

tailored strategies and anticipate even

greater demand for our services as

clients worldwide continue to face

severe operating pressure in 2009.

In 2008, BlackRock greatly expanded

its work with central banks, govern-

ment agencies and sovereign wealth

funds, especially in the U.S. and the

Middle East. Assets managed on

behalf of official institutions ended 

the year at $168.9 billion, including

$135.9 billion of advisory AUM. Net

new business with official institutions

totaled $138.1 billion during the year,

as clients sought a range of investment

products, as well as BlackRock’s 

independent valuation and risk man-

agement advisory services to help

navigate deteriorating balance sheets

and manage the orderly liquidation of

troubled portfolios. We have committed

significant resources to this growing

client segment, where we apply a

“ ”
portfolios. During the year, BlackRock

continued to gain traction with defined

contribution pension plans, particularly

in the U.S. and the U.K., in recognition

of our strong equity offerings and

newer target date and target risk

products. As clients increasingly

sought strategic relationships and

customized investment solutions, our

work with tax-exempt institutions

included tailoring portfolios and

benchmarks, designing liability-driven

investments and multi-asset class

solutions, and comprehensive fiduciary

outsourcing assignments. 

AUM for taxable institutions decreased

$12.4 billion, or 7%, to $165.3 billion at

year-end 2008. Approximately 44% of

the decline was due to adverse market

and foreign exchange movements. 

The remainder reflected outflows in

investment assets of $12.8 billion, 72%

of which resulted from the merger of a

single large insurance client, partially

offset by $5.8 billion of inflows in 

advisory assets. At year-end, 95% of

assets managed on behalf of taxable

institutions were invested in fixed

income strategies, with the remainder

comprised of equities (1%), alternatives

(1%) and advisory (3%) mandates.

BlackRock is one of the largest 

8
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consultative approach in examining

our clients’ needs and crafting 

investment management and tech-

nology solutions. Customization,

transparency and knowledge sharing

are key underpinnings of our success

in this sector.

In addition, BlackRock serves as a

subadvisor to third-party fund sponsors

and directly advises a variety of funds

and commingled vehicles offered 

to institutional investors. AUM for

these clients totaled $174.8 billion at

December 31, 2008, including $118.7

billion, or 68%, for clients or funds

based in the U.S. and $56.0 billion, or

32%, for those based internationally.

Products focus primarily on BlackRock’s

fixed income, equity and alternative

investment capabilities, which repre-

sented 36%, 30% and 29% of sub-

advised and institutional fund AUM,

respectively, at year-end. Equity and

alternative market contraction took a

heavy toll on these assets during

2008, causing a 23% decline in AUM,

while net outflows contributed an

additional 2% decline. 

The remaining $298.9 billion of insti-

tutional assets are invested in cash

management products, which are

discussed in the Cash Management

section of this report.

Retail and High Net Worth
BlackRock professionals based

throughout the U.S., Europe, Asia and

Australia work with key distributors,

including broker-dealers, banks, reg-

istered investment advisors, financial

planners and insurance companies, to

offer a broad range of investment

products to retail investors globally.

Our investment and risk management

expertise is offered to retail clients

through separately managed accounts

(principally broker-sponsored wrap 

and unified managed account pro-

grams), open-end and closed-end

funds, unit trusts and other collective

investment vehicles. 

At year-end 2008, BlackRock managed

$228.1 billion on behalf of retail and

high net worth investors worldwide,

57% of which was invested in equity,

balanced and alternative investments,

30% in fixed income, and 13% in

money market funds. Going into the

year, our international clients held a

much greater proportion of BlackRock

equity funds than our U.S. clients. 

The combination of steep declines in

equity markets and significantly higher

redemption rates overseas caused

international retail AUM to fall much

more sharply during the year. These

factors drove a notable shift in our

retail client mix, with the proportion 

9

of AUM managed for U.S. clients

increasing from 62% at year-end 2007

to 73% at year-end 2008. 

BlackRock sells products to retail

clients in the U.S. through our long-

standing relationship with the Merrill

Lynch Global Wealth Management

franchise and through growing rela-

tionships with other key distributors.

The strength of our products and our

reputation for client service enabled

BlackRock to enhance its positioning

and market share during the year, not-

withstanding the significant challenges

faced by U.S. retail distributors and

investors. As of December 31, 2008,

BlackRock managed $166.8 billion of

assets for U.S. retail and high net

worth investors, down $41.0 billion

from year-end 2007 due to adverse

market movements. 

Retail & High Net Worth 20%

Institutional 80%

CLIENT MIX — TYPE   $1.307 Trillion AUM

Institutional 
100%

Advisory AUM

Investment AUM
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equity markets and foreign exchange

translation, which contributed $54.3

billion, or 85%, of the decrease in AUM.

A sharp contraction in the cross-border

mutual fund industry drove $8.1 billion

of net outflows, as detailed below. 

Net inflows from international retail

clients of $0.8 billion in the first half of

the year were offset by $8.9 billion of

outflows in the second half of the year.

Outflows were particularly concen-

trated in Korea, where a change in

taxation caused a large scale realloca-

tion away from offshore products, and

in Taiwan, where many retail investors

redeemed products that included 

capital guarantees or other structuring

elements because of concern about

the future of investment banks. The

mass migration of retail investors

away from mutual funds in Spain and

Italy was another detrimental factor.

Despite 2008’s hostile markets, the

robustness of the BlackRock brand

and international retail platform

ensured that we remained the second

largest cross-border mutual fund

provider and one of the top net sellers

in that market. In the U.K., BlackRock

was the top net seller in 2008. 

We expect 2009 to be a challenging

year for the retail business globally, as

investors cope with continued market

volatility and our distribution partners

manage through consolidation and

changes in the industry landscape. 

We believe that the BlackRock brand,

our diversified product line-up and 

our strong reputation for client service

position the firm to continue to gain

market share, although flows are likely

to remain muted until investors return

to the markets. We will continue to

work closely with distributors to design

innovative products and deliver attrac-

tive investment opportunities to retail

investors throughout the world.

Despite record outflows in mutual

funds industry-wide, BlackRock 

generated net new business in U.S.

retail of $11.3 billion, a 7% organic

growth rate, primarily in U.S. equities

and global mutual funds. This was

partially offset by net outflows of $4.2

billion in U.S. high net worth products,

principally broker-sold separately

managed accounts, where BlackRock

remains an industry leader. While

maintaining the strength of our 

relationship with Merrill Lynch Global

Wealth Management, BlackRock also

increased market share with other

retail distributors, securing over 

65 new product placements on broker-

dealer platforms in 2008. As of year-

end, BlackRock had 70 open-end and

closed-end mutual funds with Morning-

star ratings of four or five stars.*

BlackRock has an extensive interna-

tional retail platform, anchored by 

our flagship Luxembourg-based fund

family, BlackRock Global Funds.

BlackRock Global Funds are registered

for sale in 37 countries and offered 

in 16 languages. As of December 31,

2008, BlackRock managed $61.3 bil-

lion on behalf of international retail

investors, down from $125.0 billion at

year-end 2007. The significant decline

in assets was largely due to adverse

10

* Please see Important Notes on inside back cover. © 2009 Morningstar, Inc. All rights reserved.
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In 2008, investors worldwide sought

the safety of government-guaranteed

debt, particularly late in the year in

the face of extreme market disruption

and deteriorating economic conditions.

Clients continued to migrate from

broad bond market portfolios and

structured products to long duration

and other liability-driven strategies.

Widespread deleveraging of balance

sheets caused significant devaluation

of assets, which in turn led to demand

for advisory services and investor

interest in a variety of distressed and

opportunistic products.

BlackRock’s fixed income AUM ended

the year at $483.2 billion, a decrease

of $29.8 billion, or 6%, year-over-year.

A substantial majority of this decline,

78%, or $23.2 billion, resulted from

adverse market movements, primarily

in the form of dramatic widening of

yield spreads as liquidity dried up. Net

outflows accounted for the remaining

$6.6 billion, or 1%, fall-off in AUM, 

driven by investors’ cash needs, 

structured product liquidations, a shift

11

toward liability-driven investing and

insourcing following a single client’s

merger activity. The year was excep-

tionally challenging for bond managers,

and BlackRock was not immune.

Although we remained competitive

within our institutional peer group,

investment performance fell short of

our expectations, particularly in 

multi-sector portfolios. For the one-,

three- and five-year periods ended

December 31, 2008, 37%, 36% and

45% of bond fund assets ranked in 

the top two peer group quartiles,

respectively.*

BlackRock’s fixed income client base

remains largely institutional, with 86%

of AUM, or $415.8 billion, managed on

behalf of institutional clients and 14%,

or $67.4 billion, managed for retail

and high net worth investors. Net

inflows of $11.4 billion from interna-

tional clients were overwhelmed by

net outflows of $18.0 billion from 

U.S. investors, resulting in a slight

shift in the client mix from 35% inter-

national at year-end 2007 to 36% at

year-end 2008.

PRODUCT MIX    $1.307 Trillion AUM

Fixed Income 37%Alternative Investments 5%

Cash Management 26%

Equities & Balanced 21%

Advisory 11%

OUR PRODUCTS

Fixed Income
BlackRock offers an array of fixed

income products across currencies,

sectors and maturities, with portfolios

tailored relative to clients’ liabilities,

accounting, regulatory or rating agency

requirements, or other investment

policies. BlackRock’s fixed income

team, comprised of regional and 

sector specialists, as well as credit

and quantitative analysts, utilizes a

highly collaborative process to generate

investment strategies. Leveraging

shared research reports from both

equity and credit analysts throughout

BlackRock, the team implements

investment strategies across the 

platform in accordance with each

portfolio’s objectives and guidelines. 

* Please see Important Notes on inside back cover.
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Equities & Balanced
BlackRock manages a range of equity

strategies across the risk/return

spectrum, including global and

regional portfolios; value, growth and

core mandates; large-, mid- and

small-cap strategies; and selected

sector funds. BlackRock strives to add

value, principally through stock selec-

tion in a variety of investment styles

and subject to defined risk tolerances

and return objectives. Products are

managed by specialist teams with

dedicated research analysts and 

disciplined investment processes to

ensure that positions are deliberate,

diversified and appropriately scaled

relative to conviction.

A broad range of global equity markets

suffered sharply negative returns in

2008. U.S. equities experienced 

their worst decline since the Great

Depression with the S&P 500 down

37% for the year. International equity

markets were similarly affected, as

evidenced by a 40% drop in the MSCI

World Index and a 53% decline in the

MSCI Emerging Markets Index.

Volatility, as measured by the VIX

Price Index, hit a record high of 81 

in November, having started the year 

at 22. BlackRock’s equity portfolio

managers remained disciplined

throughout the cycle, using our risk

analytics to help inform repositioning

of their portfolios for the new 

environment. 

BlackRock’s equity and balanced AUM

closed the year at $280.8 billion. The

sharp fall in global equity markets

caused AUM to decline $160.4 billion,

or 35%, since December 31, 2007.

Foreign exchange translation accounted

for an additional $18.8 billion, or 4%,

decay in reported AUM. Despite the

challenging market environment, our

equity offerings attracted $0.9 billion

of net new business during the year,

with inflows in asset allocation and

index products partially offset by 

outflows in sector funds, U.S. equity

and emerging market portfolios.

BlackRock’s equity investment teams

achieved strong relative performance

with 70%, 85%, and 91% of equity fund

assets ranked in the top two peer

group quartiles for the one-, three- and

five-year periods ended December 31,

2008, respectively.* 

At year-end 2008, 49% of BlackRock’s

equity and balanced AUM, or $136.4

billion, were managed for U.S.

investors and 51%, or $144.4 billion,

were managed for international

investors in over 35 countries. In 

addition, BlackRock’s channel mix

was well balanced with 53% of assets

managed on behalf of institutional

clients and 47% managed on behalf of

retail and high net worth investors.

During 2008, we were awarded $10.9

billion and $3.0 billion of net new

business from U.S. retail and institu-

tional investors, respectively. These

inflows were offset by net outflows 

of $7.0 billion from international 

retail investors and $5.9 billion from

U.S. high net worth investors, 

principally in broker-sold separately

managed accounts.

We expect 2009 to remain a challenging

environment for equity managers,

exhibiting many of the same features

that characterized the market over 

the last year. Volatility will remain high

as global growth is likely to contract

further. We anticipate, and have already

seen in early 2009, the potential 

for aggressive rallies in response to 

policy measures and severe corrections

in response to disappointing earnings

and other stresses. 

12

* Please see Important Notes on inside back cover.

We anticipate further challenges and

opportunities in global fixed income

markets in 2009. In the face of a 

deepening recession, volatile equity

markets, and the deployment of

unprecedented government initiatives

designed to revive the impaired 

financial system, flight-to-quality

flows continue to have the potential to

distort the demand for U.S. Treasuries.

However, as government balance

sheets expand through quantitative

easing and targeted asset purchase

programs, unique opportunities will

continue to emerge for investors with

the appetite for spread and credit risk.

Furthermore, as tax rates increase

and municipalities attempt to fund

budget deficits through the issuance

of additional debt, tax-free yields 

are also likely to attract significant

interest. BlackRock will continue to

work closely with our fixed income

clients to navigate the volatile environ-

ment and develop unique products

and services customized to market

conditions.
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Cash Management
The cash management industry was

particularly challenged by the credit

and liquidity crisis that persisted

throughout 2008. Difficulties intensified

in the third quarter when the bank-

ruptcy of Lehman Brothers caused the

Reserve Primary Fund’s net asset

value to drop below $1, thereby

becoming the second fund ever to

“break the buck” in the nearly 40-year

history of money market mutual

funds. This landmark event triggered

large redemptions in prime money

market funds as investors sought

safety in U.S. Treasuries and govern-

ment money market funds. This 

massive “flight to safety” necessitated

substantial selling by prime funds,

which in turn froze short-term funding 

markets until government intervention

encouraged investors to reallocate

back into prime money market funds.

Throughout the year, BlackRock 

navigated these extraordinary market

conditions to ensure safety and 

liquidity for our cash management

clients. Flows were volatile, particularly

in the third and fourth quarters, when

our liquidity products had net outflows

of $53.5 billion and net inflows of

13

As an investment manager, our first priority is investing
the money entrusted to us by our clients to achieve their
investment objectives. “ ”

$48.6 billion, respectively. Cash 

management AUM closed the year at

$338.4 billion, an increase of 8%, or

$25.1 billion, since year-end 2007. For

the year ended December 31, 2008,

average assets were approximately

26% higher than for calendar year 2007.

BlackRock’s cash management 

activities are primarily conducted on

behalf of U.S. investors, with increasing

demand from international clients,

especially in the U.K. and the Middle

East. At December 31, 2008, cash

management AUM for U.S. investors

reached $297.7 billion, up 4% from

2007, and $40.7 billion for international

clients, up 52% from a year ago. 

For the first time, net inflows from

international clients surpassed net

subscriptions from U.S. investors, at

$15.1 billion and $10.6 billion, respec-

tively. BlackRock’s cash management

clientele remains largely institutional,

with $309.2 billion, or 91%, managed

on behalf of institutions and $29.2 

billion, or 9%, managed on behalf of

retail and high net worth investors.

We expect cash management flows 

to remain volatile given ongoing dislo-

cations in the market, the temporary

nature of support programs initiated

by the government in 2008, and 

the extremely low level of rates on

Treasury bills and other money market

instruments. Currently, regulators 

are weighing substantial changes to

the rules governing U.S. money market

funds. BlackRock continues to play 

an active role in industry discussions,
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redemption constraints and fraud

allegations against a number of hedge

funds (in which none of BlackRock’s

funds of funds were invested).

Industry-wide, investors sought to

redeem hedge fund and fund of funds

holdings in record numbers, and were

often forced to liquidate better per-

forming products that could provide

liquidity. BlackRock was able to meet

all redemption requests in these 

products in 2008. Despite these 

headwinds, BlackRock raised $2.9 

billion of net new business across a

range of alternative products during

the year, which helped to offset market

and foreign exchange declines of

$14.3 billion. At year-end, alternative

investment AUM totaled $59.7 billion.

BlackRock’s real estate offerings span

a wide range of strategies, including

core, value-added and opportunistic

equity and high yield debt for institu-

tional and private investors. Assets 

on the real estate platform as of

December 31, 2008 were $25.8 billion,

with net new business of $1.4 billion

overwhelmed by $5.1 billion of 

declining market values worldwide

and foreign exchange translation. 

At year-end 2008, 89% of BlackRock’s

real estate assets were managed on

behalf of U.S. clients, while 11% were

managed for international investors.

We expect 2009 will be even more

challenging for commercial real estate

and we remain focused on actively

managing our existing holdings. 

Our fund of funds platform, BlackRock

Alternative Advisors (BAA), manages 

a variety of multi-manager strategies

investing in hedge funds, private equity

funds and real asset funds. AUM 

in these products closed the year at

$22.7 billion, a decrease of $6.7 billion,

driven largely by negative market

returns and, to a lesser extent,

redemptions in funds of hedge funds.

These declines were partially offset 

by net new business of $0.9 billion in

BAA’s private equity fund of funds

business. All of these assets are 

managed on behalf of institutional and

high net worth clients, split almost

evenly between U.S. and international

investors. In 2009, we expect investors

to reevaluate their alternative invest-

ment allocations, including funds of

funds, to emphasize greater liquidity

and transparency, and to seek strategic

relationships with proven institutional

managers. We continue to work 

closely with our clients to evaluate

new opportunities and to help them

meet the challenges ahead.

BlackRock ended 2008 with $11.2 

billion of AUM in equity and fixed

income hedge funds, portable alpha,

distressed, opportunistic and other

absolute return strategies. Net new

business during the year included

$3.6 billion of inflows into distressed

14

and is working on behalf of our clients

to ensure the outcome improves 

the safety and liquidity of our cash

management products. 

Alternative Investments
BlackRock’s alternative investment

capabilities include real estate, funds

of funds, single-strategy hedge funds,

and distressed, opportunistic and

other absolute return strategies.

BlackRock invests alongside clients in

many of these products as a way of

evidencing our alignment of interest.

These coinvestments are held on 

balance sheet and marked to market.

While alternative investment strategies

generally are designed to provide

returns with low correlations to the

broad equity and bond markets, 

market turmoil affected all strategies

in 2008 and return correlations

increased dramatically.

In many ways, 2008 was a “perfect

storm” for alternative investments,

including frozen capital markets, lack

of financing, forced deleveraging, poor

absolute returns, imposition of
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credit and mortgage vehicles, which

were offset by $2.9 billion of market

and foreign exchange declines and

$2.2 billion of net outflows in hedge

funds. Although we are never happy 

to receive redemption requests,

BlackRock was pleased to be able 

to honor all client needs for liquidity

at a time when many other hedge

fund managers had to initiate gating

provisions. We are optimistic that we

will benefit from this policy over time,

as investors reassess their liquidity

positions and selectively reallocate 

to hedge funds with attractive per-

formance and a strong commitment 

to serving client needs.

BlackRock Solutions 
BlackRock offers investment systems,

risk management and advisory services

under the BlackRock Solutions (BRS)

brand name. BlackRock Solutions’

core product is the Aladdin platform,

which serves as the investment system

for BlackRock and a growing number

of sophisticated institutional investors.

BlackRock Solutions also uses Aladdin

to provide ongoing risk management,

investment accounting outsourcing,

financial markets advisory and 

transition management services.

Clients have also retained BRS for

shorter-term advisory engagements,

such as valuation of illiquid assets,

portfolio restructuring, workouts 

and dispositions.

Demand for BlackRock Solutions

services increased sharply in 2008 in

the face of extreme market disloca-

tions. Revenue more than doubled to

$406 million, up from $198 million 

in 2007. A substantial portion of the

growth resulted from increased

demand for advisory services that 

bring together our analytical, risk

management and capital markets

capabilities. During the year, we

added 72 new assignments, including

46 short-term engagements. Clients

15

include financial institutions, insurance

companies, official institutions, 

pension funds, asset managers and

other institutional investors based in

the U.S., Europe, Asia and Australia.

In August 2008, BlackRock acquired

Impact Investing, a provider of equity

portfolio management, visualization

and analytical software. These capa-

bilities are currently being integrated

into the Aladdin platform with the 

ultimate goal of extending Aladdin’s

multi-asset class capabilities. Over

time, these efforts are expected to

enable us to expand our BlackRock

Solutions activities by serving a 

broader array of client needs. At

December 31, 2008, 36 institutions on

four continents had selected Aladdin

as their investment operating platform,

including eight implementations 

completed in 2008.

During this recent period of market

distress, our Financial Markets

Advisory practice provided the holders

of distressed assets with guidance on

valuing, restructuring and managing

their portfolios. Clients have included

major public and private institutions

around the world, including the

Federal Reserve Bank of New York,

which engaged BlackRock as manager

and adviser for several special purpose

facilities. With support from experts

throughout the firm, the advisory

team completed 43 short-term

assignments in 2008, up from 18 such

assignments in 2007. At year-end,

BlackRock managed $145.0 billion in

advisory assets under management. ■

Please see Important Notes on inside back cover.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
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The selected financial data presented below has been derived in part

from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Consolidated

Financial Statements of BlackRock and “Management’s Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”

included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Prior year data reflects 

certain reclassifications to conform to the current year presentation.

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006(1) 2005(2) 2004

Income statement data:
Revenue

Investment advisory and administration fees $4,409 $4,360 $1,841 $1,018 $634
BlackRock Solutions and advisory 406 198 148 124 90
Distribution fees 139 123 36 11 —
Other revenue 110 164 73 38 1

Total revenue 5,064 4,845 2,098 1,191 725

Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits 1,815 1,767 934 588 386
Portfolio administration and servicing costs 597 548 173 64 50
Amortization of deferred mutual fund 

sales commissions 130 108 30 9 —
General and administration(3), (4) 745 870 451 181 123
Restructuring charges 38 — — — —
Termination of closed-end fund administration and 

servicing arrangements — 128 — — —
Amortization of intangible assets 146 130 38 8 1

Total expenses 3,471 3,551 1,626 850 560

Operating income 1,593 1,294 472 341 165

Total non-operating income (expense) (574) 529 56 35 35
Income before income taxes and non-controlling interests 1,019 1,823 528 376 200

Income tax expense 388 464 189 139 52

Income before non-controlling interests 631 1,359 339 237 148
Non-controlling interests (155) 364 16 3 5

Net income $786 $995 $323 $234 $143

Per share data(5):
Basic earnings $6.07 $7.75 $4.00 $3.64 $2.25
Diluted earnings $5.91 $7.53 $3.87 $3.50 $2.17
Book value(6) $92.89 $90.13 $83.57 $14.41 $12.07
Common and preferred cash dividends $3.12 $2.68 $1.68 $1.20 $1.00

Balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents $2,032 $1,656 $1,160 $484 $458
Investments $1,429 $2,000 $2,098 $299 $228
Goodwill and intangible assets, net $11,974 $12,073 $11,139 $484 $184
Total assets $19,924 $22,561 $20,470 $1,848 $1,145
Short-term borrowings $200 $300 $— $— $—
Long-term borrowings $946 $947 $253 $254 $5
Total liabilities $7,367 $10,387 $8,579 $916 $360
Non-controlling interests $491 $578 $1,109 $10 $17
Stockholders’ equity $12,066 $11,596 $10,782 $922 $768

Assets under management:
Fixed income $483,173 $513,020 $448,012 $303,928 $240,709
Equity and balanced 280,821 459,182 392,708 37,303 14,792
Cash management 338,439 313,338 235,768 86,128 78,057
Alternative investment products 59,723 71,104 48,139 25,323 8,202

Sub Total 1,162,156 1,356,644 1,124,627 452,682 341,760
Advisory(7) 144,995 — — — —

Total assets under management $1,307,151 $1,356,644 $1,124,627 $452,682 $341,760

(1) Significant increases in 2006 are primarily the result of the closing of the merger with Merrill Lynch Investment Managers (“MLIM”) on September 29, 2006.

(2) Significant increases in 2005 are partially due to the result of the closing of BlackRock’s acquisition of SSRM Holdings, Inc. from MetLife, Inc. in January 2005 
(the “SSR Transaction”).

(3) Includes a 2006 fee sharing payment to MetLife, Inc. (“MetLife”) of $34 representing a one-time expense related to a large institutional real estate equity client
account acquired in the SSR Transaction.

(4) Includes a $6 impairment of intangible assets in 2004 which represented the write-off of an intangible management contract related to certain funds in which 
the portfolio manager resigned and the funds were subsequently liquidated.

(5) Series A non-voting participating preferred stock is considered to be a common stock equivalent for purposes of earnings per share calculations.

(6) At December 31 of the respective year-end.

(7) Advisory AUM represents long-term portfolio liquidation assignments.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

18

OVERVIEW

BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock” or the “Company”) is one of
the largest publicly traded investment management firms
in the United States with $1.307 trillion of assets under
management (“AUM”) at December 31, 2008. BlackRock
manages assets on behalf of institutional and individual
investors worldwide through a variety of fixed income,
cash management, equity and balanced and alternative
investment separate accounts and funds. In addition,
BlackRock Solutions® provides market risk management,
financial strategic advisory and enterprise investment 
system services to a broad base of clients. Financial 
markets advisory services include valuation of illiquid
securities, dispositions and workouts, risk management
and strategic planning and execution.

Severe market dislocations continued in 2008, with a broad
range of markets delivering sharply negative returns. 
Such conditions continue to challenge investors world-
wide, many of which have withdrawn from long-dated
markets in favor of safe havens, such as money markets,
deposits and U.S. Treasuries. The deterioration in net
asset values adversely affected investors and investment
managers. AUM ended the year at $1.307 trillion, down 
4% since December 31, 2007. For the year, net new 
business totaled $167.6 billion, representing a 12%
organic growth rate, which was overwhelmed by a 
$217.1 billion decline in asset values due to the severe 
fall in markets and U.S. dollar strengthening. During the
last twelve months, we were awarded net inflows of 
$135.0 billion from U.S. investors and $32.6 billion 
from international investors. BlackRock Solutions had
exceptionally robust results, adding 72 assignments 
during the year and completing 46 short-term mandates.
For the year, BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue
exceeded $400 million, more than doubling the amount
earned in 2007.

On September 29, 2006, Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. 
(“Merrill Lynch”) contributed the entities and assets 
that constituted its investment management business,
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers (“MLIM”), to
BlackRock in exchange for common and non-voting 
preferred stock such that immediately after such closing
Merrill Lynch held approximately 45% of BlackRock’s 
common stock outstanding and approximately 49.3% 
of the Company’s capital stock on a fully diluted basis 
(the “MLIM Transaction”). On October 1, 2007, BlackRock
acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities 
of the fund of funds business of Quellos Group, LLC
(“Quellos”) for up to $1.719 billion in a combination of 
cash and common stock (the “Quellos Transaction”).

At December 31, 2008, Merrill Lynch owned approximately
44.2% of BlackRock’s voting common stock outstanding
and approximately 48.2% of the Company’s capital stock 
on a fully diluted basis. The PNC Financial Services Group,
Inc. (“PNC”) owned approximately 36.5% of BlackRock’s
voting common stock outstanding and approximately 
32.1% of the Company’s capital stock on a fully 
diluted basis.

On January 1, 2009, Bank of America Corporation 
(“Bank of America”) acquired Merrill Lynch. In connection
with this transaction, BlackRock entered into exchange
agreements with each of Merrill Lynch and PNC pursuant
to which each agreed to exchange a portion of the
BlackRock voting common stock they hold for non-voting
preferred stock. Following the closing of these exchanges
on February 27, 2009, Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and
PNC owned approximately 4.9% and 46.5% of BlackRock’s
voting common stock, respectively. The capital stock held
by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and PNC in BlackRock
remained largely unchanged at approximately 47.4% and
31.5% on a fully diluted basis, respectively.
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The following table summarizes BlackRock’s operating performance for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Variance

Year ended December 31, 2008 vs. 2007 2007 vs. 2006

(Dollar amounts in millions, 
except per share data) 2008 2007 2006 Amount % Amount %

GAAP basis:
Total revenue $5,064 $4,845 $2,098 $219 5% $2,747 131%
Total expenses $3,471 $3,551 $1,626 $(80) (2%) $1,925 118%
Operating income $1,593 $1,294 $472 $299 23% $822 174%
Operating margin 31.4% 26.7% 22.5%
Non-operating income (expense), 

net of non-controlling interests $(419) $165 $40 $(584) (354%) $125 313%
Net income $786 $995 $323 $(209) (21%) $672 208%
Diluted earnings per share(e) $5.91 $7.53 $3.87 $(1.62) (22%) $3.66 95% 

As adjusted:
Operating income(a) $1,662 $1,518 $674 $144 9% $844 125%
Operating margin(a) 38.7% 37.5% 36.7%
Non-operating income (expense), 

net of non-controlling interests(b) $(381) $153 $32 $(534) (349%) $121 378%
Net income(c), (d) $858 $1,079 $445 $(221) (20%) $634 142%
Diluted earnings per share(c), (d), (e) $6.45 $8.17 $5.33 $(1.72) (21%) $2.84 53%

Other:
Weighted average diluted 

shares outstanding(e) 132,996,426 132,088,810 83,358,394 907,616 1% 48,730,416 58%
Assets under management $1,307,151 $1,356,644 $1,124,627 $(49,493) (4%) $232,017 21%

BlackRock reports its financial results using accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”); however, management believes
that evaluating the Company’s ongoing operating results may be enhanced if investors have additional non-GAAP basis financial measures. Management reviews
non-GAAP financial measures to assess ongoing operations and, for the reasons described below, considers them to be effective indicators, for both management
and investors, of BlackRock’s financial performance over time. BlackRock’s management does not advocate that investors consider such non-GAAP financial 
measures in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Certain prior period non-GAAP data has been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. Computations for all periods are derived from the Company’s 
consolidated statements of income as follows:

(a) Operating income, as adjusted and operating margin, as adjusted:
Operating income, as adjusted, equals operating income, GAAP basis, excluding certain items deemed non-recurring by management or transactions that 
ultimately will not impact BlackRock’s book value, as indicated in the table below. Operating income used for operating margin measurement equals operating
income, as adjusted, excluding the impact of closed-end fund launch costs and commissions. Operating margin, as adjusted, equals operating income used 
for operating margin measurement, divided by revenue used for operating margin measurement, as indicated in the table below.

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Operating income, GAAP basis $1,593 $1,294 $472
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Restructuring charges 38 — —
PNC LTIP funding obligation 59 54 50
Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 10 10 2
MLIM/Quellos integration costs — 20 142
Termination of closed-end fund administration and 

servicing arrangements — 128 —
Compensation expense related to (depreciation) 

appreciation on deferred compensation plans (38) 12 8 

Operating income, as adjusted 1,662 1,518 674
Closed-end fund launch costs 9 36 11
Closed-end fund launch commissions — 6 3

Operating income used for operating margin measurement $1,671 $1,560 $688

Revenue, GAAP basis $5,064 $4,845 $2,098
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Portfolio administration and servicing costs (598) (548) (173)
Amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions (130) (108) (30)
Reimbursable property management compensation (21) (27) (22)

Revenue used for operating margin, as adjusted, measurement $4,315 $4,162 $1,873 

Operating margin, GAAP basis 31.4% 26.7% 22.5%

Operating margin, as adjusted 38.7% 37.5% 36.7%

Management believes that operating income, as adjusted, and operating margin, as adjusted, are effective indicators of BlackRock’s performance over time. 
As such, management believes that operating income, as adjusted, and operating margin, as adjusted, provide useful disclosure to investors.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Notes to table (continued)

Operating income, as adjusted:
Restructuring charges recorded in 2008 consist of compensation costs and professional fees. MLIM and Quellos integration costs recorded in 2007 consist 
principally of certain professional fees, rebranding costs and compensation costs incurred in conjunction with these integrations. The expenses associated with: 
(i) the 2008 restructuring, (ii) MLIM and Quellos integration costs and (iii) the 2007 termination of the closed-end fund administration and servicing arrange-
ments with Merrill Lynch have been deemed non-recurring by management and have been excluded from operating income, as adjusted, to help ensure 
the comparability of this information to prior periods. As such, management believes that operating margins exclusive of these costs are useful measures 
in evaluating BlackRock’s operating performance for the respective periods.

The portion of compensation expense associated with certain long-term incentive plans (“LTIP”) that will be funded through the distribution to participants 
of shares of BlackRock stock held by PNC and the anticipated Merrill Lynch compensation contribution have been excluded because, exclusive of the impact 
related to the exercise of LTIP participants’ put options, primarily in the three months ended March 31, 2007, these charges do not impact BlackRock’s book value.

Compensation expense associated with appreciation (depreciation) on assets related to certain BlackRock deferred compensation plans has been excluded as
returns on investments set aside for these plans, which substantially offset this expense, is reported in non-operating income.

Operating margin, as adjusted:
Operating income used for measuring operating margin, as adjusted, is equal to operating income, as adjusted, excluding the impact of closed-end fund 
launch costs and commissions. Management believes that excluding such costs and commissions is useful because these costs can fluctuate considerably 
and revenues associated with the expenditure of these costs will not fully impact the Company’s results until future periods.

Revenue used for operating margin, as adjusted, excludes portfolio administration and servicing costs paid to related parties and to other third parties.
Management believes that excluding such costs is useful because the Company receives offsetting revenue for these services. Amortization of deferred mutual
fund sales commissions is excluded from revenue used for operating margin measurement, as adjusted, because such costs, over time, offset distribution fee
revenue earned by the Company. Reimbursable property management compensation represents compensation and benefits paid to personnel of Metric Property
Management, Inc. (“Metric”), a subsidiary of BlackRock Realty Advisors, Inc. (“Realty”). These employees were retained on Metric’s payroll when certain 
properties were acquired by Realty’s clients. The related compensation and benefits were fully reimbursed by Realty’s clients and have been excluded from 
revenue used for operating margin, as adjusted, because they bear no economic cost to BlackRock.

(b) Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling interests, as adjusted:
Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling interests, as adjusted, equals non-operating income (expense), GAAP basis, net of non-controlling 
interests, GAAP basis, adjusted for compensation expense associated with depreciation (appreciation) on assets related to certain BlackRock deferred compen-
sation plans, which is recorded in operating income. This compensation expense has been included in non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling
interests, as adjusted, to offset returns on investments set aside for these plans, which are reported in non-operating income (expense), GAAP basis.

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Non-operating income (expense), GAAP basis $(574) $529 $56
Non-controlling interests, GAAP basis (155) 364 16

Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling interests (419) 165 40
Compensation expense related to depreciation (appreciation) 

on deferred compensation plans 38 (12) (8)

Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling interests, as adjusted $(381) $153 $32

Management believes that non-operating income (expense), as adjusted, provides for comparability of this information to prior periods and is an effective 
measure for reviewing BlackRock’s non-operating contribution to its results. As compensation expense on the deferred compensation plans, which is included 
in operating income, offsets the gain/(loss) on the investments set aside for these plans, management believes that non-operating income (expense), net 
of non-controlling interests, as adjusted, provides a useful measure to investors of BlackRock’s non-operating results.

(c) Net income, as adjusted:
Management believes that net income, as adjusted, and diluted earnings per share, as adjusted, are useful measures of BlackRock’s profitability and financial
performance. Net income, as adjusted, equals net income, GAAP basis, adjusted for significant non-recurring items as well as charges that ultimately will 
not impact BlackRock’s book value.

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Net income, GAAP basis $786 $995 $323
Non-GAAP adjustments, net of tax:(d)

Restructuring charges 26 — —
PNC’s LTIP funding obligation 39 34 32
Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 7 6 1
MLIM/Quellos integration costs — 13 89
Termination of closed-end fund administration and 

servicing arrangements — 82 —
Corporate deferred income tax rate changes — (51) —

Net income, as adjusted $858 $1,079 $445

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding(e) 132,996,426 132,088,810 83,358,394

Diluted earnings per share, GAAP basis(e) $5.91 $7.53 $3.87

Diluted earnings per share, as adjusted(e) $6.45 $8.17 $5.33

The restructuring charges and the MLIM and Quellos integration costs reflected in GAAP net income have been deemed non-recurring by management and have
been excluded from net income, as adjusted, to help ensure the comparability of this information to prior reporting periods.

The portion of the compensation expense associated with LTIP awards that will be funded through the distribution to participants of shares of BlackRock stock
held by PNC and the anticipated Merrill Lynch compensation contribution has been excluded from net income, as adjusted, because, exclusive of the impact
related to the exercise of LTIP participants’ put options, primarily in the three months ended March 31, 2007, these charges do not impact BlackRock’s book
value. The termination of the closed-end fund administration and servicing arrangements with Merrill Lynch has been excluded from net income, as adjusted, 
as the termination of the arrangements is deemed non-recurring by management.

During third quarter 2007, the United Kingdom and Germany enacted legislation reducing corporate income taxes, effective in April and January of 2008, respec-
tively, which resulted in a revaluation of certain deferred tax liabilities. The resulting decrease in income taxes has been excluded from net income, as adjusted,
as it is non-recurring and to ensure comparability to current reporting periods.

(d) For the year ended December 31, 2008, non-GAAP adjustments were tax effected at 33%, BlackRock’s 2008 effective tax rate. Non-GAAP adjustments, for the
year ended December 31, 2007, were tax effected at 36%, which approximated BlackRock’s 2007 effective tax rate after adjusting primarily for the impact of the
United Kingdom and Germany corporate income tax rate reductions.

(e) Series A non-voting participating preferred stock is considered to be a common stock equivalent for purposes of earnings per share calculations.
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BlackRock has portfolio managers located around the
world, including the United States, the United Kingdom,
The Netherlands, Japan, Hong Kong and Australia. The
Company manages a wide array of taxable and tax-exempt
fixed income, equity and balanced mutual funds and 
separate accounts, as well as a wide assortment of 
index-based equity and alternative investment products 
for a diverse global clientele. BlackRock provides global
advisory services for mutual funds and other non-U.S.
equivalent retail products. The Company’s non-U.S.
mutual funds are based in a number of domiciles and
cover a range of asset classes, including cash manage-
ment, fixed income and equities. The Merrill Lynch
International Investment Funds, the primary retail fund
group offered outside the United States, were rebranded in
April 2008 as the BlackRock Global Funds. The BlackRock
Global Funds are authorized for distribution in more than
37 jurisdictions worldwide. In the United States, the 
primary retail offerings include various open-end and
closed-end funds. Additional fund offerings include 
structured products, real estate funds, hedge funds, hedge
funds of funds, private equity funds and funds of funds,
managed futures funds and exchange funds. These 
products are sold to both U.S. and non-U.S. high net
worth, retail and institutional investors in a wide variety 
of active and passive strategies covering both equity and
fixed income assets.

BlackRock’s client base consists of financial institutions
and other corporate clients, pension funds, high net 
worth individuals and retail investors around the world.
BlackRock maintains a significant sales and marketing
presence both inside and outside the United States that 
is focused on establishing and maintaining retail and 
institutional investment management relationships by
marketing its services to retail and institutional investors
directly and through financial professionals, pension 
consultants and establishing third-party distribution 
relationships. BlackRock also distributes its products 
and services through Merrill Lynch under a global distri-
bution agreement, which, following Bank of America’s
acquisition of Merrill Lynch, runs through January 2014.
After such term, the agreement will renew for one 
automatic three-year extension if certain conditions are
met. See Note 15, Related Party Transactions, to the 
consolidated financial statements beginning on page 59 
of this Annual Report.

BlackRock derives a substantial portion of its revenue
from investment advisory and administration base fees,
which are recognized as the services are performed. Such
fees are primarily based on pre-determined percentages
of the market value of AUM, percentages of committed
capital during investment periods of certain products, or,
in the case of certain real estate equity separate accounts,
net operating income generated by the underlying proper-
ties, and are affected by changes in AUM, including market
appreciation or depreciation, foreign exchange gains or
losses and net subscriptions or redemptions. Net subscrip-
tions or redemptions represent the sum of new client
assets, additional fundings from existing clients (including
dividend reinvestment), withdrawals of assets from, and
termination of, client accounts and purchases and redemp-
tions of mutual fund shares. Market appreciation or depre-
ciation includes current income earned on, and changes 
in the fair value of, securities held in client accounts.

Investment advisory agreements for certain separate
accounts and BlackRock’s alternative investment products
provide for performance fees, based upon relative and/or
absolute investment performance, in addition to base fees
based on AUM. Investment advisory performance fees
generally are earned after a given period of time or when
investment performance exceeds certain contractual
thresholds. As such, the timing of the recognition of 
performance fees may increase the volatility of
BlackRock’s revenue and earnings.

BlackRock provides a variety of risk management, 
investment analytic, investment system and advisory 
services to financial institutions, pension funds, asset
managers, foundations, consultants, mutual fund 
sponsors, real estate investment trusts and government
agencies. These services are provided under the brand
name BlackRock Solutions and include a wide array of risk
management services, valuation services relating to 
illiquid securities, disposition and workout assignments
(including long-term portfolio liquidation assignments),
strategic planning and execution, and enterprise invest-
ment system outsourcing for clients. Fees earned for
BlackRock Solutions and advisory services are determined
using some, or all, of the following methods: (i) fixed fees,
(ii) percentages of various attributes of advisory assets
under management and (iii) performance fees if contrac-
tual thresholds are met.

Operating expenses reflect employee compensation and
benefits, portfolio administration and servicing costs,
amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions,
general and administration expense and amortization of
intangible assets. Employee compensation and benefits
expense reflects salaries, deferred and incentive compen-
sation, stock-based compensation and related benefit
costs. Portfolio administration and servicing costs include
payments made to Merrill Lynch-affiliated entities under
the global distribution agreement and to PNC-affiliated
entities, as well as to third parties, primarily associated
with the administration and servicing of client investments
in certain BlackRock products.

BlackRock holds investments primarily in sponsored
investment products that invest in a variety of asset
classes including real estate, private equity, and hedge
funds. Investments generally are made to establish a 
performance track record, for co-investment purposes or
to hedge exposure to certain deferred compensation plans.
Non-operating income (expense) includes the impact of
the change in the valuations of these investments.

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

AUM for reporting purposes is generally based upon 
how investment advisory and administration fees are 
calculated for each portfolio. Net asset values, total
assets, committed assets or other measures may be 
used to determine portfolio AUM.

AUM decreased approximately $49 billion, or 4%, to 
$1.307 trillion at December 31, 2008, compared with
$1.357 trillion at December 31, 2007. The decline in AUM
was attributable to $189 billion in net market depreciation
and $28 billion in net foreign exchange losses, partially
offset by $168 billion in net subscriptions.
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Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 vs. 2007 2007 vs. 2006

Fixed income $483,173 $513,020 $448,012 (6%) 15%
Equity and balanced 280,821 459,182 392,708 (39%) 17%
Cash management 338,439 313,338 235,768 8% 33%
Alternative investment products 59,723 71,104 48,139 (16%) 48%

Sub Total 1,162,156 1,356,644 1,124,627 (14%) 21%
Advisory(1) 144,995 — — NM NM

Total $1,307,151 $1,356,644 $1,124,627 (4%) 21%

NM — Not Meaningful

(1) Advisory AUM represents long-term portfolio liquidation assignments.

Market depreciation of $189 billion was primarily due 
to depreciation in equity and balanced AUM of $160 bil -
lion, as equity markets declined during the year ended
Decem ber 31, 2008, depreciation on fixed income products
of $17 billion and alternative investment products of 
$13 billion. The $28 billion reduction in AUM from 
foreign exchange was across all asset classes due to 
the strengthening of the U.S. dollar which resulted 
in foreign exchange translation loss from converting 
non-dollar denominated AUM into U.S. dollars. Net 

subscriptions of $168 billion for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 were attributable to net new business of 
$145 billion in long-term advisory liquidation assignments, 
$26 billion in cash management products and $3 billion 
in alternative investment products, partially offset by 
$7 billion of net outflows in fixed income products.

The following table presents the component changes in
BlackRock’s AUM for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006.

COMPONENT CHANGES IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Beginning assets under management $1,356,644 $1,124,627 $452,682
Net subscriptions 167,604 137,639 32,814
Acquisitions — 21,868 589,158
Market appreciation (depreciation) (188,950) 60,132 42,196
Foreign exchange(1) (28,147) 12,378 7,777 

Total change (49,493) 232,017 671,945

Ending assets under management $1,307,151 $1,356,644 $1,124,627

Percent change in total change in AUM from 
net subscriptions and acquisitions NM 69% 93%

Percent change in total AUM (4)% 21% 148%
Organic growth percentage 12% 12% 7%

(1) Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non-dollar denominated AUM into U.S. dollars for reporting.

The following table presents the component changes in BlackRock’s AUM during 2008.

Net Market
December 31, subscriptions appreciation Foreign December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 (redemptions) (depreciation) exchange(1) 2008

Fixed income $513,020 $(6,594) $(17,031) $(6,222) $483,173
Equity and balanced 459,182 869 (160,448) (18,782) 280,821
Cash management 313,338 25,670 1,339 (1,908) 338,439
Alternative investment products 71,104 2,903 (13,049) (1,235) 59,723

Sub Total 1,356,644 22,848 (189,189) (28,147) 1,162,156
Advisory(2) — 144,756 239 — 144,995

Total $1,356,644 $167,604 $(188,950) $(28,147) $1,307,151

(1) Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non-dollar denominated AUM into U.S. dollars for reporting.

(2) Advisory AUM represents long-term portfolio liquidation assignments.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

As fiscal 2009 began, domestic and international markets
continued to reflect a difficult market environment due 
to a downturn in the global economy. Illiquid capital 
markets, lack of financing and forced deleveraging have
resulted in extreme price declines across many asset
classes. The U.S. housing market and credit markets con-
tinue to be ongoing concerns, and revelations of a massive
alleged hedge fund fraud (in which none of BlackRock’s
funds of funds were invested) have contributed to
investors, industry-wide, seeking to redeem hedge fund
and fund of funds holdings in record numbers.

The timing and direction of volatile markets, investment
performance and new client asset flows will continue to
impact the revenue the Company recognizes. The direction
of markets, particularly real estate and private equity, will
also affect the valuation of the assets on the Company’s
balance sheet.

The Company notes that the global recession, declining
asset values, the liquidity crunch and associated market
disruption have impacted our business, including the value
and mix of AUM and associated base fees. AUM and base
fees may be affected by further market changes during the
remainder of 2009.

• The build-up of institutional liquidity assets experienced
since the fourth quarter of 2007 may be temporary, as
these assets are expected to be redeployed to longer-
dated strategies as market conditions stabilize. The
Company’s strategic focus on performance, globalization
and product diversification, client service and independent
advice may enable it to retain a portion of these assets.

• The liquidity crunch and associated market disruption
have given rise to greater demand for our advisory 
services, marrying our extensive capital markets and
structuring expertise with rigorous modeling and 
analytical capabilities. While we anticipate demand 
for these services to remain high through the volatile
markets, demand may return to historical levels should

market concerns ease. A meaningful percentage of
BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenues in 2008 
was composed of one-time advisory and portfolio 
structuring fees. Because this type of revenue is non-
recurring, it is dependent on new assignments which
may or may not continue, particularly at the same pace.

• Alternative investment products with performance fee
hurdles based on absolute performance measures 
and high water marks may not contribute performance
fee revenue at levels that the Company has earned 
in prior periods.

• The value of the Company’s co-investments in alterna-
tive products may continue to decline as the underlying
value in certain asset classes, particularly real estate
and private equity, continue to decline.

• In early 2009, returns on many major equity indices 
have continued to decline from year-end 2008, which
may impact the Company’s revenue in future periods.

• The Company will continue to assess the appropriateness
of its cost structure relative to the external environment.
The Company may decide to take additional measures 
to reduce costs. While any measure would be expected to
lower the cost base over time, certain measures may 
or may not have upfront implementation costs.

• Given the severity of the market-driven revenue 
impacts mentioned above, the operating margins of 
the Company would be expected to decline, even in 
the face of cost saving measures.

• There may be certain circumstances in which the
Company may consider temporarily waiving fees on 
certain products. If these circumstances were to occur
and fee waivers were to be granted, the revenues of 
the Company would be adversely affected.

• The effective tax rate of the Company is affected, 
among other things, by the geographic distribution 
of earnings and global changes in tax legislation. 
The effective tax rate may vary from period to period 
as a result of these factors.

23

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 
AS COMPARED WITH THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Revenue
Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 Amount %

Investment advisory and administration fees:
Fixed income $892 $901 $(9) (1%)
Equity and balanced 2,101 2,218 (117) (5%)
Cash management 708 520 188 36%
Alternative investment products 531 371 160 43%

Investment advisory and administration base fees 4,232 4,010 222 6%
Fixed income 4 4 — 0%
Equity and balanced 95 107 (12) (11%)
Alternative investment products 78 239 (161) (67%)

Investment advisory performance fees 177 350 (173) (49%)

Total investment advisory and administration fees 4,409 4,360 49 1%
BlackRock Solutions and advisory 406 198 208 105%
Distribution fees 139 123 16 13%
Other revenue 110 164 (54) (32%)

Total revenue $5,064 $4,845 $219 5%
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Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008
increased $219 million, or 5%, to $5,064 million, compared
with $4,845 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
The $219 million increase was primarily the result of a
$208 million increase in BlackRock Solutions and advisory
revenue and a $49 million increase in total investment
advisory and administration fees, partially offset by a 
$54 million decrease in other revenue.

Investment Advisory and Administration Fees

The increase in investment advisory and administration 
fees of $49 million, or 1%, was the result of an increase 
in investment advisory and administration base fees of 
$222 million, or 6%, to $4,232 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008, compared with $4,010 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007, partially offset by a decrease
of $173 million in investment advisory performance fees.

The increase in investment advisory and administration
base fees of $222 million for the year ended December 31,
2008, compared with the year ended December 31, 2007,
consisted of increases in base fees of $188 million in cash
management products and $160 million in alternative
investment products, partially offset by decreases of 
$117 million in equity and balanced products and $9 million
in fixed income products. Investment advisory and admin-
istration base fees increased for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 primarily as a result of increased average
AUM in 2008 compared to 2007 for cash management
products due to net subscriptions and alternative invest-
ment products due to the full year impact of the Quellos
Transaction, offset by lower fees in equity and balanced
products due to the impact of market depreciation on AUM.

Investment advisory performance fees decreased by 
$173 million, or 49%, to $177 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008, as compared to $350 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily as a result 
of lower investment advisory performance fees earned 
on other alternative investment products, including real
estate funds, fixed income hedge funds and international
equity products.

BlackRock Solutions and Advisory

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue of $406 million
for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased $208 
million, or 105%, compared with the year ended 

December 31, 2007. The increase in BlackRock Solutions

and advisory revenue was primarily the result of additional
advisory assignments and Aladdin® assignments during
the period. A portion of the revenue earned on advisory
assignments was comprised of one-time advisory and
portfolio structuring fees and ongoing fees based on AUM
of the respective portfolio assignments.

Distribution Fees

Distribution fees increased by $16 million to $139 million
for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to
$123 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
increase in distribution fees is primarily due to the full-
year impact of the acquisition of distribution financing
arrangements from PNC in second quarter 2007, which
resulted in the Company receiving distribution fees from
such arrangements, as well as an increase in contingent
deferred sales commissions as a result of redemptions in
certain share classes of open-ended funds.

Other Revenue

Other revenue of $110 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 decreased $54 million, or 32%, 
compared with the year ended December 31, 2007. Other
revenue represents property management fees of $31 mil-
lion earned on real estate products (primarily related to
reimbursement of salaries and benefits of certain Metric
employees from certain real estate products), $25 million
of net interest related to securities lending, $23 million 
of unit trust sales commissions and $31 million of other
revenue, including fund accounting services.

The decrease in other revenue of $54 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2007, was primarily the result of a decrease
in fees earned for fund accounting services of $16 million,
a $14 million decline in other advisory service fees earned
in 2007, a $12 million decline in unit trust sales commis-
sions and a $7 million decline in property management
fees primarily related to the termination in the fourth
quarter of 2008 of certain Metric contracts with BlackRock
real estate clients. Certain Metric employees have been
transferred to a third party, which will provide to real
estate clients the property management services formerly
provided by Metric. At December 31, 2008, Metric had no
remaining employees.

Expenses
Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 Amount %

Expenses:
Employee compensation and benefits $1,815 $1,767 $48 3%
Portfolio administration and servicing costs 597 548 49 9%
Amortization of deferred mutual fund 

sales commissions 130 108 22 20%
General and administration 745 870 (125) (14%)
Restructuring charges 38 — 38 NM 
Termination of closed-end fund administration and 

servicing arrangements — 128 (128) (100%)
Amortization of intangible assets 146 130 16 12%

Total expenses $3,471 $3,551 $(80) (2%)

NM — Not Meaningful
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Total expenses decreased $80 million, or 2%, to $3,471
million for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared
with $3,551 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
The decrease was attributable to a one-time expense of
$128 million related to the termination of certain closed-
end fund administration and servicing arrangements in
2007 and a $125 million decrease in general and adminis-
tration expenses, partially offset by increases in portfolio
administration and servicing costs, employee compensa-
tion and benefits, restructuring charges, amortization of
deferred mutual fund sales commissions, and amortiza-
tion of intangible assets. The year ended December 31,
2007, included $20 million of MLIM and Quellos integration
costs, which were primarily recorded in general and
administration expense.

Employee Compensation and Benefits

Employee compensation and benefits expense increased
$48 million, or 3%, to $1,815 million at December 31, 2008,
compared to $1,767 million for the year ended Decem ber 31,
2007. The increase in employee compensation and benefits
expense was primarily attributable to a $91 million increase
in salaries and benefits offset by a $38 million decrease in
deferred compensation which is primarily linked to depre-
ciation on assets related to certain deferred compensation
plans. The increase of $91 million in salaries and benefits
was primarily due to an increase in headcount throughout
the majority of 2007 and 2008 (including the impact 
associated with the fund of funds acquisition in 2007). 
Full time employees at December 31, 2008 totaled 5,341
(including the impact of a reduction in force in the fourth
quarter) as compared to 5,952 (including Metric) at Decem -
ber 31, 2007. The decline in deferred compensation of 
$38 million is substantially offset by the change in 
valuations of investments set aside for these plans, 
which are included in non-operating income (expense).

Portfolio Administration and Servicing Costs

Portfolio administration and servicing costs increased 
$49 million, or 9%, to $597 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008, compared to $548 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. These costs include payments
to Merrill Lynch under the global distribution agreement,
and payments to PNC as well as other third parties, pri-
marily associated with the administration and servicing of
client investments in certain BlackRock products. The $49
million increase related primarily to higher levels of aver-
age AUM in cash management products.

Portfolio administration and servicing costs for the year
ended December 31, 2008 included $464 million of costs
attributable to Merrill Lynch and affiliates and $30 million
of costs attributable to PNC and affiliates as compared to
$444 million and $28 million, respectively, in the year
ended December 31, 2007. The increased costs attributable
to Merrill Lynch are offset by approximately $10 million 
expense reduction associated with the 2007 termination of
closed-end fund administration and servicing arrange-
ments. Portfolio administration and servicing costs related
to other non-related third parties increased $30 million as
a result of an expansion of distribution platforms.

Amortization of Deferred Mutual Fund Sales Commissions

Amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions
increased by $22 million to $130 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008, as compared to $108 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in amortiza-
tion of deferred mutual fund sales commissions was pri-
marily the result of the acquisition of distribution financing
arrangements from PNC in second quarter 2007 as well as
higher sales and redemptions in certain share classes of
open-ended funds.

General and Administration Expense
Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 Amount %

General and administration expense:
Portfolio services $171 $170 $1 1%
Marketing and promotional 156 169 (13) (8%)
Occupancy 138 130 8 6%
Technology 116 118 (2) (1%)
Professional services 77 94 (17) (18%)
Closed-end fund launch costs 9 36 (27) (74%)
Other general and administration 78 153 (75) (50%)

Total general and administration expense $745 $870 $(125) (14%)

General and administration expenses decreased $125 mil-
lion, or 14%, for the year ended December 31, 2008 com-
pared with the year ended December 31, 2007. Other
general and administration costs decreased $75 million,
or 50%, to $78 million from $153 million, primarily related
to a $49 million decrease in foreign currency remeasure-
ment costs and $26 million decrease in costs associated
with the support of two enhanced cash funds. Closed-end
funds launch costs decreased $27 million as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2007 due to three closed-
end funds launched during the year ended December 31,
2007, which generated approximately $3.0 billion in AUM

as compared to two closed-end funds launched in the year
ended December 31, 2008, which generated approximately
$400 million in AUM. Professional services decreased 
$17 million, or 18%, to $77 million compared to $94 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily due 
to decreases in accounting, tax and other consulting costs
related to the MLIM integration in 2007. Marketing and pro-
motional expenses decreased $13 million, or 8%, primarily
due to a decline in travel and promotional expenses. 
The decrease was partially offset by an $8 million, or 6%,
increase in occupancy expenses to $138 million compared
to $130 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
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Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 Amount %

Total non-operating income (expense) $(574) $529 $(1,103) (208%)
Non-controlling interests (155) 364 (519) 143%

Total non-operating income (expense), 
net of non-controlling interests $(419) $165 $(584) (353%)

The components of non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling interests, for the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 Amount %

Non-operating income (expense), 
net of non-controlling interests:
Net gain (loss) on investments, 

net of non-controlling interests:
Private equity $(28) $65 $(93) (144%)
Real estate (127) 34 (161) (475%)
Hedge funds/funds of hedge funds (194) 23 (217) NM
Investments related to deferred 

compensation plans (38) 12 (50) (419%)
Other investments(1) (30) 8 (38) (441%)

Total net gain (loss) on investments, 
net of non-controlling interests (417) 142 (559) (393%)
Interest and dividend income 65 74 (9) (13%)
Interest expense (66) (49) (17) 33%
Other non-controlling interest(2) (1) (2) 1 67%

Total non-operating income (expense), 
net of non-controlling interests (419) 165 (584) (353%)

Compensation expense related to depreciation 
(appreciation) on deferred compensation plans 38 (12) 50 419%

Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling 
interests, as adjusted $(381) $153 $(534) (348%)

NM — Not Meaningful

(1) Includes net gains/(losses) related to equity and fixed income investments, collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”) and BlackRock’s seed capital 
hedging program.

(2) Includes non-controlling interest related to operating entities (non-investment activities).

Non-operating income, net of non-controlling interests,
decreased $584 million to $419 million of expense for 
the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to 
non-operating income, net of non-controlling interests 
of $165 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. 
The decrease in net non-operating income primarily

reflects declines in valuations from seed investments 
and co-investments in real estate funds, private equity 
and hedge funds/funds of hedge funds (which includes 
the impact of a $141 million decline in valuations of dis-
tressed credit products) and a $50 million decline in 
valuations of investments associated with certain deferred

as a result of expansion of offices worldwide (including 
the full-year impact of the Quellos Transaction).

Restructuring Charges

For the year ended December 31, 2008, BlackRock
recorded pre-tax restructuring charges of $38 million, 
primarily related to severance, outplacement costs and
accelerated amortization of certain previously granted
stock awards associated with a 9% reduction in work force.
See Restructuring charges discussion in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements beginning on page 59 
of this Annual Report.

Termination of Closed-end Fund Administration and
Servicing Arrangements

For the year ended December 31, 2007, BlackRock
recorded a one-time expense of $128 million related to the

termination of administration and servicing arrangements
with Merrill Lynch on 40 closed-end funds with original
terms of 30-40 years.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

The $16 million increase in the amortization of intangible
assets to $146 million for the year ended December 31,
2008, compared to $130 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, primarily reflects the full-year impact of 
the amortization of finite-lived intangible assets acquired
in the Quellos Transaction.

Non-Operating Income (Expense), 
Net of Non-Controlling Interests

Non-operating income (expense), net of non-controlling
interests, for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
was as follows:
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compensation plans. In addition, net interest expense
increased $26 million primarily due to incremental 
interest expense related to the full year impact of the
issuance of long-term debt in September 2007.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $388 million and $464 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively. The effective income tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2008 was 33.0%, as compared to 31.8% 
for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in 
the effective income tax rate was primarily the result of a
one-time tax benefit of $51 million recognized in 2007 due
to tax legislation changes enacted in the third quarter 2007
in the United Kingdom and Germany, which resulted in a
revaluation of certain deferred tax liabilities. Accordingly,
BlackRock revalued its deferred tax liabilities in these
jurisdictions. Excluding this deferred income tax benefit,
the 2007 adjusted effective tax rate was 35.3%. The effec-
tive income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2008
declined as compared to the 2007 adjusted effective tax
rate, primarily as a result of the impact of foreign taxes.

Operating Income and Operating Margin

GAAP

Operating income totaled $1,593 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2008, which was an increase of 
$299 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2007. The Company’s operating margin was 31.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2008, compared to 26.7% for 
the year ended December 31, 2007. Operating income and
operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2008
included the impact of a $50 million foreign currency
remeasurement benefit and a $38 million deferred com-
pensation benefit due to depreciation on assets related 

to certain deferred compensation plans, offset by $38 
million of restructuring charges. Operating income and 
operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2007
included the impact related to the termination of certain
closed-end fund servicing and administration arrange-
ments of $128 million, $42 million of closed-end fund
launch costs and commissions and $20 million of MLIM
integration costs.

As Adjusted

Operating income, as adjusted, totaled $1,662 million for
the year ended December 31, 2008, which was an increase
of $144 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2007. Operating margin, as adjusted, was 38.7% and 37.5%
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively. The growth of operating income, as adjusted, 
and operating margin, as adjusted, for the year ended
December 31, 2008 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2007 is primarily related to the impact of
$219 million of revenue growth (including the full year
impact of the Quellos Transaction) and the impact of a 
$49 million decline in foreign currency remeasurement
costs, offset by a $91 million increase in salaries and 
benefits and a $16 million increase in amortization 
of finite-lived intangible assets primarily associated with
the Quellos Transaction.

Operating income, as adjusted, and operating margin, 
as adjusted, are described in more detail in the Overview
to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

Net Income

The components of net income and net income, as
adjusted, for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
are as follows:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 Variance 2008 2007 Variance

GAAP GAAP % As adjusted As adjusted %

Operating income $1,593 $1,294 23% $1,662 $1,518 9%
Non-operating income (expense), 

net of non-controlling interests (419) 165 (354%) (381) 153 (349%)
Income tax expense (388) (464) (16%) (423) (592) (29%)

Net income $786 $995 (21%) $858 $1,079 (20%)

Diluted earnings per share $5.91 $7.53 (22%) $6.45 $8.17 (21%)

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2008
includes operating income of $1,593, or $8.02 per diluted
share, and non-operating losses, net of non-controlling
interests, of $419 million, or $2.11 per diluted share, 
versus an $0.80 gain per diluted share in 2007. Net income
totaled $786 million, or $5.91 per diluted share, for the
year ended December 31, 2008, which was a decrease 
of $209 million, or $1.62 per diluted share, compared 
to the year ended December 31, 2007.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2008 included
the after-tax impact of the portion of LTIP awards which
will be funded through a capital contribution of BlackRock
stock held by PNC, an expected contribution by Merrill
Lynch to fund certain compensation of former MLIM

employees and restructuring charges of $39 million, 
$7 million, and $26 million, respectively.

Net income of $995 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007 included the after-tax impact related to the 
termination of certain closed-end fund administration 
and servicing arrangements of $82 million, the portion 
of certain LTIP awards which will be funded through 
a capital contribution of BlackRock stock held by PNC 
of $34 million, MLIM integration costs of $13 million and
an expected contribution by Merrill Lynch of $6 million 
to fund certain compensation of former MLIM employees.
In addition, the United Kingdom and Germany enacted 
legislation reducing corporate income tax rates resulting
in a one-time decrease of $51 million in income tax
expense which is included in net income.

27

177528_TXT_17_53:Layout 1  3/26/09  10:20 PM  Page 27



Exclusive of these items in both periods, diluted earnings
per share, as adjusted, for the year ended December 31,
2008 decreased $1.72, or 21%, to $6.45 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2007. Diluted earnings per
share, as adjusted, is described in more detail in the
Overview to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2007, AS COMPARED WITH 
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006

The following table presents the component changes in
BlackRock’s AUM for 2007.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Operating results for the year ended December 31, 2007
reflect the full year impact of the MLIM Transaction, which
closed on September 29, 2006. With the exception of
BlackRock Solutions and advisory, the magnitude of the
acquired business is the primary driver of most line item

variances in the analysis below comparing the year ended
December 31, 2007 to the year ended December 31, 2006.
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to 
conform to the current presentation.

December 31, Net Acquisition/ Market Foreign December 31,
(Dollar amounts in millions) 2006 subscriptions reclassifications(1) appreciation exchange(2) 2007

Fixed income $448,012 $27,196 $14,037 $20,091 $3,684 $513,020
Equity and balanced 392,708 23,489 — 35,016 7,969 459,182
Cash management 235,768 75,272 — 1,933 365 313,338
Alternative investment 

products 48,139 11,682 7,831 3,092 360 71,104

Total $1,124,627 $137,639 $21,868 $60,132 $12,378 $1,356,644

(1) Data reflects reclassification of $14 billion of fixed income oriented absolute return and structured products to fixed income from alternative investments, 
as well as the $22 billion of net assets acquired in the Quellos Transaction on October 1, 2007.

(2) Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non-dollar denominated AUM into U.S. dollars for reporting.

Revenue

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 Amount %

Investment advisory and administration fees:
Fixed income $901 $590 $311 53%
Equity and balanced 2,218 625 1,593 255%
Cash management 520 203 317 156%
Alternative investment products 371 181 190 105%

Investment advisory and administration base fees 4,010 1,599 2,411 151%
Fixed income 4 6 (2) (33%)
Equity and balanced 107 20 87 435%
Alternative investment products 239 216 23 11%

Investment advisory performance fees 350 242 108 45%

Total investment advisory and administration fees 4,360 1,841 2,519 137%
BlackRock Solutions and advisory 198 148 50 34%
Distribution fees 123 36 87 242%
Other revenue 164 73 91 125% 

Total revenue $4,845 $2,098 $2,747 131%

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007
increased $2,747 million, or 131%, to $4,845 million, com-
pared with $2,098 million for the year ended December 31,
2006. The $2,747 million increase was primarily the result
of a $2,519 million increase in total investment advisory
and administration fees, an $87 million increase in distri-
bution fees, a $50 million increase in BlackRock Solutions

and advisory, and a $91 million increase in other revenue.

Investment Advisory and Administration Fees

The increase in investment advisory and administration
fees of $2,519 million, or 137%, was the result of an
increase in investment advisory and administration base
fees of $2,411 million, or 151%, to $4,010 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2007, compared with 

$1,599 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
along with an increase of $108 million in investment advi-
sory performance fees. Investment advisory and adminis-
tration base fees increased for the year ended December
31, 2007 primarily due to the MLIM Transaction, which
added $589 billion in AUM on September 29, 2006 and
additional increased AUM of $232 billion during 2007.

The increase in investment advisory and administration
base fees of $2,411 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, compared with the year ended December 31,
2006 consisted of increases of $1,593 million in equity 
and balanced products, $317 million in cash management
products, $311 million in fixed income products, and 
$190 million in alternative investment products. The
increase in investment advisory and administration base
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fees for all products was driven by AUM acquired in the
MLIM Transaction on September 29, 2006, as well as
increases in AUM of $66 billion, $65 billion, $78 billion 
and $23 billion, respectively, over the past twelve months,
which includes the $22 billion of alternative investment
AUM acquired in the Quellos Transaction.

Investment advisory performance fees increased by 
$108 million, or 45%, to $350 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, compared to $242 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to higher
performance fees on equity and fixed income hedge funds,
as well as real estate equity products.

BlackRock Solutions and Advisory

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue of $198 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased $50 mil-
lion, or 34%, compared with the year ended December 31,
2006. The increase in BlackRock Solutions and advisory
revenue was primarily the result of additional advisory 
and Aladdin assignments during the period.

Distribution Fees

Distribution fees increased by $87 million to $123 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to 

$36 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
The increase in distribution fees is primarily due to the
acquisition of distribution financing arrangements from
the MLIM Transaction in third quarter 2006 and from PNC
in second quarter 2007, which resulted in the Company
receiving distribution fees from such arrangements.

Other Revenue

Other revenue of $164 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 increased $91 million compared with
the year ended December 31, 2006. Other revenue repre-
sents property management fees of $38 million earned on
real estate products (primarily related to reimbursement
of salaries and benefits of certain Metric employees from
certain real estate products), fees for fund accounting of
$27 million, net interest related to securities lending of
$27 million and $14 million for other advisory service fees.

The increase in other revenue of $91 million, or 125%, 
for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared 
to $73 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
primarily the result of an increase of $25 million in unit
trust sales commissions, an increase of $21 million 
in fees earned related to securities lending, a $15 million
increase in fund accounting services, and a $14 million
increase for other advisory service fees.
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Expenses

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 Amount %

Expenses:
Employee compensation and benefits $1,767 $934 $833 89%
Portfolio administration and servicing costs 548 173 375 217%
Amortization of deferred mutual fund 

sales commissions 108 30 78 260%
General and administration 870 417 453 109%
Termination of closed-end fund administration 

and servicing arrangements 128 — 128 NM
Fee sharing payment — 34 (34) (100%)
Amortization of intangible assets 130 38 92 242%

Total expenses $3,551 $1,626 $1,925 118%

NM — Not Meaningful

Total expenses, which reflect the full-year impact of the
MLIM Transaction on September 29, 2006, increased
$1,925 million, or 118%, to $3,551 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007, compared with $1,626 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006. Total expenses
included integration charges related to the MLIM
Transaction of $20 million and $142 million in 2007 and
2006, respectively. The year ended December 31, 2007
included $20 million of total MLIM and Quellos integration
charges primarily in general and administration, com-
pared to integration charges of $45 million related to
employee compensation and benefits and $97 million
related to general and administration, respectively, 
in the year ended December 31, 2006.

Employee Compensation and Benefits

Employee compensation and benefits increased by $833
million, or 89%, to $1,767 million, at December 31, 2007
compared to $934 million for the year ended December 31,
2006. The increase in employee compensation and benefits

was primarily attributable to increases in incentive 
compensation, salaries and benefits and stock-based
compensation of $406 million, $368 million and $66 mil-
lion, respectively. The $406 million increase in incentive
compensation is primarily attributable to higher operating
income and direct incentives associated with higher 
performance fees earned on the Company’s alternative
investment products. The $368 million increase in salaries
and benefits was primarily attributable to higher staffing
levels associated with the MLIM and Quellos Transactions
and business growth. Employees (including employees 
of Metric) at December 31, 2007 totaled 5,952 as compared
to 5,113 at December 31, 2006.

Portfolio Administration and Servicing Costs

Portfolio administration and servicing costs increased
$375 million to $548 million during the year ended
December 31, 2007, compared to $173 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. These costs include payments
to Merrill Lynch under the global distribution agreement,
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and payments to PNC as well as other third parties, 
primarily associated with the administration and servicing
of client investments in certain BlackRock products.

Portfolio administration and servicing costs for the year
ended December 31, 2007 included $444 million of costs
attributable to Merrill Lynch and affiliates and $28 million
of costs attributable to PNC and other affiliates as com-
pared to $96 million and $25 million, respectively, in the
year ended December 31, 2006. Portfolio administration
and servicing costs related to other non-related parties
increased $28 million as a result of an expansion of 
distribution platforms.

Amortization of Deferred Mutual Fund Sales Commissions

Amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions
increased by $78 million to $108 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, as compared to $30 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in amortiza-
tion of deferred mutual fund sales commissions was 
primarily the result of the acquisition of distribution
financing arrangements from MLIM at the end of third
quarter 2006 and from PNC in second quarter 2007.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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General and Administration Expense

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 Amount %

General and administration expense:
Portfolio services $170 $52 $118 228%
Marketing and promotional 169 100 69 69%
Occupancy 130 64 66 103%
Technology 118 61 57 93%
Professional services 94 73 21 30%
Closed-end fund launch costs 36 11 25 207%
Other general and administration 153 56 97 177%

Total general and administration expense $870 $417 $453 109%

General and administration expense increased $453 mil-
lion, or 109%, for the year ended December 31, 2007 
to $870 million, compared to $417 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

Portfolio services costs increased by $118 million to 
$170 million, relating to supporting higher AUM levels 
and increased trading activities. Marketing and promo-
tional expense increased $69 million, or 69%, to $169 
million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared 
to $100 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 
primarily due to increased marketing activities, including 
$85 million related to domestic and international market-
ing efforts, partially offset by a decrease of $16 million
related to BlackRock’s advertising and rebranding 
campaign in 2006. Occupancy costs for the year ended
December 31, 2007 totaled $130 million, representing 
a $66 million, or 103%, increase from $64 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in occupancy
costs primarily reflects costs related to the expansion 
of corporate facilities as a result of the MLIM and Quellos
Transactions and business growth. Technology expenses
increased $57 million, or 93%, to $118 million compared to
$61 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 prima-
rily due to a $13 million increase in technology consulting
expenses, a $19 million increase in hardware depreciation
expense and a $15 million increase in software licensing
and maintenance costs. Closed-end fund launch costs
totaled $36 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
relating to three new closed-end funds launched during
the year, generating approximately $3.0 billion in AUM.
Closed-end fund launch costs for the year ended Decem -
ber 31, 2006 totaled $11 million relating to three new
closed-end funds launched during the period, generating
$2.2 billion in AUM. Professional services increased 
$21 million, or 30%, to $94 million compared to $73 million

for the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to
increased accounting, tax and legal services necessary 
to support business growth. Other general and adminis-
tration costs increased by $97 million to $153 million 
from $56 million, including $24 million of capital contribu-
tions to two enhanced cash funds in support of fund net
asset values and a $12 million charge reflecting the 
valuation of capital support agreements covering certain
securities remaining in the funds and a $32 million
increase in office related expenses.

Termination of Closed-End Fund Administration and
Servicing Arrangements

For the year ended December 31, 2007, BlackRock
recorded an expense of $128 million related to the termi-
nation of administration and servicing arrangements 
with Merrill Lynch on 40 closed-end funds with original
terms of 30-40 years.

Fee Sharing Payment

For the year ended December 31, 2006, BlackRock
recorded a fee sharing payment of $34 million, represent-
ing a payment related to a large institutional real estate
equity client account acquired in the SSR Transaction 
in January 2005.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

The $92 million increase in the amortization of intangible
assets to $130 million for the year ended December 31,
2007, compared to $38 million for the year ended 
Decem ber 31, 2006, primarily reflects amortization of
finite-lived intangible assets acquired in the MLIM 
and Quellos Transactions.
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Non-Operating Income, Net of Non-Controlling Interests

Non-operating income, net of non-controlling interests, for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 Amount %

Total non-operating income $529 $56 $473 NM
Non-controlling interests 364 16 (348) NM

Total non-operating income, 
net of non-controlling interests $165 $40 $125 313%

NM – Not Meaningful

The components of non-operating income, net of non-controlling interests, for the year ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 were as follows:

Year ended December 31, Variance

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 Amount %

Non-operating income, 
net of non-controlling interests:
Net gain on investments, 

net of non-controlling interests:
Private equity $65 $— $65 NM
Real estate 34 1 33 NM
Hedge funds/funds of hedge funds 23 7 16 228%
Investments related to deferred compensation plans 12 8 4 50%
Other investments(1) 8 5 3 60%

Total net gain on investments, 
net of non-controlling interests 142 21 121 NM
Other non-controlling interest(2) (2) — (2) NM
Interest and dividend income 74 29 45 153%
Interest expense (49) (10) (39) 398%

Total non-operating income, 
net of non-controlling interests 165 40 125 313%

Compensation expense related to (appreciation) 
on deferred compensation plans (12) (8) (4) (50%)

Non-operating income, 
net of non-controlling interests, as adjusted $153 $32 $121 378%

NM — Not Meaningful

(1) Includes net gains/(losses) related to equity and fixed income investments, CDOs and BlackRock’s seed capital hedging program.

(2) Includes non-controlling interest related to operating entities (non-investment activities).
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Non-operating income, net of non-controlling interests,
increased $125 million to $165 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, compared to $40 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006 as a result of a $121 million
increase in net gain on investments, net of non-controlling
interests, and a $45 million increase in interest and divi-
dend income, partially offset by a $39 million increase in
interest expense primarily related to borrowings under
BlackRock’s revolving credit agreement and the $700 mil-
lion issuance of long-term debt in September 2007. The
increase in net gain on investments, net of non-controlling
interests, was primarily due to market appreciation and
investment gains from seed investments in private equity
products, real estate equity products and other alternative
products including hedge funds and funds of funds, partially
offset by $14 million of increased impairments related to
seed investments in collateralized debt obligations.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $464 million and $189 million for
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,

representing effective income tax rates of 31.8% and
37.0%, respectively. The reduction in the effective tax rate
is primarily the result of a one-time deferred income tax
benefit of $51 million, recognized in the third quarter of
2007, due to tax legislation changes enacted in third quar-
ter 2007 in the United Kingdom and Germany that reduced
corporate income tax rates in those jurisdictions in 2008.
Accordingly, BlackRock revalued its deferred tax liabilities
in these jurisdictions. Excluding this deferred income tax
benefit, the 2007 adjusted effective tax rate was 35.3%.

Operating Income and Operating Margin

GAAP

Operating income totaled $1,294 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 which was an increase of $822 million
compared to the year ended December 31, 2006. Operating
margin was 26.7% for the year ended December 31, 2007
compared to 22.5% for the year ended December 31, 2006.
Operating income and operating margin for the year ended
December 31, 2007 reflect the impact of $128 million for
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the termination of closed-end fund administration and
servicing arrangements with Merrill Lynch, $42 million of
closed-end fund launch costs and commissions, $20 mil-
lion of integration costs, as well as the full year impact 
of the MLIM Transaction. Operating income and operating
margin for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflect 
$142 million of integration costs, $14 million of closed-end
fund launch costs and commissions, the impact of the
MLIM Transaction subsequent to closing on September 29,
2006, as well as a $34 million fee sharing payment in 
conjunction with the SSR Transaction.

As Adjusted

Operating income, as adjusted, totaled $1,518 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007 which was an increase
of $844 million compared to the year ended December 31,
2006. Operating margin, as adjusted, was 37.5% and 

36.7% for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Operating income and operating margin, 
as adjusted, for the year ended December 31, 2007 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 include
the full year impact of the MLIM Transaction, as well as
the impact of the Quellos Transaction which closed on
October 1, 2007.

Operating margin and operating income, as adjusted, are
described in more detail in the Overview to Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations.

Net Income

The components of net income and net income, as
adjusted, for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
are as follows:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2007 2006 Variance 2007 2006 Variance

GAAP GAAP % As adjusted As adjusted %

Operating income $1,294 $472 174% $1,518 $674 125%
Non-operating income, 

net of non-controlling interests 165 40 313% 153 32 378%
Income tax expense (464) (189) 146% (592) (261) 127%

Net income $995 $323 208% $1,079 $445 142%

Diluted earnings per share $7.53 $3.87 95% $8.17 $5.33 53%

Net income totaled $995 million, or $7.53 per diluted
share, for the year ended December 31, 2007, which was
an increase of $672 million, or $3.66 per diluted share,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2006.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2007
includes $82 million related to the after-tax impacts 
of the termination of closed-end fund administration and
servicing arrangements with Merrill Lynch, $34 million
related to the portion of certain LTIP awards to be funded
through a capital contribution of BlackRock common stock
held by PNC, $13 million related to integration costs asso-
ciated with the MLIM Transactions and $6 million related
to an expected contribution by Merrill Lynch to fund cer-
tain compensation of former MLIM employees. In addition,
the United Kingdom and Germany enacted legislation
reducing corporate income tax rates resulting in a one-
time decrease of $51 million in income tax expense which
is included in net income. MLIM integration costs primarily
include compensation costs, professional fees and
rebranding costs.

Net income of $323 million during the year ended Decem -
ber 31, 2006 included the after-tax impacts of the portion
of certain LTIP awards to be funded through a capital 
contribution of $32 million of BlackRock common stock
held by PNC, MLIM integration costs of $89 million and 
an expected contribution by Merrill Lynch of $1 million to
fund certain compensation of former MLIM employees.
Exclusive of these items, fully diluted earnings per share,
as adjusted, for the year ended December 31, 2007
increased $2.84, or 53%, to $8.17 compared to $5.33 
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating Activities

Sources of BlackRock’s operating cash include investment
advisory and administration fees, revenues from BlackRock

Solutions and advisory products and services, mutual 
fund distribution fees and realized earnings and distri -
butions on the Company’s investments. BlackRock 
primarily uses its cash to pay compensation and benefits,
portfolio administration and servicing costs, general 
and administration expenses, interest on the Company’s
borrowings, purchases of co- and seed investments, 
capital expenditures, income taxes and dividends on
BlackRock’s capital stock.

BlackRock Cash Flows Excluding the Impact of 
Consolidated Sponsored Investment Funds

In accordance with GAAP, certain BlackRock sponsored
investment funds are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of BlackRock, notwithstanding 
the fact that BlackRock may only have a minority economic
interest in these funds. As a result, BlackRock’s consoli-
dated statements of cash flows include the cash flows 
of consolidated sponsored investment funds. The Company
uses an adjusted cash flow, which excludes the impact 
of consolidated sponsored investment funds, as a supple-
mental non-GAAP measure to assess liquidity and capital
requirements. The Company believes that its cash flows,
excluding the impact of the consolidated sponsored 
investment funds, provide investors with useful informa-
tion on the cash flows of BlackRock relating to our ability 
to fund additional operating, investing and financing 
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activities. BlackRock’s management does not advocate
that investors consider such non-GAAP measures in isola-
tion from, or as a substitute for, its cash flows presented 
in accordance with GAAP.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the
Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows pre-
sented on a GAAP basis to the Company’s consolidated
statements of cash flows, excluding the impact on cash
flows of consolidated sponsored investment funds:
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Year Ended December 31, 2008

Impact on Cash flows
cash flows of excluding impact of
consolidated consolidated

GAAP sponsored sponsored
(Dollar amounts in millions) basis investment funds investment funds

Cash flows from operating activities $1,916 $413 $1,503
Cash flows from investing activities (394) (9) (385)
Cash flows from financing activities (887) (410) (477)
Effect of exchange rate changes on 

cash and cash equivalents (259) — (259)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 376 (6) 382
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,656 67 1,589

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $2,032 $61 $1,971

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash held by con -
solidated sponsored investment funds, at December 31,
2008 increased $382 million from December 31, 2007, 
primarily resulting from $1,503 million of cash inflows
from operating activities, offset by $385 million of cash
outflows from investing activities, $477 million of cash 
outflows from financing activities, and a $259 million
decrease due to the effect of foreign exchange rates.

Cash inflows from operating activities, excluding the
impact of consolidated sponsored investment funds, for
the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily include the
receipt of investment advisory and administration fees and
other revenue offset by the payment of operating expenses
incurred in the normal course of business. Cash flows
from operating activities, excluding the impact of consoli-
dated sponsored investment funds, in the year ended
December 31, 2008 included cash payments related to 
year end incentive compensation that is paid in the first

quarter. Cash outflows from investing activities, excluding
the impact of consolidated sponsored investment funds,
for the year ended December 31, 2008 primarily include
net purchases of investments that are made to establish 
a performance track record, to co-invest with clients or 
to hedge exposure to certain deferred compensation plans.
Cash outflows from financing activities, excluding the
impact of consolidated sponsored investment funds, for
the year ended December 31, 2008 primarily include 
$419 million of payments for cash dividends and a net
$100 million repayment of short-term borrowings.

Capital Resources

The Company manages its consolidated financial condition
and funding to maintain appropriate liquidity for the busi-
ness. Capital resources at December 31, 2008 and 2007
were as follows:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Cash and cash equivalents $2,032 $1,656
Cash and cash equivalents held by consolidated 

sponsored investment funds(1) (61) (67)
Regulatory capital(2) (172) (217)
2007 credit facility — undrawn(3), (4) 2,171 2,100

Committed access $3,970 $3,472

(1) The Company may not be able to access such cash to use in its operating activities.

(2) Partially met with cash and cash equivalents.

(3) Net of outstanding letters of credit totaling $0 million and $100 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(4) Excludes $129 million of undrawn amounts at December 31, 2008 related to Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc.

In addition, a significant portion of the Company’s 
$1,011 million of net economic investments are illiquid in
nature and, as such, may not be readily convertible to cash.

Short-Term Borrowings

In August 2007, the Company entered into a five-year 
$2.5 billion unsecured revolving credit facility (the “2007
facility”), which permits the Company to request an addi-
tional $500 million of borrowing capacity, subject to lender
credit approval, up to a maximum of $3 billion. The 2007
facility requires the Company not to exceed a maximum

leverage ratio (ratio of net debt to EBITDA, where net debt
equals total debt less domestic unrestricted cash) of 3 to
1, which was satisfied with a ratio of less than 0.5 to 1 at
December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $200 million 
outstanding under the 2007 facility with an interest rate 
of 0.61% and a maturity date during January 2009. During
January 2009, the Company rolled over the $200 million 
in borrowings with an interest rate of 0.56% and a maturity
date during February 2009.
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Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. has a $140 million partici-
pation under the 2007 facility; however, BlackRock does
not expect that Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. will honor
its commitment to fund additional amounts.

In addition, in December 2007, in order to support two
enhanced cash funds that BlackRock manages, BlackRock
elected to procure two letters of credit under the 2007
facility in an aggregate amount of $100 million. In
December 2008, the letters of credit were terminated.

In June 2008, BlackRock Japan Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a five billion
Japanese yen commitment-line agreement with a banking
institution (the “Japan Commitment-line”). The term 
of the Japan Commitment-line is one year and interest 
will accrue at the applicable Japanese short-term prime
rate. The Japan Commitment-line is intended to provide
liquidity flexibility for operating requirements in Japan. 
At December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings
outstanding under the Japan Commitment-line.

Conversion of Convertible Debentures During 2008

During October 2008, the convertible debentures became
convertible at the option of the holders into cash and shares
of the Company’s common stock after the trustee deter-
mined that the trading price for the convertible debentures
on each day of a five consecutive trading day period was
less than 103% of the product of the last reported sale
price of the Company’s common stock on such date and
the conversion rate on such date. During the conversion
period holders of $0.5 million of convertible debentures
elected to convert their holdings into cash and shares.

Support of Two Enhanced Cash Funds

At December 31, 2008, BlackRock managed approximately
$338 billion in cash management assets. Of this amount,
approximately $350 million was held by two private place-
ment enhanced cash funds. During 2007 and 2008, market
events reduced the liquidity of certain securities, including
securities issued by asset-backed structured investment
vehicles held by these two funds.

During 2007, BlackRock made investments in the funds 
to enhance fund liquidity and to facilitate redemptions. 
At December 31, 2008, BlackRock’s total net investment in
these two funds was approximately $82 million. BlackRock
also provided capital contributions in 2007 and 2008 total-
ing $24 million and $3 million, respectively, to help pre-
serve a one dollar net asset value per share for these 
two funds. These capital contributions resulted in an
increase to general and administration expense.

In December 2007, BlackRock entered into capital support
agreements with the two funds, backed by letters of credit
drawn under BlackRock’s existing credit facility. Pursuant
to the capital support agreements, BlackRock agreed to
make subsequent capital contributions to the funds to
cover realized losses, up to $100 million, related to speci-
fied securities held by the funds. In December 2008,
BlackRock’s maximum potential obligation under the 
capital support agreements was reduced to $45 million,
and in January 2009, one capital support agreement 
was terminated, due to the closure of the related fund,
leaving only one capital support agreement, with a total
$20 million potential obligation outstanding. Subsequent
to Decem ber 31, 2008, the funds distributed approximately

$100 million in aggregate to investors as a result of 
security sales and maturities.

BlackRock recorded $12 million and $7 million in general
and administration expense in 2007 and 2008, respectively,
and a corresponding liability at December 31, 2008 related
to the fair value of the capital support agreements with the
two funds. The fair value of the potential liability related 
to the capital support agreements will fluctuate in subse-
quent periods based principally on projected cash flows 
of the specified securities covered by the capital support
agreements and market liquidity.

In addition, BlackRock may, at its option, from time to
time, purchase securities from the funds at the greater 
of the funds’ amortized cost or fair value. In the event
securities are purchased at amortized cost, a loss would
be recorded based on the difference from fair value.
During 2008, BlackRock purchased one security resulting
in $6 million of non-operating losses.

At December 31, 2008, in applying the provisions of Finan -
cial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpre tation
No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN
46(R)”), BlackRock concluded that it is the primary benefi-
ciary of the two enhanced cash funds which resulted in
consolidation of the funds on its consolidated statement of
financial condition. At December 31, 2007, BlackRock con-
cluded it was not the primary beneficiary of these funds.

Exposure to Collateralized Debt Obligations

In the normal course of business, BlackRock acts as 
a collateral manager to various CDOs. A CDO is a managed
investment vehicle that purchases a portfolio of assets 
or enters into swaps. A CDO funds its activities through 
the issuance of several tranches of debt and equity, the
repayment and return of which are linked to the perfor -
mance of the assets in the CDO. The Company also may
invest in a portion of the debt or equity issued. These 
entities meet the definition of a variable interest entity
under FIN 46(R). BlackRock has concluded that it is not
the primary beneficiary of these CDOs, and as a result it
does not consolidate these CDOs on its consolidated 
financial statements. At December 31, 2008, BlackRock’s
carrying value of investments in these CDOs on the state-
ment of financial condition was approximately $4 million.

In addition, BlackRock manages a series of credit default
swap transactions, referred to collectively as the Pillars
synthetic CDO transaction, which is backed by a portfolio
of both investment grade corporate and structured finance
exposures. In connection with the transaction, BlackRock
has entered into a credit default swap with a counterparty
to provide credit protection of $17 million, which repre-
sents the Company’s maximum risk of loss with respect 
to the provision of credit protection. At December 31, 2008,
the fair value of the credit default swap was approximately
$0.5 million and was included on the Company’s consoli-
dated statement of financial condition in other liabilities.

At December 31, 2008, BlackRock’s maximum risk of addi-
tional loss related to CDOs was approximately $20 million.

Capital Activities

On August 2, 2006, BlackRock announced that its Board of
Directors had authorized a share repurchase program to
purchase an additional 2.1 million shares of BlackRock

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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common stock. Pursuant to this repurchase program,
BlackRock may make repurchases from time to time, 
as market conditions warrant, in the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions at the discretion of 
management. The Company repurchased 1,348,600 
shares under the program in open market transactions 
for approximately $200.9 million through December 31,
2008. The Company did not repurchase any shares 
under the program during 2008. As a result, the Com-
pany is currently authorized to repurchase an additional 
751,400 shares under its share repurchase program.

Net Capital Requirements

The Company is required to maintain net capital in 
certain international jurisdictions, which is met in part 
by retaining cash and cash equivalent investments in 
those jurisdictions. As a result, the Company may be

restricted in its ability to transfer cash between different
jurisdictions. Additionally, transfers of cash between 
international jurisdictions, including repatriation to the
United States, may have adverse tax consequences that
could discourage such transfers. At December 31, 2008,
the Company was required to maintain approximately 
$172 million in net capital at these subsidiaries and 
is in compliance with all applicable regulatory minimum 
net capital requirements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

The following table sets forth contractual obligations,
commitments and contingencies by year of payment as 
of December 31, 2008:
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(Dollar amounts in millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Contractual obligations and commitments:
Long-term borrowings(1)

Long-term notes $44 $44 $44 $44 $44 $875 $1,095
Convertible debentures 257 — — — — — 257
Other 1 1 — — — — 2

Short-term borrowings 200 — — — — — 200
Operating leases 62 58 55 50 47 274 546
Purchase obligations 35 18 7 3 — — 63
Investment/loan commitments 9 49 16 1 34 192 301

Total contractual obligations and commitments 608 170 122 98 125 1,341 2,464

Contingent obligations:
Contingent distribution obligations 401 401 401 401 401 — 2,005
Contingent payments related to business 

acquisitions 285 10 595 — — — 890

Total contractual obligations, commitments 
and contingent obligations(2) $1,294 $581 $1,118 $499 $526 $1,341 $5,359

(1) Amounts include principal repayments and interest payments.

(2) The table above does not include: (a) approximately $76 million of uncertain tax positions and potential interest on such positions in accordance with FIN No. 48
and (b) $45 million related to capital support agreements (of which $25 million terminated in January 2009) for the two enhanced cash funds as the Company 
is unable to estimate the timing of the ultimate outcome.

Long-Term Borrowings

Long-Term Notes

At December 31, 2008, long-term borrowings were $946
million. Debt service and repayment requirements,
assuming the Company’s 2.625% Convertible Debenture
due 2035 (the “convertible debentures”) are converted at
the option of the holders in 2009 are $302 million in 2009,
$45 million in 2010 and $44 million in each of 2011, 2012
and 2013.

In September 2007, the Company issued $700 million in
aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior unsecured
notes maturing on September 15, 2017 (the “Notes”). 
A portion of the net proceeds of the Notes was used 
to fund the initial cash payment for the acquisition of the
fund of funds business of Quellos and the remainder was
used for general corporate purposes. Interest is payable
semi-annually on March 15 and September 15 of each
year. The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity at 
any time in whole or in part at the option of the Company
at a “make-whole” premium. The Notes were issued at 
a discount of $6 million, which is being amortized over 
the ten-year term.

Convertible Debentures

In February 2005, the Company issued $250 million 
aggregate principal amount of convertible debentures 
due in 2035 and bearing interest at a rate of 2.625% per
annum. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on
February 15 and August 15 of each year, or approximately
$6.5 million per year. The convertible debentures are
callable by the Company at any time on or after Febru-
ary 20, 2010. In addition, the convertible debentures 
contain certain put and conversion provisions. However,
beginning in February 2009 the convertible debentures
became convertible at the option of the holders. On the
contractual obligations table above, the remaining $249.5
million principal balance of the convertible debentures is
assumed, although not determined, to be repaid in 2009.

Short-Term Borrowings

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $200 million 
outstanding under the 2007 facility with an interest rate 
of 0.61% and a maturity date during January 2009. During
January 2009, the Company rolled over the $200 million 
in borrowings with an interest rate of 0.56% and maturity
date during February 2009.
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Operating Leases

The Company leases its primary office space under 
agreements that currently expire through 2023. In con -
nection with certain lease agreements, the Company is
responsible for escalation payments. The contractual 
obligations table above includes only guaranteed minimum
lease payments for such leases and does not project
potential escalation or other lease-related payments.
These leases are classified as operating leases and, as
such, are not recorded as liabilities on the consolidated
statements of financial condition.

Purchase Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters 
into contracts or purchase obligations with third parties
whereby the third parties provide services to or on behalf
of BlackRock. Purchase obligations included in the con-
tractual obligations table above represent executory 
contracts which are either non-cancelable or cancelable
with a penalty. At December 31, 2008, the Company’s 
obligations primarily reflect standard service contracts 
for portfolio, market data and office related services.
Purchase obligations are recorded on the Company’s
financial statements only after the goods or services have
been received and, as such, obligations for services not
received are not included in the Company’s consolidated
statement of financial condition at December 31, 2008.

Investment/Loan Commitments

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $292 million of
various capital commitments to fund sponsored investment
funds. Generally, the timing of the funding of these com-
mitments is unknown. Therefore, amounts are shown to be
paid upon the expiration date of the commitment. Actual
payments could be made at any time prior to such expira-
tion date and, if not called by that date, such commitments
would expire. These commitments have not been recorded
on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial
condition at December 31, 2008. The above schedule does
not include potential future commitments approved by the
Company’s Capital Committee, but which are not yet legally
binding commitments. The Company intends to make
additional capital commitments from time to time to fund
additional investment products for, and with, its clients.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had loans outstanding
of approximately $167 million to a warehouse entity estab-
lished for certain private equity funds of funds, which was
included in due from related parties on the Company’s
consolidated statement of financial condition. At Decem -
ber 31, 2008, the Company was not committed to make
additional loans to the warehouse entity. In January 2009,
approximately $29 million was repaid while the remainder
is expected to be fully repaid on, or about, March 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2008, the Company was committed to
provide financing to Anthracite Capital, Inc. (“Anthracite”),
a specialty commercial real estate finance company that 
is managed by a subsidiary of BlackRock, of up to $60 mil-
lion until March 2010. The financing is collateralized by
Anthracite pledging its ownership interest in an investment
fund which is also managed by a subsidiary of BlackRock.
At December 31, 2008, $30 million of financing was out-
standing, which matures in April 2009 at an interest rate of
6.02%, which was included in due from related parties on

the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condi-
tion. Subsequent to December 31, 2008, Anthracite bor-
rowed an additional $3.5 million, which matures in April
2009, at a current interest rate of 4.76%. The $33.5 million
of financing outstanding may be renewed upon maturity
for an additional period of time.

As a general partner in certain private equity partnerships,
the Company receives certain carried interest distributions
from the partnerships according to the provisions of the
partnership agreements. The Company may, from time to
time, be required to return all or a portion of such distri-
butions to the limited partners in the event the limited
partners do not achieve a certain return as specified 
in the various partnership agreements.

Contingent Distribution Obligations

BlackRock has entered into an Amended and Restated
global distribution agreement with Merrill Lynch which
requires the Company to make payments to Merrill Lynch
contingent upon sales of products and level of assets
under management maintained in BlackRock products.
The economic terms of the agreement will remain in effect
until January 2014. After such term, the agreement will
renew for one automatic 3-year extension if certain 
conditions are satisfied. The above schedule reflects the
Company’s estimate for 2009, which due to uncertainty 
of future sales and asset levels, has been held constant 
for 2010 through 2013.

Contingent Payments Related to Business Acquisitions

Amounts included in the table above are additional contin-
gent payments to be paid in cash related to its acquisitions
of: (i) SSRM Holdings, Inc. and (ii) certain assets of
Quellos. As the remaining contingent obligations are pri-
marily dependent upon achievement of certain operating
measures, the ultimate liabilities are not certain as of
December 31, 2008 and have not been recorded on the
Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.
The amount of contingent payments reflected for any year
represents the maximum amount of cash that could be
payable at the earliest possible date under the terms of
the business purchase agreements.

SSRM Holdings:

In January 2005, the Company closed its acquisition of
SSRM Holdings, Inc. from MetLife for adjusted considera-
tion of approximately $265 million in cash and 550,000
restricted shares of BlackRock common stock and certain
additional contingent payments. In January 2010, the fifth
anniversary of the closing of the SSR Transaction, MetLife
may be entitled to receive an additional payment of up to a
maximum of $10 million based on the Company’s retained
AUM associated with the MetLife defined benefit and
defined contribution plans.

Quellos:

In connection with the Quellos Transaction, Quellos may
be entitled to receive two contingent payments upon
achieving certain investment advisory base and perfor -
mance fee measures through December 31, 2010, totaling
up to an additional $969 million in a combination of 
cash and stock.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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The first contingent payment, of up to $374 million, is
payable in April 2009 up to 25% in BlackRock common
stock and the remainder in cash. As of December 31, 2008,
it is estimated that the first contingent payment will equal
approximately $300 million, of which $11 million has been
paid in cash during 2008. Of the remaining $289 million,
$217 million will be paid in cash and $72 million in com-
mon stock based on a price of $157.33 in April 2009. 
The ultimate amount of the first contingent payment 
will not be certain until March 31, 2009.

The second contingent payment, of up to $595 million, 
is payable in cash in 2011. Quellos may also be entitled to
a “catch-up” payment in 2011 if certain investment advi-
sory base fee measures are met through 2010 to the
extent that the value of the first contingent payment is less
than $374 million. A portion of the second contingent pay-
ment, not to exceed $90 million, may be paid to Quellos
based on factors including continued employment with
BlackRock. Therefore, this portion, not to exceed $90 
million, would be recorded as employee compensation.

On the contractual obligation table above, the maxi-
mum remaining payments are included for each contin-
gent payment.

The following items have not been included in the contrac-
tual obligations, commitments and contingencies table:

Impact Investing

In connection with the Impact Investing acquisition, the
Company may be required to make several additional con-
tingent payments, which are not expected to be material,
upon completion of certain operating measures through
2010. Currently, the payments are anticipated to be
recorded as employee compensation.

Compensation and Benefit Obligations

The Company has various compensation and benefit 
obligations, including bonuses, commissions and incentive
payments payable, defined contribution plan matching
contribution obligations, and deferred compensation
arrangements, that are excluded from the table above 
primarily due to uncertainties in their payout periods.
These arrangements are discussed in more detail in Notes
13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements begin-
ning on page 59 of this Annual Report. Accrued compensa-
tion and benefits at December 31, 2008 totaled $826
million and included incentive compensation of $645 mil-
lion, deferred compensation of $71 million and other com-
pensation and benefits related obligations of $110 million.
Incentive compensation was primarily paid in the first
quarter of 2009, while the deferred compensation obliga-
tions are generally payable over periods up to five years.

Separate Account Liabilities

The Company’s wholly-owned registered life insurance
company in the United Kingdom maintains separate
account assets representing segregated funds held for
purposes of funding individual and group pension con-
tracts. The net investment income and net realized and
unrealized gains and losses attributable to these separate
account assets accrue to the contract owner and, as 
such, an offsetting separate account liability is recorded.
At December 31, 2008, the Company had $2.6 billion 
of assets and offsetting liabilities on the consolidated

statement of financial condition. The payment of these
contractual obligations is inherently uncertain and varies
by customer. As such, these liabilities have been excluded
from the contractual obligations table above.

Indemnifications

In many of the Company’s contracts, including the MLIM
and Quellos Transaction agreements, BlackRock agrees 
to indemnify third parties under certain circumstances.
The terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract
and the amount of indemnification liability, if any, cannot
be determined and has not been included in the table
above or recorded in the Company’s consolidated state-
ment of financial condition at December 31, 2008. See 
further discussion in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements beginning on page 59 of this Annual Report.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual
results could differ significantly from those estimates.
Management considers the following critical accounting
policies important to understanding the consolidated 
financial statements. For a summary of these and 
additional accounting policies see Note 2 to the consoli-
dated financial statements beginning on page 59 of 
this Annual Report.

Investments

Consolidation of Investments

The accounting method used for the Company’s investments
generally is dependent upon the influence the Company
has over its investee. For investments where BlackRock
can exert control over the financial and operating policies
of the investee, which generally exists if there is a 50% 
or greater voting interest or if partners or members of
certain products do not have substantive rights, the
investee is consolidated into BlackRock’s financial state-
ments. Pursuant to FIN 46(R), for certain investments
where the risks and rewards of ownership are not directly
linked to voting interests (“variable interest entities” or
“VIEs”), an investee may be consolidated if BlackRock is
considered the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary
beneficiary of a VIE is the party that absorbs a majority 
of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the
entity’s expected residual returns or both as a result 
of holding variable interests.

Significant judgment is required in the determination of
whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. 
If the Company, and its related parties, is determined 
to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the entity will 
be consolidated within BlackRock’s consolidated financial
statements. In order to determine whether the Company 
is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, management must
make significant estimates and assumptions of probable
future cash flows and assign probabilities to different cash
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flow scenarios. Assumptions made in such analyses
include, but are not limited to, market prices of securities,
market interest rates, potential credit defaults on individ-
ual securities or default rates on a portfolio of securities,
gain realization, liquidity or marketability of certain 
securities, discount rates and the probability of certain
other outcomes.

At December 31, 2008, the Company applied an expected
loss model to certain VIEs and determined that it is the
primary beneficiary of two enhanced cash funds and 
one private equity fund of funds, resulting in the consoli -
dation of the funds on its consolidated statement of 
financial condition.

The Company, as general partner or managing member 
of its funds, is generally presumed to control funds that
are limited partnerships or limited liability companies.
Pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 
No. 04-5, Determining Whether a General Partner, or the

General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership

or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain

Rights, the Company reviews such investment vehicles to
determine if such a presumption can be overcome by

determining if other non-affiliated partners or members of
the limited partnership or limited liability company have
the substantive ability to dissolve (liquidate) the investment
vehicle, or otherwise to remove BlackRock as the general
partner or managing member without cause based on 
a simple unaffiliated majority vote, or have substantive
participating rights. If the investment vehicle is not a VIE
and the presumption of control is not overcome, the
investment vehicle will be consolidated into BlackRock’s
financial statements.

BlackRock acts as general partner or managing member
for consolidated private equity funds. In December 2008,
BlackRock took necessary steps to grant additional rights
to the unaffiliated investors in three funds with net assets
at December 31, 2008 of approximately $210 million. 
The granting of these rights resulted in the deconsolida-
tion of such investment funds from the consolidated 
financial statements as of December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, as a result of consolida-
tion of various investment products, the Company had 
the following balances on its consolidated statements of
financial condition:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Cash and cash equivalents $61 $67
Investments 728 1,054
Other net assets (liabilities) 12 (218)
Non-controlling interests (491) (578)

Total exposure to consolidated investment funds $310 $325

The company has retained the specialized accounting 
of these investment funds pursuant to EITF No. 85-12,
Retention of Specialized Accounting for Investments 

in Consolidation.

Equity Method Investments

For equity investments where BlackRock does not control
the investee, and where the Company is not the primary
beneficiary of a VIE, but can exert significant influence over
the financial and operating policies of the investee, the
Company uses the equity method of accounting. The eval-
uation of whether the Company exerts control or signifi-
cant influence over the financial and operational policies 
of its investees requires significant judgment based on 
the facts and circumstances surrounding each individual
investment. Factors considered in these evaluations may
include the type of investment, the legal structure of 
the investee, the terms and structure of the investment
agreement including investor voting or other rights, the
terms of BlackRock’s advisory agreement or other agree-
ments with the investee, any influence BlackRock may
have on the governing board of the investee, the legal
rights of other investors in the entity pursuant to the 
fund’s operating documents and the relationship between
BlackRock and other investors in the entity.

Substantially all of BlackRock’s equity method investees
are investment companies which record its underlying
investments at fair value. Therefore, under the equity
method of accounting, BlackRock’s share of the investee’s
underlying net income predominantly represents fair value
adjustments in the investments held by the equity method
investees. BlackRock’s share of the investee’s underlying

net income or loss is based upon the most currently avail-
able information and is recorded as non-operating income
(expense) for investments in investment companies, or 
as other revenue for operating or advisory company
investments, which are recorded in other assets, since
such operating or advisory companies are considered 
to be integral to BlackRock’s core business.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $501 million and
$16 million of equity method investees reflected within
investments and other assets, respectively, and at Decem -
ber 31, 2007 the Company had $517 million and $5 million
of equity method investees reflected in investments and
other assets, respectively.

Impairment of Investments

The Company’s management periodically assesses its
equity method, available-for-sale and cost investments 
for impairment. If circumstances indicate that impairment
may exist, investments are evaluated using market values,
where available, or the expected future cash flows of the
investment. If the undiscounted expected future cash flows
are lower than the Company’s carrying value of the invest-
ment, an impairment charge is recorded to the consoli-
dated statements of income.

When the fair value of an available-for-sale security is
lower than its cost or amortized cost value, the Company
evaluates the security to determine whether the impair-
ment is considered “other-than-temporary”. In making
this determination, the Company considers, among other
factors, the length of time the security has been in a loss
position, the extent to which the security’s market value 
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is less than its cost, the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the security’s issuer and the Company’s 
ability and intent to hold the security for a period of time
sufficient to allow for recovery of such unrealized losses. 
If the impairment is considered other-than-temporary, 
a charge is recorded to the consolidated statements 
of income.

The Company evaluates its CDO investments for impair-
ment quarterly throughout the term of the investment. 
The Company reviews cash flow estimates throughout 
the life of each CDO investment. If the net present value 
of the estimated future cash flows is lower than the 
carrying value of the investment and also is lower than 
the net present value of the previous estimate of cash
flows, an impairment is considered other-than-temporary.
The impairment loss is then recognized based on the
excess of the carrying amount of the investment over 
its estimated fair value.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
the Company recorded other-than-temporary impairments
of $8 million, $16 million and $2 million, respectively,
related to debt securities and CDO available-for-sale
investments. The other-than-temporary impairments 
are due to a reduction in estimated cash flows of CDO
investments as well as adverse credit conditions for 
a debt instrument that was purchased from an enhanced
cash management fund in which the Company determined
that it did not have the ability to hold the securities for 
a period of time sufficient to allow for recovery of such
unrealized losses.

Evaluations of securities impairments involves significant
assumptions and management judgments, which could
differ from actual results, and these differences could
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
statements of income.

Fair Value Measurements

BlackRock adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, Fair Value Measurements

(“SFAS No. 157”) as of January 1, 2008, which requires,
among other things, enhanced disclosures about invest-
ments that are measured and reported at fair value. SFAS
No. 157 establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value and
requires companies to disclose the fair value of their
financial instruments according to a fair value hierarchy
(i.e., Level 1, 2, and 3 inputs, as defined). The fair value
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unad-
justed) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Addition -
ally, companies are required to provide enhanced dis -
closure regarding instruments in the Level 3 category 
(which have inputs to the valuation techniques that are
unobservable and require significant management judg-
ment), including a reconciliation of the beginning and 
ending balances separately for each major category of
assets and liabilities.

Financial instruments measured and reported at 
fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the 
following categories:

Level 1 Inputs — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the reporting

date. Level 1 assets include listed mutual funds, 
equities and certain debt securities.

Level 2 Inputs — Quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical
or similar assets or liabilities that are not active; and
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable,
such as models or other valuation methodologies.
Assets which generally are included in this category
may include short-term floating rate notes and asset-
backed securities held by a consolidated sponsored
cash management fund, securities held within consoli-
dated hedge funds, certain limited partnership interests
in hedge funds in which the valuations for substantially
all of the investments within the fund are based upon
Level 1 or Level 2 inputs, as well as restricted public
securities valued at a discount.

Level 3 Inputs — Unobservable inputs for the valuation 
of the asset or liability. Level 3 assets include invest-
ments for which there is little, if any, market activity.
These inputs require significant management judgment
or estimation. Assets included in this category generally
include general and limited partnership interests in pri-
vate equity funds, funds of private equity funds, real
estate funds, hedge funds, and funds of hedge funds.

The Company’s assessment of the significance of a partic-
ular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgment and considers factors specific to 
the financial instrument.

BlackRock records substantially all investments on its
consolidated statements of financial condition at fair 
value or amounts that approximate fair value. For certain
investments, including investments classified as trading
investments, equity method investments and consolidated
sponsored investment funds, changes in fair value affect
net income in the period of the change. For other invest-
ments classified as available-for-sale securities, changes
in fair value are recorded as a component of stockholders’
equity and generally do not directly impact BlackRock’s
net income until such investments are sold or are 
considered impaired (see below). Marketable securities
are priced using publicly available market data. Non-
marketable securities, however, generally are priced using
a variety of methods and resources, including the most
currently available net asset values or capital accounts 
of the investment, valuation services from third party
providers, internal valuation models which utilize available
market data and management assumptions or, in the
absence of other market data and resources, the fair 
value for an investment is estimated in good faith by the
Company’s management based on a number of factors,
including the liquidity, financial condition and current 
and projected operating performance of the investment.

Changes in fair value on approximately $1.3 billion of
investments will impact the Company’s non-operating
income (expense) and approximately $100 million will
impact accumulated other comprehensive income. As of
December 31, 2008, changes in fair value of approximately
$728 million of such investments within consolidated
sponsored investment funds will also impact BlackRock’s
non-controlling interests expense on the consolidated
statements of income. BlackRock’s net exposure to
changes in fair value of such consolidated sponsored
investment funds is $310 million.
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BlackRock’s $813 million of Level 3 investments at
December 31, 2008 primarily include co-investments in
real estate equity products, private equity fund of funds
and private equity funds, funds of hedge funds as well as
funds that invest in distressed credit and mortgage securi-
ties. Many of these investees are investment companies
which record their underlying investments at fair value
based on fair value policies established by management 
of the underlying fund, which could include BlackRock
employees. Fair value policies at the underlying fund 
generally utilize pricing information from third party
sources, however, in some instances current valuation
information, for illiquid securities or securities in markets
that are not active, may not be available from any third
party source or fund management may conclude that the
valuations that are available from third party sources are
not reliable. In these instances fund management may
perform model-based analytical valuations that may be
used to value these investments.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company
reclassified approximately $29 million of net investments
out of Level 3. The majority of the net reclassification 

was related to equity method investments which the
Company uses that certain significant inputs, including
performance attributes, for the fair value measurement of
these investments that became observable. In addition,
during the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company
deconsolidated three private equity funds that held at 
time of deconsolidation approximately $200 million 
of Level 3 investments.

BlackRock reports its investments on a GAAP basis, 
which includes investment balances which are owned by
sponsored investment funds that are deemed to be con-
trolled by BlackRock in accordance with GAAP and there-
fore are consolidated even though BlackRock may not own
a majority of such funds. As a result, management reviews
its investments on an “economic” basis, which eliminates
the portion of investments that do not impact BlackRock’s
book value. BlackRock’s management does not advocate
that investors consider such non-GAAP measures in 
isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information
prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The following table represents investments measured at
fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2008:
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Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets other Significant Other Investments

for identical observable unobservable investments at
assets inputs inputs not held at December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) fair value(3) 2008

Total investments, GAAP $176 $400 $813 $40 $1,429
Net assets for which 

the Company does not 
bear “economic” exposure(1) (6) (255) (157) — (418)

Net “economic” investments(2) $170 $145 $656 $40 $1,011

(1) Consists of net assets attributable to non-controlling investors of consolidated sponsored investment funds.

(2) Includes BlackRock’s portion of cash and cash equivalents, other assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and other liabilities that are consolidated 
from sponsored investment funds.

(3) Includes investments in equity method investees and investments held at cost, which in accordance with GAAP are not accounted for under a fair value measure.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2008, the carrying amounts of the
Company’s goodwill and intangible assets were as follows:

(Dollar amounts in millions) December 31, 2008

Goodwill $5,533
Intangible assets

Indefinite–lived 5,378
Finite–lived, net of 

accumulated amortization 1,063

Total goodwill and intangible assets $11,974

The value of contracts to manage assets in proprietary
open-end funds and closed-end funds without a specified
termination date is classified as an indefinite-lived 
intangible asset. The assignment of indefinite lives to 
such mutual fund contracts is based upon the assumption
that there is no foreseeable limit on the contract period 
to manage these funds due to the likelihood of continued
renewal at little or no cost. Goodwill represents the cost 

of a business acquisition in excess of the fair value of 
the net assets acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, indefinite-lived 
intangible assets and goodwill are not amortized. 
Finite-lived management contracts are amortized over
their expected useful lives, which, at December 31, 2008,
ranged from 1 year to 20 years with a weighted average
remaining estimated useful life of 7.7 years.

Goodwill

The Company assesses its goodwill for impairment at
least annually, considering such factors as the book value
and the market capitalization of the Company. At July 31,
2008 the impairment test that was performed indicated no
impairment charges were required. The Company contin-
ues to monitor its book value per share as compared to
closing prices of its common stock for potential indicators
of impairment. At December 31, 2008 the Company’s 
common stock closed at $134.15 which exceeded its book
value of approximately $93 per share.
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Intangibles

The Company assesses its indefinite-lived management
contracts for impairment at least annually, considering
such factors as AUM, product mix, product margins, 
and projected cash flows to determine whether the values
of each asset are impaired and whether the indefinite-
life classification is still appropriate. The fair value of
indefinite-lived intangible assets is determined based on
the discounted value of expected future cash flows. The
fair value of finite-lived intangible assets is reviewed at
least annually to determine whether circumstances exist
which indicate there may be a potential impairment. In
addition, if such circumstances are considered to exist, the
Company will perform an impairment test, using an undis-
counted cash flow analysis. If the asset is determined to be
impaired, the difference between the book value of the
asset and its current fair value is recognized as an expense
in the period in which the impairment is determined.

Expected future cash flows are estimated using many 
variables which require significant management judgment,
including market interest rates, equity prices, credit
default ratings, discount rates, revenue multiples, 
inflation rates and AUM growth rates. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates, which could materially
impact the impairment conclusion. In both July and
September 2008, as well as during 2007 and 2006, the
Company performed impairment tests, which indicated 
no impairment charges were required. The Company 
continues to monitor various factors, including AUM, 
for potential indicators of impairment.

In addition, management judgment is required to estimate
the period over which intangible assets will contribute 
to the Company’s cash flows and the pattern in which
these assets will be consumed. A change in the remaining
useful life of any of these assets, or the reclassification 
of an indefinite-lived intangible asset to a finite-lived
intangible asset, could have a significant impact on the
Company’s amortization expense, which was $146 million,
$130 million and $38 million for the years ended Decem -
ber 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the 
asset and liability method prescribed by SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”). Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax con-
sequences attributable to differences between the finan-
cial statement carrying amount of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases using currently
enacted tax rates. The effect of a change in tax rates on
deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income
in the period that includes the enactment date.

BlackRock adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation
(“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,
on January 1, 2007. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s
financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. 
FIN No. 48 prescribes a threshold for measurement and
recognition in the financial statements of an asset or 
liability resulting from a tax position taken or expected 
to be taken in an income tax return. FIN No. 48 also 

provides guidance on, among other things, de-recognition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities and interest and
penalties on uncertain tax positions.

The application of SFAS No. 109 and FIN No. 48 requires
management to make estimates of the ranges of possible
outcomes, the probability of favorable or unfavorable tax
outcomes and potential interest and penalties related to
such unfavorable outcomes, which require significant
management judgment. Actual future tax consequences 
of uncertain tax positions may be materially different 
than the Company’s current estimates. At December 31,
2008, BlackRock had $114 million of gross unrecognized
tax benefits, of which $60 million, if recognized, would
affect the effective tax rate.

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, management is required
to estimate the timing of the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, make assumptions about the future
deductibility of deferred tax assets and assess deferred tax
liabilities based on enacted tax rates for the appropriate
tax jurisdictions to determine the amount of such deferred
tax assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2008, the
Company had net deferred tax assets of $11 million and
net deferred tax liabilities of approximately $1,825 million
on the statement of financial condition. Changes in the
calculated deferred tax assets and liabilities may occur in
certain circumstances, including statutory income tax rate
changes, statutory tax law changes, changes in the antici-
pated timing of recognition of deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities or changes in the structure or tax status of the
Company. SFAS 109 requires the Company to assess
whether a valuation allowance should be established
against its deferred tax assets based on consideration of
all available evidence, both positive and negative, using a
more likely than not standard. This assessment considers,
among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity
of recent losses, forecast of future profitability, the dura-
tion of statutory carry back and carry forward periods, the
Company’s experience with tax attributes expiring unused,
and tax planning alternatives.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company has recorded a
deferred tax asset of $157 million for unrealized invest-
ment losses, however, no valuation allowance has been
established because the Company expects to be able 
to carry back a portion of its unrealized capital losses
when realized, hold certain fixed income securities over 
a period sufficient for them to recover their unrealized
losses, and generate future capital gains sufficient to 
offset the unrealized capital losses. Based on the weight 
of available evidence, it is more likely than not that the
deferred tax asset will be realized. However, changes 
in circumstance could cause the Company to revalue its
deferred tax balances with the resulting change impacting
the income statement in the period of the change. Such
changes may be material to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. See Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements beginning on page 59 of this Annual
Report for further details.

Further, the Company records its income taxes based
upon its estimated income tax liability or benefit. The
Company’s actual tax liability or benefit may differ from
the estimated income tax liability or benefit. The Company
had current income taxes receivable of approximately 
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$44 million and current income taxes payable of $120 mil-
lion at December 31, 2008.

Revenue Recognition

Investment advisory and administration fees are recog-
nized as the services are performed. Such fees are 
primarily based on pre-determined percentages of the
market value of AUM or, in the case of certain real estate
separate accounts, net operating income generated by 
the underlying properties, and are affected by changes in
AUM, including market appreciation or depreciation and
net subscriptions or redemptions. Investment advisory 
and administration fees for mutual funds are shown net 
of fees waived pursuant to contractual expense limitations
of the funds or voluntary waivers. Certain real estate fees
are earned upon the acquisition or disposition of proper-
ties in accordance with applicable investment manage-
ment agreements and are generally recognized at the
closing of the respective real estate transactions.

The Company contracts with third parties, as well as
related parties, for various mutual fund administration 
and shareholder servicing to be performed on behalf 
of certain non U.S. funds managed by the Company. Such
arrangements generally are priced as a portion of the
Company’s management fee paid by the fund. In certain
cases, the fund takes on the primary responsibility for 
payment for services such that BlackRock bears no credit
risk to the third party. The Company accounts for such
retrocession arrangements in accordance with EITF 
No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus

Net as an Agent, and records its investment advisory and
administration base fees net of retrocessions. Retroces -
sions for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006 were $762 million, $780 million and $156 million,
respectively. The Company has additional contracts for
similar services with third parties which, due to the terms
of the contracts, are recorded as portfolio administration
and servicing costs on the consolidated statements 
of income.

The Company also receives performance fees or incentive
allocations from alternative investment products and 
certain separate accounts. These performance fees 
generally are earned upon exceeding specified relative 
or absolute investment return thresholds. Such fees 
are recorded upon completion of the measurement period
which vary by product. For the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, performance fee revenue totaled
$177 million, $350 million and $242 million, respectively.

The Company receives carried interest from certain alter-
native investment funds upon exceeding performance
thresholds. BlackRock may be required to return all, or
part, of such carried interest depending upon future per-
formance of these investments. BlackRock records carried
interest subject to such claw-back provisions as revenue

on its consolidated statements of income upon the earlier
of the termination of the alternative investment fund or
when the likelihood of claw-back is mathematically
improbable. The Company records a deferred carried
interest liability to the extent it receives cash or capital
allocations prior to meeting the revenue recognition crite-
ria. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had 
$21 million and $29 million, respectively, of deferred 
carried interest recorded in other liabilities on the 
consolidated statements of financial condition.

Fees earned for BlackRock Solutions, which include 
advisory services, are recorded as services are performed 
and are determined using some, or all, of the following
methods: (i) fixed fees, (ii) percentages of various 
attributes of advisory assets under management and 
(iii) performance fees if contractual thresholds are met.
Revenue earned in 2008 on advisory assignments was
comprised of one-time advisory and portfolio structuring
fees and ongoing fees based on AUM of the respective
portfolio assignment. For the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, BlackRock Solutions and advisory 
revenue totaled $406 million, $198 million and $148 mil-
lion, respectively.

Adjustments to revenue arising from initial estimates 
historically have been immaterial since the majority 
of BlackRock’s investment advisory and administration
revenue is calculated on the fair value of AUM and since
the Company does not record revenues until performance
thresholds have been exceeded and the likelihood of claw-
back of carried interest is mathematically improbable.

Recent Accounting Developments

EPS Impact Related to Retrospective Application of 
Recent Accounting Developments

Pursuant to FSP APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt

Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion

(Including Partial Cash Settlement) (“FSP APB 14-1”), the
Company will allocate a component of the initial proceeds
of its convertible debentures to create a debt discount
which will be amortized over the expected life of the 
convertible debentures.

Pursuant to FSP EITF 03-6-1, Determining Whether

Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions

Are Participating Securities (“FSP EITF 03-6-1”), the
Company’s outstanding unvested stock-based payment
awards are considered participating securities as the
awards contain non-forfeitable rights to dividend equiva-
lents. In accordance with FSP EITF 03-6-1, the two-class
method is used to determine EPS for common stock and
for participating securities. The two-class method is 
an earnings allocation formula that allocates distributed
and undistributed earnings to each class of common
shareholders and participating RSUs.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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The tables below present the basic and diluted EPS impact of the retrospective application upon adoption of both FSP APB
14-1 and FSP EITF 03-6-1. The impact of SFAS No. 160 is not included below as it will not have an impact on EPS.

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Net income, as reported $786 $995 $323
Impact of FSP APB 14-1 (2) (2) (1)

Net income, after adoption(1) $784 $993 $322

Basic EPS calculation:
Distributed earnings(2)

Basic common shares $405 $344 $135
Basic participating RSUs 13 9 1

Total distributed earnings $418 $353 $136

Undistributed earnings(3)

Basic common shares $354 $624 $185
Basic participating RSUs 12 16 1

Total undistributed earnings $366 $640 $186

Total earnings allocated(4)

Basic common shares $759 $968 $320
Basic participating RSUs 25 25 2

Total earnings allocated $784 $993 $322

Weighted average number of shares(5)

Basic common shares 129,543,443 128,488,561 80,638,167
Basic participating RSUs 4,544,062 3,471,939 525,725

Total weighted average number of shares 134,087,505 131,960,500 81,163,892

Basic common earnings per share, as reported $6.07 $7.75 $4.00
Basic common earnings per share, after adoption $5.86 $7.53 $3.96

(1) Net income, after adoption of FSP APB 14-1, prior to allocation to participating RSUs.

(2) Distributed earnings represent the dividends paid on common and preferred shares and RSUs, net of expected dividend forfeitures.

(3) Undistributed earnings represent net income, after adoption of FSP APB 14-1, less distributed earnings.

(4) Total earnings allocated is equal to the sum of distributed and undistributed earnings.

(5) Represents the weighted average of basic common shares and participating RSUs during the period.

Diluted EPS calculation:

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Undistributed earnings(1)

Basic common shares $354 $624 $185
Basic participating RSUs 12 16 1

Total undistributed earnings $366 $640 $186

Total earnings allocated(2)

Basic common shares $759 $968 $320
Basic participating RSUs 25 25 2

Total earnings allocated $784 $993 $322

Weighted average number of shares(3)

Basic common shares 129,543,443 128,488,561 80,638,167
Other diluted shares 1,833,074 2,889,500 2,568,340

Weighted average common shares outstanding 131,376,517 131,378,061 83,206,507
Basic participating RSUs 4,544,062 3,471,939 525,725

Total weighted average number of shares 135,920,579 134,850,000 83,732,232

Diluted common earnings per share, as reported $5.91 $7.53 $3.87
Diluted common earnings per share, after adoption $5.78 $7.37 $3.84

(1) Undistributed earnings represent net income less distributed earnings.

(2) Total earnings allocated is equal to the sum of distributed and undistributed earnings.

(3) Represents the weighted average of dilutive common shares, participating RSUs and other dilutive securities during the period.
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See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements 
beginning on page 59 of this Annual Report for further 
discussion on the impact of adopting FSP APB 14-1 
and FSP EITF 03-6-1 as well as additional recent 
accounting developments.

Related Party Transactions

See related party transactions discussion in Note 15 to 
the consolidated financial statements beginning on 
page 59 of this Annual Report.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a leading investment management firm, BlackRock
devotes significant resources across all of its operations 
to identifying, measuring, monitoring, managing and 
analyzing market and operating risks, including the 
management and oversight of its own investment port-
folio. The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted 
guidelines for the review of investments to be made by the
Company, requiring, among other things, that all invest-
ments be reviewed by the Company’s Capital Committee,
which consists of senior officers of the Company, and 
that certain investments may be referred to the Audit
Committee or the Board of Directors depending on 
the circumstances for approval.

AUM Market Price Risk

BlackRock’s investment management revenues are 
primarily comprised of fees based on a percentage of 
the value of AUM and, in some cases, performance fees

expressed as a percentage of the returns realized on AUM.
At December 31, 2008, the majority of our investment 
advisory and administration fees were based on average 
or period end AUM of the applicable mutual funds or 
separate accounts. Movements in equity market prices,
interest rates/credit spreads, foreign exchange rates, 
or all three could cause the value of AUM to decline, which
would result in lower investment advisory and administra-
tion fees.

Corporate Investments Portfolio Risks

In the normal course of its business, BlackRock is exposed
to equity market price risk, interest rate/credit spread 
risk and foreign exchange rate risk associated with 
its corporate investments.

BlackRock has investments primarily in sponsored 
investment products that invest in a variety of asset
classes including real estate, private equity, and hedge
funds. Investments generally are made to establish 
a performance track record, for co-investment purposes
or to hedge exposure to certain deferred compensation
plans. Currently, the Company has a seed capital hedging
program in which it enters into total return swaps to hedge
exposure to certain equity investments. At December 31,
2008, the outstanding total return swaps had an aggregate
notional value of approximately $49 million.

At December 31, 2008, approximately $728 million of
BlackRock’s total investments were maintained in spon-
sored investment funds that are deemed to be controlled
by BlackRock in accordance with GAAP and therefore are
consolidated even though BlackRock may not own a
majority of such funds. Including the impact of the seed
capital hedging program, the Company’s net economic
exposure to its investment portfolio is as follows:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
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The table below presents the impact of the retrospective application to as adjusted EPS upon adoption of both FSP APB
14-1 and FSP EITF 03-6-1.

2008 2007 2006

Earnings per share:
Dilutive — as adjusted, as reported $6.45 $8.17 $5.33
Dilutive — as adjusted, after adoption $6.30 $7.99 $5.30

(Dollar amounts in millions) December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Total investments $1,429 $2,000
Consolidated sponsored investments funds (728) (1,054)
Net exposure to consolidated investment funds 310 325

Total net “economic” investments 1,011 1,271
Hedged investments (49) (94)

Total net “economic” investment exposure $962 $1,177

The net “economic” investment exposure of the portfolio 
is presented in either the market price or the interest
rate/credit spread risk disclosures below:

Market Price Risk

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s net exposure to
price risk in its investment portfolio is approximately 
$655 million of the Company’s net economic investment
exposure. Investments that are subject to market price
risk include private equity and real estate investments.

The Company estimates that a 10% adverse change in
market prices would result in a decrease of approximately
$65.5 million in the carrying value of such investments.

Interest Rate/Credit Spread Risk

At December 31, 2008, the Company was exposed to 
interest-rate risk and credit spread risks as a result of
approximately $307 million of investments in debt 
securities and sponsored investment products that invest
primarily in debt securities. Management considered 
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a hypothetical 100 basis point fluctuation in interest rates
or credit spreads and estimates that the impact of such 
a fluctuation on these investments, in the aggregate,
would result in a decrease, or increase, of approximately 
$2.8 million in the carrying value of such investments.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

As discussed above, the Company invests in sponsored
investment products that invest in a variety of asset
classes. The carrying value of the net economic invest-
ment exposure denominated in foreign currencies, 
primarily the British pound sterling and the Euro, was 
$46 million. A 10% adverse change in foreign exchange
rates would result in approximately a $4.6 million decline
in the carrying value of such investments.

RISK FACTORS

As a leading investment management firm, risk is an
inherent part of BlackRock’s business. Global markets, by
their nature, are prone to uncertainty and subject partici-
pants to a variety of risks. While BlackRock devotes signif-
icant resources across all of its operations to identify,
measure, monitor, manage and analyze market and 
operating risks, BlackRock’s business, financial condition,
operating results or non-operating results could be 
materially adversely affected, however, by any of the 
following risks.

Risks Related to BlackRock’s Business and Competition

Changes in the value levels of the capital markets or 
other asset classes could lead to a decline in revenues 
and earnings.

BlackRock’s investment management revenues are 
primarily comprised of fees based on a percentage 
of the value of AUM and, in some cases, performance fees
expressed as a percentage of the returns earned on AUM.
Movements in equity market prices, interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, or all three could cause the following,
which would result in lower investment advisory and
administration fees or earnings:

• the value of AUM to decrease;

• the returns realized on AUM to decrease;

• clients to withdraw funds in favor of products in markets
that they perceive offer greater opportunity and that
BlackRock does not serve;

• clients to rebalance assets away from products 
that BlackRock manages into products that it does 
not manage;

• clients to rebalance assets away from products that
earn higher fees into products with lower fees; and;

• an impairment to the value of intangible assets 
and goodwill.

Poor investment performance could lead to the loss 
of clients and a decline in revenues and earnings.

The Company’s management believes that investment
performance is one of the most important factors for the

growth and retention of AUM. Poor investment perfor -
mance relative to applicable portfolio benchmarks or to
competitors could reduce revenues and cause earnings 
to decline as a result of:

• existing clients withdrawing funds in favor of better 
performing products, which could result in lower 
investment advisory and administration fees;

• the ability to attract funds from existing and new clients
might diminish;

• the Company earning minimal or no performance 
fees; and

• an impairment to the value of intangible assets 
and goodwill.

BlackRock may elect to invest in or provide other support 
to its products from time to time.

BlackRock may, at its option, from time to time support
investment products through seed investments, 
co-investments or follow-on investments, warehouse
lending facilities or other forms of capital or credit 
support. See, for example, “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Such
investments or support utilize capital that would otherwise
be available for other corporate purposes. Losses on 
such investments or support, or failure to have or devote
sufficient capital to support products, could have an
adverse impact on revenues and earnings.

Changes in the value levels of the capital markets or 
other asset classes could lead to a decline in the value 
of investments that BlackRock owns.

At December 31, 2008, BlackRock held approximately 
$1.4 billion of investments that are reflected on its state-
ment of financial condition. Approximately $0.7 billion 
of this amount is the result of consolidation of certain
sponsored investment funds. BlackRock’s economic 
interest in these investments is primarily the result 
of seed and co-investments in its sponsored investment
funds. A decline in the prices of stocks or bonds, or 
the value of real estate or other alternative investments
within or outside the United States could lower the value 
of these investments and result in a decline of non-
operating income and increased volatility to earnings.

Continued capital losses on investments could have 
adverse income tax consequences.

The Company may generate realized and unrealized 
capital losses on seed investments and co-investments.
Realized capital losses may be carried back three years
and carried forward five years and offset against realized
capital gains for federal income tax purposes. The Company
has unrealized capital losses for which a deferred tax
asset has been established. In the event such unrealized
losses are realized, the Company may not be able to offset
such losses within the carryback or carryforward period 
or from future realized capital gains, in which case the
deferred tax asset will not be utilized. The failure to 
utilize the deferred tax asset could materially increase
BlackRock’s income tax expense.
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The soundness of other financial institutions could
adversely affect BlackRock.

Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result
of trading, clearing, counterparty, or other relationships.
BlackRock, and the products and accounts that it man-
ages, have exposure to many different industries and
counterparties, and routinely execute transactions with
counterparties in the financial services industry, including
brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment
banks, mutual and hedge funds, and other institutional
clients. Many of these transactions expose BlackRock or
the funds and accounts that it manages to credit risk in 
the event of default of its counterparty or client. There is
no assurance that any such losses would not materially
and adversely impact BlackRock’s revenues and earnings.

The failure or negative performance of products 
of other financial institutions could lead to reduced AUM 
in similar products of BlackRock without regard to 
the performance of BlackRock’s products.

The failure or negative performance of products of other
financial institutions could lead to a loss of confidence 
in similar products of BlackRock without regard to the
performance of BlackRock’s products. Such a negative
contagion could lead to withdrawals, redemptions 
and liquidity issues in such products and have a material
adverse impact on our AUM, revenues and earnings.

Loss of key employees could lead to the loss of clients 
and a decline in revenues.

The ability to attract and retain quality personnel has 
contributed significantly to BlackRock’s growth and 
success and is important to attracting and retaining
clients. The market for qualified fund managers, invest-
ment analysts, financial advisers and other professionals
is competitive. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful in its efforts to recruit 
and retain required personnel. Loss of key personnel 
could have an adverse effect on the Company.

BlackRock’s investment advisory contracts may be 
terminated or may not be renewed by clients and the 
liquidation of certain funds may be accelerated at 
the option of investors.

Separate account clients may terminate their investment
management contracts with BlackRock or withdraw funds
on short notice. The Company has, from time to time, lost
separate accounts and could, in the future, lose accounts
or significant AUM under various circumstances such as
adverse market conditions or poor performance.

Additionally, BlackRock manages its U.S. mutual funds
pursuant to management contracts with the funds 
that must be renewed and approved by the funds’ boards
of directors annually. A majority of the directors of 
each mutual fund are independent from BlackRock.
Consequently, there can be no assurance that the board 
of directors of each fund managed by the Company will
approve the fund’s management contract each year, 
or will not condition its approval on the terms of the 
management contract being revised in a way that is
adverse to the Company.

Further, the governing agreements of many of the
Company’s private investment funds generally provide
that, subject to certain conditions, investors in those funds,
and in some cases independent directors of those funds,
may remove the investment adviser, general partner or
the equivalent of the fund or liquidate the fund without
cause by a simple majority vote, resulting in a reduction in
the management or performance fees as well as the total
carried interest BlackRock could earn.

Failure to comply with client contractual requirements
and/or guidelines could result in damage awards against
BlackRock and loss of revenues due to client terminations.

When clients retain BlackRock to manage assets or 
provide products or services on their behalf, they specify
guidelines or contractual requirements that the Company
is required to observe in the provision of its services. 
A failure to comply with these guidelines or contractual
requirements could result in damage to BlackRock’s 
reputation or in its clients seeking to recover losses, 
withdrawing their AUM or terminating their contracts, 
any of which could cause the Company’s revenues and 
earnings to decline.

Competitive fee pressures could reduce revenues 
and profit margins.

The investment management business is highly competi-
tive and has relatively low barriers to entry. To the extent
that the Company is forced to compete on the basis of
price, it may not be able to maintain its current fee 
structure. Fee reductions on existing or future new busi-
ness could cause revenues and profit margins to decline.

Performance fees may increase earnings volatility, 
which could decrease BlackRock’s stock price.

A portion of the Company’s revenues is derived from 
performance fees on investment and risk management
advisory assignments. In most cases, performance fees
are based on relative or absolute investment returns,
although in some cases they are based on achieving 
specific service standards. Generally, the Company is 
entitled to performance fees only if the returns on 
the related portfolios exceed agreed-upon periodic or
cumulative return targets. If these targets are not
exceeded, performance fees for that period will not 
be earned and, if targets are based on cumulative returns, 
the Company may not earn performance fees in future
periods. Performance fees will vary from period to 
period in relation to volatility in investment returns and 
the timing of revenue recognition, causing earnings 
to be more volatile. The volatility in earnings may decrease
BlackRock’s stock price. Performance fees represented
$177 million, or 3%, of total revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2008.

Additional acquisitions may decrease earnings and harm 
the Company’s competitive position.

BlackRock employs a variety of strategies intended to
enhance earnings and expand product offerings in 
order to improve profit margins. These strategies have
included smaller-sized lift-outs of investment teams and
acquisitions of investment management businesses, 
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such as the MLIM and Quellos Transactions. In general,
these strategies may not be effective and failure to suc-
cessfully develop and implement these strategies may
decrease earnings and harm the Company’s competitive
position in the investment management industry. 
In the event BlackRock pursues additional sizeable 
acquisitions, it may not be able to find suitable businesses
to acquire at acceptable prices and it may not be able 
to successfully integrate or realize the intended benefits
from these acquisitions.

Risks Related to BlackRock’s Operations

Failure to maintain adequate infrastructure could impede
BlackRock’s productivity and growth.

The Company’s infrastructure, including its technological
capacity, data centers, backup facilities and office space, 
is vital to the competitiveness of its business. The failure 
to maintain an adequate infrastructure commensurate
with the size and scope of its business, including any
expansion, could impede the Company’s productivity and
growth, which could cause the Company’s earnings or
stock price to decline.

Operating in international markets increases BlackRock’s
operational, regulatory and other risks.

As a result of BlackRock’s extensive international busi-
ness activities, the Company faces increased operational, 
regulatory, reputational and foreign exchange rate risks.
The failure of the Company’s systems of internal control 
to properly mitigate such additional risks, or of its 
operating infrastructure to support such international
activities, could result in operational failures and regula-
tory fines or sanctions, which could cause the Company’s
earnings or stock price to decline.

Failure to maintain a technological advantage could lead to
a loss of clients and a decline in revenues.

A key element to BlackRock’s continued success is the
ability to maintain a technological advantage both in terms
of operational efficiency and in providing the sophisticated
risk analytics incorporated into BlackRock’s operating sys-
tems that support investment advisory and BlackRock

Solutions clients. Moreover, the Company’s technological
and software advantage is dependent on a number of third
parties who provide various types of data. The failure of
these third parties to provide such data or software could
result in operational difficulties and adversely impact
BlackRock’s ability to provide services to its investment
advisory and BlackRock Solutions clients. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to maintain this
technological advantage or be able to effectively protect
and enforce its intellectual property rights in these 
systems and processes.

Failure to implement effective information security 
policies, procedures and capabilities could disrupt 
operations and cause financial losses that could result 
in a decrease in BlackRock’s earnings or stock price.

BlackRock is dependent on the effectiveness of its infor-
mation security policies, procedures and capabilities to
protect its computer and telecommunications systems and
the data that reside on or are transmitted through them.

An externally caused information security incident, such
as a hacker attack or a virus or worm, or an internally
caused issue, such as failure to control access to sensitive
systems, could materially interrupt business operations or
cause disclosure or modification of sensitive or confidential
information and could result in material financial loss,
regulatory actions, breach of client contracts, reputational
harm or legal liability, which, in turn, could cause a
decline in the Company’s earnings or stock price.

The continuing integration of the Quellos business creates
numerous risks and uncertainties that could adversely
affect profitability.

The Quellos business and personnel are in the process of
being integrated with BlackRock’s previously existing busi-
ness and personnel. These transition activities are com-
plex and the Company may encounter unexpected
difficulties or incur unexpected costs including:

• the diversion of management’s attention to integration
matters;

• difficulties in achieving expected synergies associated
with the transaction;

• difficulties in the integration of operations and systems;

• difficulties in the assimilation of employees;

• challenges in keeping existing clients and obtaining new
clients, including potential conflicts of interest; and

• challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel.

As a result, the Company may not be able to realize the
expected revenue growth and other benefits that it hopes
to achieve from the transaction. In addition, BlackRock
may be required to spend additional time or money on
integration that would otherwise be spent on the develop-
ment and expansion of its business and services.

Risks Related to Relationships with Bank of America,
Merrill Lynch and PNC

Merrill Lynch is an important distributor of BlackRock’s
products, and the Company is therefore subject to risks
associated with the business of Merrill Lynch.

Under a global distribution agreement entered into with
Merrill Lynch, Merrill Lynch provides distribution, portfolio
administration and servicing for certain BlackRock asset
management products and services through its various
distribution channels. The Company may not be successful
in distributing products through Merrill Lynch or in distrib-
uting its products and services through other third party
distributors. If BlackRock is unable to distribute its 
products and services successfully or if it experiences 
an increase in distribution-related costs, BlackRock’s
business, results of operations or financial condition 
may be adversely affected.

Loss of market share with Merrill Lynch’s Global Private
Client Group could harm operating results.

A significant portion of BlackRock’s revenue has histori-
cally come from AUM generated by Merrill Lynch’s Global
Private Client Group (“GPC”). BlackRock’s ability to main-
tain a strong relationship with GPC, or any successor
group at Bank of America, is material to the Company’s
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future performance. If one of the Company’s competitors
gains significant additional market share within the 
GPC retail channel at the expense of BlackRock, then
BlackRock’s business, results of operations or financial
condition may be negatively impacted.

For so long as Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and PNC
maintain certain levels of stock ownership, Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch and PNC will vote as stockholders in
accordance with the recommendation of BlackRock’s Board
of Directors, and certain actions will require special board
approval or the prior approval of Bank of America/Merrill
Lynch and PNC.

As a result of stockholder agreements entered into with
PNC and Merrill Lynch, together with the Company’s 
ownership structure, stockholders may have no effective
power to influence corporate actions. At February 27,
2009, Merrill Lynch owned approximately 4.9% of
BlackRock’s voting common stock and approximately
47.4% of its total capital stock on a fully-diluted basis, 
and PNC owned approximately 46.5% of BlackRock’s 
outstanding voting common stock and approximately
31.5% of its total capital stock on a fully-diluted basis.

Merrill Lynch and PNC have agreed to vote all of their
shares in accordance with the recommendation of
BlackRock’s Board of Directors to the extent consistent
with the provisions of the Merrill Lynch stockholder 
agreement and the PNC implementation and stockholder
agreement. As a consequence, matters submitted to 
a stockholder vote that require a majority or a plurality 
of votes for approval, including elections of directors, 
will be approved or disapproved solely in accordance 
with the determinations of the BlackRock Board of
Directors, so long as the shares held by Merrill Lynch 
and PNC constitute a majority of the outstanding shares.
This arrangement has the effect of concentrating 
control over BlackRock in its Board of Directors, 
whether or not stockholders agree with any particular
determination of the Board.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

BlackRock is subject to extensive regulation in the 
United States and internationally.

BlackRock’s business is subject to extensive regulation in
the United States and around the world. See the discus-
sion under the heading “Business—Regulation.” Violation
of applicable laws or regulations could result in fines,
temporary or permanent prohibition of the engagement 
in certain activities, reputational harm, suspensions of
personnel or revocation of their licenses, suspension or
termination of investment adviser or broker-dealer regis-
trations, or other sanctions, which could cause the
Company’s earnings or stock price to decline.

BlackRock may be adversely impacted by legal and 
regulatory changes in the United States and internationally.

Recent market disruptions have led to numerous propos-
als in the United States and internationally for changes in
the regulation of the financial services industry. New laws
or regulations, or changes in enforcement of existing laws
or regulations, could impact the scope or profitability of
BlackRock’s business activities, could require BlackRock

to change certain business practices and could expose
BlackRock to additional costs (including compliance and
tax costs) as well as reputational harm. Regulatory
changes could also lead to business disruptions, could
impact the value of assets in which BlackRock has
invested directly and on behalf of clients, and, to the extent
the regulations strictly control the activities of financial
services firms, could make it more difficult for BlackRock
to conduct certain businesses or to distinguish itself 
from competitors.

Failure to comply with the Advisers Act and 
the Investment Company Act and related regulations 
could result in substantial harm to BlackRock’s 
reputation and results of operations.

Certain BlackRock subsidiaries are registered with the
SEC under the Advisers Act and BlackRock’s U.S. mutual
funds are registered with the SEC under the Investment
Company Act. The Advisers Act imposes numerous obliga-
tions and fiduciary duties on registered investment advis-
ers, including record-keeping, operating and marketing
requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions 
on fraudulent activities. The Investment Company Act
imposes similar obligations, as well as additional detailed
operational requirements, on investment advisers to 
registered investment companies. The failure of any of
BlackRock’s subsidiaries to comply with the Advisers Act
or the Investment Company Act could cause the SEC to
institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations
of either of these acts, including censure, termination of
an investment adviser’s registration or prohibition to serve
as adviser to SEC-registered funds, and could lead to 
litigation by investors in those funds or harm to the
Company’s reputation, any of which could cause its 
earnings or stock price to decline.

Failure to comply with ERISA regulations could result 
in penalties and cause the Company’s earnings 
or stock price to decline.

Certain BlackRock subsidiaries are subject to ERISA and
to regulations promulgated thereunder, insofar as they act
as a “fiduciary” under ERISA with respect to benefit plan
clients. ERISA and applicable provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code impose duties on persons who are fiduciar-
ies under ERISA, prohibit specified transactions involving
ERISA plan clients and provide monetary penalties for 
violations of these prohibitions. The failure of any of
BlackRock’s subsidiaries to comply with these require-
ments could result in significant penalties that could
reduce the Company’s earnings or cause its stock 
price to decline.

BlackRock is subject to banking regulations that may 
limit its business activities.

Because the total equity ownership interest of each of
Bank of America and PNC in BlackRock exceeds 25%,
BlackRock is deemed to be a non-bank subsidiary of each
of Bank of America and PNC, which are both financial
holding companies under the Bank Holding Company Act
of 1956, as amended. As a non-bank subsidiary of Bank of
America and PNC, BlackRock is subject to banking regula-
tion, including the supervision and regulation of the FRB.
Such banking regulation limits the activities and the types
of businesses that BlackRock may conduct. The FRB has
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broad enforcement authority over BlackRock, including the
power to prohibit BlackRock from conducting any activity
that, in the FRB’s opinion, is unauthorized or constitutes
an unsafe or unsound practice in conducting BlackRock’s
business, and to impose substantial fines and other penal-
ties for violations. Any failure of either Bank of America 
or PNC to maintain its status as a financial holding 
company could result in substantial limitations on certain
BlackRock activities and its growth. In addition, being 
subject to banking regulation may put BlackRock at 
a competitive disadvantage because most of its competi-
tors are not subject to these limitations.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations in 
the United Kingdom, the European Union, Japan, Australia
and other non-U.S. jurisdictions in which BlackRock 
operates could result in substantial harm to BlackRock’s
reputation and results of operations.

The Financial Services Authority (the “FSA”) regulates
BlackRock’s subsidiaries in the United Kingdom.
Authorization by the FSA is required to conduct any 
financial services-related business in the United Kingdom
under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. 
The FSA’s rules govern a firm’s capital resources require-
ments, senior management arrangements, conduct of
business, interaction with clients and systems and 
controls. Breaches of these rules may result in a wide 
range of disciplinary actions against the Company’s 
U.K.-regulated subsidiaries.

In addition, these subsidiaries, and other European sub-
sidiaries or branches, must comply with the pan-European
regime established by the Markets in Financial Instru -
ments Directive, which regulates the provision of invest-
ment services throughout the European Economic Area, 
as well as the Capital Requirements Directive, which
delineates regulatory capital requirements.

In Japan, certain BlackRock subsidiaries are subject to 
the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law (the “FIEL”)
and the Law Concerning Investment Trusts and Investment
Corporations. These laws are administered and enforced
by the Japanese Financial Services Agency (the “JFSA”),
which establishes standards for compliance, including
capital adequacy and financial soundness requirements,
customer protection requirements and conduct of 
business rules. The JFSA is empowered to conduct 
administrative proceedings that can result in censure, 
fine, the issuance of cease and desist orders or the 
suspension or revocation of registrations and licenses
granted under the FIEL.

BlackRock’s Australian-based subsidiary is subject to 
various Australian federal and state laws and is regulated
primarily by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission (the “ASIC”) and the Australian Prudential
Regulatory Authority. The ASIC regulates companies and
financial services in Australia and is responsible for pro-
moting investor, creditor and consumer protection. Failure
to comply with applicable law and regulations could result
in the cancellation, suspension or variation of this sub-
sidiary’s license in Australia.

There are parallel legal and regulatory arrangements 
in force in many other non-U.S. jurisdictions where
BlackRock’s subsidiaries conduct business or where the
funds and products it manages are organized, including

the Cayman Islands, Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Jersey,
Luxembourg, South Korea, Singapore, Taiwan and The
Netherlands. Failure to comply with laws and regulations
in any of these jurisdictions could result in substantial
harm to BlackRock’s reputation and results of operation.

Legal proceedings could adversely affect operating results
and financial condition for a particular period.

Many aspects of BlackRock’s business involve substantial
risks of legal liability. The Company and certain of its sub-
sidiaries have been named as defendants in various legal
actions, including arbitrations, class actions and other liti-
gation arising in connection with BlackRock’s activities.
From time to time, BlackRock receives subpoenas or other
requests for information from various U.S. federal, state
governmental and regulatory authorities in connection
with certain industry-wide or other investigations or pro-
ceedings. Additionally, certain of the investment funds that
the Company manages are subject to lawsuits, any of
which could potentially harm the investment returns of the
applicable fund or result in the Company being liable to
the funds for any resulting damages.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report, and other statements that BlackRock may make,
may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, with respect
to BlackRock’s future financial or business perfor mance,
strategies or expectations. Forward-looking statements are
typically identified by words or phrases such as “trend,”
“potential,” “opportunity,” “pipeline,” “believe,” “comfortable,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “current,” “intention,” “estimate,”
“position,” “assume,” “outlook,” “continue,” “remain,”
“maintain,” “sustain,” “seek,” “achieve,” and similar
expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “will,”
“would,” “should,” “could,” “may” or similar expressions.

BlackRock cautions that forward-looking statements are
subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties,
which change over time. Forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date they are made, and BlackRock
assumes no duty to and does not undertake to update 
forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in forward-looking 
statements and future results could differ materially from
historical performance.

In addition to risk factors previously disclosed in BlackRock’s
SEC reports and those identified elsewhere in this report
the following factors, among others, could cause actual
results to differ materially from forward-looking statements
or historical performance: (1) the introduction, withdrawal,
success and timing of business initiatives and strategies;
(2) changes and volatility in political, economic or industry
conditions, the interest rate environment or financial and
capital markets, which could result in changes in demand
for products or services or in the value of assets under
management; (3) the relative and absolute investment
performance of BlackRock’s investment products; (4) the
impact of increased competition; (5) the impact of capital
improvement projects; (6) the impact of future acquisitions
or divestitures; (7) the unfavorable resolution of legal 
proceedings; (8) the extent and timing of any share repur-
chases; (9) the impact, extent and timing of technological
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• The fourth quarter of 2008 includes the impact of a 
$38 pre-tax expense related to restructuring charges.

• The third quarter of 2007 includes the impact of a 
$128 pre-tax expense related to the termination of

administration and servicing arrangements with 
Merrill Lynch and a $51 tax benefit resulting from 
a decrease in deferred income taxes due to enacted 
legislation during the quarter reducing corporate
income taxes in the United Kingdom and Germany.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

Quarter

(Dollar amounts in millions, except share data or otherwise noted) 1st 2nd 3rd 4th

2008

Revenue $1,300 $1,387 $1,313 $1,064
Operating income $396 $405 $454 $338
Net income $242 $274 $218 $53

Earnings per share:
Basic $1.87 $2.12 $1.68 $0.41
Diluted $1.82 $2.05 $1.62 $0.40

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 128,904,253 129,569,325 129,793,939 129,888,110
Diluted 132,876,553 133,526,713 134,012,819 133,403,419

Dividend Declared Per Share $0.78 $0.78 $0.78 $0.78

Common stock price per share:
High $231.99 $227.51 $249.37 $195.00
Low $165.72 $171.86 $156.20 $94.78
Close $204.18 $177.00 $194.50 $134.15

2007

Revenue $1,005 $1,097 $1,298 $1,444
Operating income $272 $282 $272 $468
Net income $195 $222 $255 $322

Earnings per share:
Basic $1.52 $1.73 $1.99 $2.51
Diluted $1.48 $1.69 $1.94 $2.43

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 128,809,726 128,544,894 128,161,027 128,449,943
Diluted 131,895,570 131,383,470 131,316,455 132,578,679

Dividend Declared Per Share $0.67 $0.67 $0.67 $0.67

Common stock price per share:
High $180.30 $162.83 $179.97 $224.54
Low $151.32 $143.69 $139.20 $172.18
Close $156.31 $156.59 $173.41 $216.80

changes and the adequacy of intellectual property protec-
tion; (10) the impact of legislative and regulatory actions
and reforms and regulatory, supervisory or enforcement
actions of government agencies relating to BlackRock,
Bank of America, Merrill Lynch or PNC; (11) terrorist 
activities and international hostilities, which may adversely
affect the general economy, domestic and local financial
and capital markets, specific industries or BlackRock; 
(12) the ability to attract and retain highly talented 
professionals; (13) fluctuations in the carrying value of
BlackRock’s investments; (14) fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect the
value of investment advisory and administration fees

earned by BlackRock or the carrying value of certain
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies;
(15) the impact of changes to tax legislation and, 
generally, the tax position of the Company; (16) the 
ability of BlackRock to effectively manage the former
Quellos business along with its historical operations; 
(17) BlackRock’s success in maintaining the distribution 
of its products; (18) the impact of BlackRock electing to
provide support to its products from time to time; and 
(19) the impact of problems at other financial institutions
or the failure or negative performance of products at 
other financial institutions.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting

Management of BlackRock, Inc. (the “Company”) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. Internal control
over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, as a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s
Board of Directors, management and other personnel 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal
controls over financial reporting include those policies 
and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the Company are being made only in accor-
dance with the authorization of management and
directors of the Company; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation and 
presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal

Control—Integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, management concluded that,
as of December 31, 2008, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
This report begins on page 52.

February 27, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
BlackRock, Inc.:

We have audited the internal control over financial report-
ing of BlackRock, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is 
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial 
officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management,
and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the com-
pany’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control 
over financial reporting, including the possibility of 
collusion or improper management override of controls,
material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections
of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal 
control over financial reporting to future periods are 
subject to the risk that the controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the consolidated statement of financial
condition as of December 31, 2008 and the related con -
solidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended of the Company and our report dated
February 27, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion 
on those consolidated financial statements.

New York, New York
February 27, 2009

Reports on Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Report of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
BlackRock, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of financial condition of BlackRock, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of BlackRock, Inc. and subsidiaries at Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
and our report dated February 27, 2009 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

New York, New York
February 27, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $2,032 $1,656
Accounts receivable 901 1,236 
Due from related parties 309 175
Investments 1,429 2,000
Separate account assets 2,623 4,670
Deferred mutual fund sales commissions, net 135 175
Property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation of $259 and $226 

at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) 260 266
Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of $324 and $178 

at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) 6,441 6,553
Goodwill 5,533 5,520
Other assets 261 310

Total assets $19,924 $22,561

Liabilities
Accrued compensation and benefits $826 $1,087
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 545 789
Due to related parties 103 114
Short-term borrowings 200 300
Long-term borrowings 946 947
Separate account liabilities 2,623 4,670
Deferred tax liabilities 1,825 2,060
Other liabilities 299 420

Total liabilities 7,367 10,387

Non-controllng interests 491 578

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock ($0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 118,573,367 

shares issued, 117,291,110 and 116,059,560 shares outstanding at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) 1 1

Series A participating preferred stock ($0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares 
authorized and 12,604,918 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007) — —

Additional paid-in capital 10,461 10,274
Retained earnings 1,991 1,622
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (186) 71
Escrow shares, common, at cost (911,266 and 1,191,785 shares held at 

December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) (143) (188)
Treasury stock, common, at cost (370,991 and 1,322,022 shares held 

at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively) (58) (184)

Total stockholders’ equity 12,066 11,596

Total liabilities, non-controlling interests and stockholders’ equity $19,924 $22,561

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue
Investment advisory and administration base fees

Related parties $2,961 $2,640 $865
Other third parties 1,271 1,370 734

Investment advisory performance fees 177 350 242

Investment advisory and administration base and 
performance fees 4,409 4,360 1,841

BlackRock Solutions and advisory 406 198 148
Distribution fees 139 123 36
Other revenue 110 164 73

Total revenue 5,064 4,845 2,098

Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits 1,815 1,767 934
Portfolio administration and servicing costs

Other third parties 102 78 47
Related parties 495 470 126

Amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions 130 108 30
General and administration 745 870 417
Restructuring charges 38 — —
Termination of closed-end fund administration and 

servicing arrangements — 128 —
Fee sharing payment — — 34
Amortization of intangible assets 146 130 38

Total expenses 3,471 3,551 1,626

Operating income 1,593 1,294 472

Non-operating income (expense)
Net gain (loss) on investments (573) 504 37
Interest and dividend income 65 74 29
Interest expense (66) (49) (10)

Total non-operating income (expense) (574) 529 56

Income before income taxes and non-controlling interests 1,019 1,823 528
Income tax expense 388 464 189

Income before non-controlling interests 631 1,359 339
Non-controlling interests (155) 364 16

Net income $786 $995 $323

Earnings per share
Basic $6.07 $7.75 $4.00
Diluted $5.91 $7.53 $3.87

Cash dividends declared and paid per share $3.12 $2.68 $1.68
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Basic 129,543,443 128,488,561 80,638,167
Diluted 132,996,426 132,088,810 83,358,394

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Net income $786 $995 $323
Other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gain (loss) from available-for-sale 
investments, net of tax(1) (19) (3) 5

Minimum pension liability adjustment (1) — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (237) 29 37

Comprehensive income $529 $1,021 $365
(1) The tax benefit (expense) on the net unrealized gain (loss) from available-for-sale investments was $8, $2 and ($2) in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Common Other Common

Stock Additional Compre- Shares
Common Class Paid-in Retained hensive held Treasury Stock Total

(Dollar amounts in millions) Stock A & B Capital Earnings Income in Escrow Common Class A & B Equity

December 31, 2005 $— $1 $171 $807 $3 $— $— $(59) $923
Net income — — — 323 — — — — 323
Dividends paid — — — (136) — — — — (136)
Conversion of class B common stock 

to class A common stock — — (14) — — — — 14 —
Issuance of common stock to 

Merrill Lynch — — 7,719 — — — — — 7,719
Issuance of series A participating 

preferred shares to Merrill Lynch — — 1,857 — — — — — 1,857
Conversion of class A and B stock to 

common stock in connection with 
MLIM Transaction 1 (1) — — — — — — —

Conversion of treasury stock in 
connection with MLIM Transaction — — — — — — (52) 52 —

Stock-based compensation — — 61 — — — — — 61
Treasury stock transactions — — — — — — (5) (7) (12)
Tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 5 — — — — — 5
Foreign currency translation loss — — — — 37 — — — 37
Net unrealized gain on investments, 

net of tax — — — — 5 — — — 5

December 31, 2006 1 — 9,799 994 45 — (57) — 10,782
January 1, 2007 Adjustment to initially 

apply FIN No. 48 — — — (14) — — — — (14)
Net income — — — 995 — — 995
Dividends paid — — — (353) — — (353)
Issuance of common stock to escrow 

agent in connection with 
Quellos Transaction — — 188 — — (188) — — —

Stock-based compensation — — 182 — — — 1 — 183
PNC capital contribution — — 175 — — — — — 175
Treasury stock transactions — — (187) — — — (128) — (315)
Tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 119 — — — — — 119
Other costs associated with 

common stock — — (2) — — — — — (2)
Foreign currency translation gain — — — — 29 — — — 29
Net unrealized loss on investments, 

net of tax — — — — (3) — — — (3)

December 31, 2007 1 — 10,274 1,622 71 (188) (184) — 11,596
Net income — — — 786 — — — — 786
Dividends paid, net of dividend expense 

for unvested RSUs — — — (417) — — — — (417)
Release of common stock from escrow 

agent in connection with 
Quellos Transaction — — — — — 45 — — 45

Stock-based compensation — — 278 — — — 1 — 279
PNC capital contribution — — 4 — — — — — 4
Treasury stock transactions — — (140) — — — 125 — (15)
Tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 55 — — — — — 55
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — — — (1) — — — (1)
Foreign currency translation loss — — (10) — (237) — — — (247)
Net unrealized loss on investments, 

net of tax — — — — (19) — — — (19)

December 31, 2008 $1 $— $10,461 $1,991 $(186) $(143) $(58) $— $12,066

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $786 $995 $323
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash 

from operating activities:
Depreciation and other amortization 232 199 73
Amortization of deferred mutual fund sales commissions 130 108 30
Non-controlling interests (155) 364 16
Stock-based compensation 278 188 120
Deferred income tax benefit (232) (105) (43)
Net (gains) losses on non-trading investments 216 (442) (4)
Purchases of investments within consolidated funds (127) (870) —
Proceeds from sale of investments within consolidated funds 342 597 —
(Earnings) losses from equity method investees 294 (84) (6)
Distributions of earnings from equity method investees 28 16 2
Other adjustments 13 2 (3)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 339 (273) (9)
Due from related parties (112) (4) (75)
Deferred mutual fund sales commissions (90) (72) (3)
Investments, trading 265 (45) (87)
Other assets 115 (80) (15)
Accrued compensation and benefits (237) 172 226
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (227) (33) 1
Due to related parties 7 (138) 175
Other liabilities 51 92 —

Cash flows from operating activities 1,916 587 721

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments (417) (521) (213)
Purchases of disposal group (59) — —
Proceeds from sale of disposal group 41 — —
Proceeds from sale of investments 122 266 26
Distributions of capital from equity method investees 15 7 —
Net consolidations (deconsolidations) of sponsored 

investment funds (3) (117) 2
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired and purchase 

price contingencies (16) (592) 272
Purchases of property and equipment (77) (111) (84)

Cash flows from investing activities (394) (1,068) 3

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of short-term borrowings (400) — —
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 300 300 —
Repayments of long-term borrowings (1) — —
Proceeds from long-term borrowings — 694 —
Cash dividends paid (419) (353) (136)
Proceeds from stock options exercised 24 70 3
Reissuance of treasury stock 6 7 5
Purchases of treasury stock (46) (383) (31)
Net subscriptions received/(distributions paid) from 

non-controlling interests holders (207) 400 68
Issuance of common stock — — 1
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 59 119 5
Net proceeds/(repayments) of borrowings by consolidated 

sponsored investment funds (203) 114 —
Other financing activities — (9) —

Cash flows from financing activities (887) 959 (85)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (259) 18 37

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 376 496 676
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,656 1,160 484

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $2,032 $1,656 $1,160

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information is as follows:
Year ended December 31,

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Cash paid for interest $63 $30 $8

Cash paid for income taxes $644 $376 $154

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing transactions is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Common and preferred stock issued in MLIM Transaction $ — $— $9,577
Issuance of treasury stock $136 $179 $15
Increase (decrease) in investments due to net consolidations of 

sponsored investment funds $285 $(1,150) $275
Increase (decrease) in non-controlling interests due to net 

consolidations of sponsored investment funds $280 $(1,295) $163
PNC LTIP capital contributions $4 $175 $—
Common stock released from escrow agent in connection 

with Quellos Transaction $45 $— $—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008

(Dollar amounts in millions, except share data or as otherwise noted)

1. INTRODUCTION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

59

Business

BlackRock, Inc. (together, with its subsidiaries and 
predecessors, unless the context otherwise indicates,
“BlackRock” or the “Company”) provides diversified
investment management services to institutional clients
and to individual investors through various investment
vehicles. Investment management services primarily 
consist of the active management of fixed income, cash
management and equity client accounts, the management
of a number of open-end and closed-end mutual fund
families and other non-U.S. equivalent products serving
the institutional and retail markets, and the management
of alternative funds developed to serve various customer
needs. In addition, BlackRock provides market risk man-
agement, financial markets advisory and enterprise
investment system services to a broad base of clients.
Financial markets advisory services include valuation
services relating to illiquid securities, dispositions and
workout assignments (including long-term portfolio 
liquidation assignments), risk management and strategic
planning and execution.

On September 29, 2006, pursuant to the Transaction
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Transaction
Agreement”), Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. (“Merrill Lynch”)
contributed the entities and assets that constituted its
investment management business (the “MLIM Business”)
to BlackRock via a capital contribution. In exchange for
this contribution, BlackRock issued to Merrill Lynch
52,395,082 shares of common stock and 12,604,918 shares
of series A non-voting participating preferred shares, 
representing a 45% voting interest and approximately
49.3% of the fully-diluted capital stock at such date 
(such transactions, collectively, referred to as the “MLIM
Transaction”). Prior to the MLIM Transaction, the Company
was owned approximately 69% by The PNC Financial
Services Group, Inc. (“PNC”). PNC’s ownership was
reduced to approximately 34% of the total capital stock 
as a result of the MLIM Transaction.

On October 1, 2007, BlackRock acquired certain assets 
and assumed certain liabilities of the fund of funds 
business of Quellos Group, LLC (“Quellos”) for up to 
$1,719 (the “Quellos Transaction”). BlackRock paid
Quellos $563 in cash and issued 1,191,785 shares of
BlackRock common stock valued at $188. The common
stock will be held in escrow for up to three years and is
available to satisfy certain indemnification obligations of
Quellos under the asset purchase agreement. The Quellos
business was combined with the existing BlackRock fund
of funds business and the combined platform comprises
one of the largest fund of funds platforms in the world.

On January 1, 2009, Bank of America (“Bank of America”)
acquired Merrill Lynch. In connection with this transaction,
BlackRock entered into exchange agreements with each of
Merrill Lynch and PNC pursuant to which on February 27,
2009 it exchanged a portion of the BlackRock common
stock it held for an equal number of shares of non-voting
preferred stock. (See Note 15, Related Party Transactions,
for more details on these transactions.)

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and include the
accounts of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries.
Non-controlling interests include the portion of consoli-
dated sponsored investment funds in which the Company
does not have a direct equity ownership. All significant
accounts and transactions between consolidated entities
have been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consists of cash 
and short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities, at date of purchase, of three months or 
less in which the Company is exposed to market and credit
risk. Cash and cash equivalent balances that are legally
restricted from use by the Company are recorded in 
other assets on the consolidated statements of financial
condition. Cash balances maintained by consolidated
investments are not considered legally restricted and are
included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated
statements of financial condition.

Investments

Consolidation

The accounting method used for the Company’s equity
investments is generally dependent upon the influence 
the Company has over its investee. For investments 
where BlackRock can exert control over the financial and
operating policies of the investee, which generally exists 
if there is a 50% or greater voting interest, the investee is
consolidated into BlackRock’s financial statements. 
For certain investments where the risks and rewards 
of ownership are not directly linked to voting interests
(“variable interest entities” or “VIEs”), an investee may be 
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consolidated if BlackRock, with its related parties, is 
considered the primary beneficiary of the investee. The
primary beneficiary determination will consider not only
BlackRock’s equity interest, but the benefits and risks
associated with non-equity components of the Company’s
relationship with the investee, including capital support
agreements, debt, investment advisory and other similar
arrangements, in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46(R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN No. 46(R)”).

Pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 
No. 04-5, Determining Whether a General Partner, or the

General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership

or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain

Rights, the Company, as general partner or managing
member of its funds, generally is presumed to control
funds that are limited partnerships or limited liability 
companies that are not deemed to be VIEs. The Company
reviews such investment vehicles to determine if such a
presumption can be overcome by determining if third party
partners or members of the limited partnership or limited
liability company have the substantive ability to dissolve
(liquidate) the investment vehicle, or otherwise to remove
BlackRock as the general partner or managing member
without cause, or have substantive participating rights.

Consolidated Sponsored Investment Funds

From time to time, the Company will maintain a controlling
interest in a sponsored investment fund. All of the invest-
ments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds
are carried at fair value, with corresponding changes in
the investments’ fair values reflected in non-operating
income in the Company’s consolidated statements of
income. In the absence of a publicly available market
value, fair value for such investments are estimated in
good faith by the Company’s management based on such
factors as the liquidity, financial condition and current and
projected operating performance of the investment and, in
the case of private investment fund investments, the fund’s
net asset value. When the Company no longer controls
these funds due to reduced ownership percentage or other
reasons, the funds are deconsolidated and accounted for
under another accounting method. In addition, changes 
in fair value of certain illiquid investments held by these
funds, including direct investments in equity or debt 
securities of privately held companies and certain real
estate products, are recorded based upon the most 
current information available at the time, which may 
precede the date of the statement of financial position,
considering any significant changes in the operations 
of the investment.

Upon consolidation of various sponsored investment funds,
on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial
condition, the Company retains the specialized accounting
of these funds pursuant to EITF No. 85-12, Retention of

Specialized Accounting for Investments in Consolidation.

Investments in Debt and Marketable Equity Securities

BlackRock holds debt and marketable equity investments
which, pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, Accounting for Certain

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, are classified 
as trading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity based

on the Company’s intent to sell the security or, for a debt
security, the Company’s intent and ability to hold the 
debt security to maturity.

Trading securities are those investments which are 
purchased principally for the purpose of selling them 
in the near term. Trading securities are carried at fair
value on the consolidated statements of financial condition
with changes in fair value recorded in non-operating
income in the consolidated statements of income during
the period of the change. Available-for-sale securities 
are those securities which are not classified as trading
securities or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale securi-
ties are carried at fair value on the consolidated state-
ments of financial condition with changes in fair value
recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive 
income component of stockholders’ equity in the period 
of the change. Upon the disposition of an available-
for-sale security, the Company reclassifies the gain or
loss on the security from accumulated other comprehen-
sive income to non-operating income on the Company’s
consolidated statements of income. Held-to-maturity 
debt securities are recorded at amortized cost in 
the consolidated statements of financial condition. 
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, BlackRock did not 
own any held-to-maturity investments.

Equity Method

For equity investments where BlackRock does not 
control the investee, and where it is not the primary 
beneficiary of a VIE, but can exert significant influence 
over the financial and operating policies of the investee,
the Company uses the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method of accounting, BlackRock’s share of 
the investee’s underlying net income or loss is recorded 
as non-operating income for investments in funds and 
as other revenue for operating or advisory company
investments since such operating or advisory companies
are considered to be integral to BlackRock’s core busi-
ness. The net income of the investee is recorded based
upon the most current information available at the time,
which may precede the date of the statement of financial
condition. Distributions received from the investment
reduce the Company’s investment balance.

Cost Method

For equity investments where BlackRock neither 
controls nor has significant influence over the investee 
and which are non-marketable, the investments are
accounted for using the cost method of accounting. Under
the cost method, dividends received from the investment
are recorded as non-operating income.

Collateralized Debt Obligations

The Company’s investments in collateralized debt 
obligations (“CDOs”) are recorded at fair value and the 
dividend income from these CDOs is accounted for in
accordance with EITF No. 99-20, Recognition of Interest

Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained

Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets (“EITF
99-20”). Under EITF No. 99-20, dividend income on the
Company’s CDOs is recorded based upon projected 
investment yield. Expected future cash flows for the 
CDOs are reviewed quarterly and changes in the yield 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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are recorded prospectively. Dividend income for these
investments is recorded in non-operating income 
on the consolidated statements of income.

Impairments

The Company’s management periodically assesses its
equity method, available-for-sale and cost method of
accounting investments for impairment. If circumstances
indicate that impairment may exist, investments are evalu-
ated using fair values, where available, or the expected
future cash flows of the investment. If the undiscounted
expected future cash flows are lower than the Company’s
carrying value of the investment, an impairment charge 
is recorded in non-operating income in the consolidated
statements of income.

When the fair value of available-for-sale securities is lower
than its cost, the Company evaluates the securities to deter -
mine whether the impairment is considered to be “other-
than-temporary.” In making this determination, the Company
considers, among other factors, the length of time the
security has been in a loss position, the extent to which the
security’s market value is less than its cost, the financial
condition and near-term prospects of the security’s issuer
and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the security
for a length of time sufficient to allow for recovery. If the
impairment is considered other-than-temporary, an
impairment charge is recorded in non-operating income 
in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company reviews its CDO investments for impairment
quarterly throughout the term of the investment. The
Company reviews cash flow estimates throughout the 
life of each CDO investment. If the net present value of the
estimated future cash flows is lower than the carrying
value of the investment and the estimated future cash
flows are lower than the previous estimate of cash flows,
an impairment is considered to be other-than-temporary.
The impairment loss is recognized based on the excess 
of the carrying amount of the investment over its esti-
mated fair value.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill includes goodwill and assembled workforce.
Intangible assets are comprised of indefinite-lived 
intangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets. 
The value of contracts to manage assets in proprietary
open-end funds and closed-end funds without a speci-
fied termination date is classified as an indefinite-lived 
intangible asset. The assignment of indefinite lives to 
such contracts is based upon the assumption that there 
is no foreseeable limit on the contract period to manage
these funds due to the likelihood of continued renewal 
at little or no cost. Goodwill represents the excess cost of 
a business acquisition over the fair value of the net assets
acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill 

and Other Intangible Assets, indefinite-lived intangible 
assets and goodwill are not amortized.

The Company assesses its goodwill, indefinite-lived 
management contracts and finite-life management con-
tracts for impairment at least annually. In its assessment
of goodwill for impairment the Company considers such
factors as the book value and market capitalization of 
the Company. In its assessment of indefinite-lived 
management contracts, the Company considers such 

factors as assets under management, product mix, 
product margins and projected cash flows to determine
whether the values of each asset are impaired and
whether the indefinite-life classification is still appropri-
ate. The fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets and
goodwill is determined based on the discounted value of
expected future cash flows. The fair value of finite-lived
management contracts and their remaining useful life is
reviewed at least annually to determine if circumstances
exist which may indicate a potential impairment. In addi-
tion, if circumstances exist, the Company will perform 
an impairment test, using an undiscounted cash flow
analysis. If the asset is determined to be impaired, the 
difference between the book value of the asset and 
its current fair value would be recognized as an expense 
in the period in which the impairment is determined.

Change in Method of Applying an Accounting Principle

During 2007, the Company changed the date of its 
annual impairment tests for goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets to July 31st in order to provide additional
time for testing due to the significant increase in these
assets as a result of recent acquisitions. The Company’s
management believes that this change in the method of
applying an accounting principle is preferable under 
the circumstances and does not result in adjustments to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements when
applied retrospectively, nor would it result in the delay,
acceleration or avoidance of recording a potential future
impairment. This change in the method of applying SFAS
No. 142 had no impact on the consolidated statements of
income for the years ended December 31, 2007 or 2006.

The impairment tests performed as of July 31, 2008 and
2007 indicated that no impairment charges were required.
Due to the recent capital market events, the Company per-
formed an additional impairment test as of September 30,
2008 which indicated no impairment charges were required.

Deferred Mutual Fund Sales Commissions

The Company holds the rights to receive certain cash 
flows from sponsored mutual funds sold without a front-
end sales charge (“back-end load shares”). The fair value
of these deferred mutual fund commissions is being
amortized over periods between one and six years. 
The Company receives distribution fees from these funds
and contingent deferred sales commissions (“CDSCs”)
upon shareholder redemption of certain back-end load
shares. Upon receipt of CDSCs, the Company records 
revenue and the remaining unamortized deferred sales
commission is expensed.

In April 2007, the Company acquired from a subsidiary 
of PNC certain distribution financing arrangements to
receive certain cash flows from sponsored open-ended
mutual funds sold without a front-end sales charge. 
The fair value of these assets was capitalized and is being
amortized over periods up to six years. The Company 
also acquired the rights to related distribution fees from
these funds and CDSCs upon shareholder redemption 
of certain back-end load shares prior to the end of the
contingent deferred sales period. The Company paid $34 
in exchange for the above rights, which is reflected on 
the consolidated statement of cash flows as an acquisition
within investing activities.
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The Company periodically reviews the carrying value 
of deferred mutual fund commission assets to determine
whether a significant decline in the equity or bond markets
or other events or circumstances indicate that an impair-
ment in value may have occurred. If indicators of a poten-
tial impairment exist, the Company compares the carrying
value of the asset to the estimated future net undiscounted
cash flows related to the asset. If such assessments indi-
cate that estimated future net undiscounted cash flows
will not be sufficient to recover the recorded carrying
value, the assets are adjusted to their estimated fair value.
No such impairments were recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation. Depreciation generally is recorded
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the various classes of property and equipment.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated
useful life or the remaining lease term.

Software Costs

BlackRock develops a variety of risk management, invest-
ment analytic and investment system services for its 
customers, as well as for internal use, utilizing proprietary
software which is hosted and maintained by BlackRock.
The Company follows AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”)
98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software

Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. SOP 98-1 requires
the capitalization of certain costs incurred in connection
with developing or obtaining software for internal use.
Capitalized software costs are included within property
and equipment on the consolidated statements of financial
condition and are amortized beginning when the software
project is complete and put into production, over the 
estimated useful life of the software of three years.

Separate Account Assets and Liabilities

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in the United
Kingdom is a registered life insurance company that main-
tains separate accounts representing segregated funds
held for purposes of funding individual and group pension
contracts. The separate account assets are not subject 
to general claims of the creditors of BlackRock. These
accounts and the related liabilities are recorded as sepa-
rate account assets and separate account liabilities on 
the consolidated statements of financial condition in
accordance with the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide: 

Life and Health Insurance Entities.

The net investment income and net realized and unreal-
ized gains and losses attributable to separate account
assets supporting individual and group pension contracts
accrue directly to the contract owner and are not reported
as revenue in the consolidated statements of income.
Policy administration and management fees associated
with separate account products are included in investment
advisory and administration fees in the consolidated 
statements of income.

Assets and Liabilities to be Disposed of by Sale

In the course of the business of establishing real estate
and private equity sponsored investment funds, the
Company may purchase land, properties and third party
private equity funds while incurring liabilities directly
associated with the assets, together a disposal group, with
the intention to sell the disposal group to a third party. In
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, Accounting

for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, the
Company treats these assets and liabilities as a “disposal
group”, measured at the lower of the carrying amount or
fair value. Losses are recognized for any initial or subse-
quent write-down to fair value and gains are recognized
for any subsequent increase in fair value, but not in 
excess of the cumulative loss previously recognized.

At December 31, 2008, the Company held disposal group
assets of $64 and related liabilities of $63 in other assets
and other liabilities, respectively, on its consolidated 
statement of financial condition. Disposal group liabilities
include approximately $58 of borrowings directly associ-
ated with the disposal group assets. During the year ended
December 31, 2008, the Company recorded losses of $14
within non-operating income (expense) on its consolidated
statement of income related to the disposal group.

Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests on the consolidated statements
of income includes the income/(loss) allocated to non-
controlling interest holders of the Company’s consolidated
sponsored investment funds. Non-controlling interests 
are not adjusted for taxes on consolidated sponsored
investment funds that are treated as pass-through 
entities for tax purposes.

Treasury Stock

The Company records common stock purchased for 
treasury at cost. At the date of subsequent reissuance, 
the treasury stock account is reduced by the cost of such
stock on the average cost method.

Revenue Recognition

Investment advisory and administration fees are recog-
nized as the services are performed. Such fees are 
primarily based on pre-determined percentages of the
market value of the assets under management (“AUM”) 
or, in the case of certain real estate clients, net operating
income generated by the underlying properties. Investment
advisory and administration fees are affected by changes
in AUM, including market appreciation or depreciation 
and net subscriptions or redemptions. Investment advisory
and administration fees for mutual funds are shown net 
of fees waived pursuant to contractual expense limitations
of the funds or voluntary waivers. Certain real estate 
fees are earned upon the acquisition or disposition 
of properties in accordance with applicable investment 
management agreements and are generally recognized 
at the closing of the respective real estate transactions.

The Company contracts with third parties and related 
parties for various mutual fund administration and share-
holder servicing to be performed on behalf of certain
funds managed by the Company. Such arrangements 
generally are priced as a portion of the Company’s 
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management fee paid by the fund. In certain cases, the
fund takes on the primary responsibility for payment for
services such that BlackRock bears no credit risk to the
third party. The Company accounts for such retrocession
arrangements in accordance with EITF No. 99-19, Reporting

Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent, and
has recorded its management fees net of retrocessions.
Retrocessions for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 were $762, $780 and $156, respectively, and
were reflected net in investment advisory and administra-
tion base fees on the consolidated statements of income.

The Company also receives performance fees or an 
incentive allocation from alternative investment products
and certain separate accounts. These performance fees
are earned upon exceeding specified relative or absolute
investment return thresholds. Such fees are recorded
upon completion of the measurement period which 
varies by product.

The Company receives carried interest from certain 
alternative investments upon exceeding performance
thresholds. BlackRock may be required to return all, or
part, of such carried interest depending upon future 
performance of these investments. BlackRock records
carried interest subject to such claw-back provisions 
as revenue on its consolidated statements of income upon
the earlier of the termination of the alternative investment
fund or when the likelihood of claw-back is mathemati-
cally improbable. The Company records a deferred carried
interest liability to the extent it receives cash or capital
allocations prior to meeting the revenue recognition 
criteria. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company 
had $21 and $29, respectively, of deferred carried interest
recorded in other liabilities on the consolidated state-
ments of financial condition.

BlackRock provides a variety of market risk management,
investment analytic, enterprise investment system and
financial markets advisory services to financial institu-
tions, pension funds, asset managers, foundations, 
consultants, mutual fund sponsors, real estate invest-
ment trusts and government agencies. These services 
are provided under the brand name BlackRock Solutions®

and include a wide array of risk management services,
valuation of illiquid securities, disposition and workouts,
strategic planning and execution, and enterprise invest-
ment system outsourcing for clients. Fees earned for
BlackRock Solutions and advisory services are recorded 
as services are performed and are determined using
some, or all, of the following methods: (i) fixed fees, 
(ii) percentages of various attributes of advisory AUM and
(iii) performance fees if contractual thresholds are met.
The fees earned for BlackRock Solutions and advisory 
services are recorded in BlackRock Solutions and advisory
on the consolidated statements of income.

The Company also earns other advisory service fees which
are recorded in other revenue on the consolidated state-
ments of income when services are completed.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting

for Stock-Based Compensation, prospectively to all employee
awards granted, modified, or settled after January 1, 2003.

Awards under the Company’s stock-based compensation
plans generally vest over periods ranging from one to 
five years.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R),
Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). This statement
revised SFAS No. 123 and superseded Accounting
Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, Accounting for

Stock Issued to Employees. The Company adopted SFAS 
No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, using the modified-
prospective transition approach, with no cumulative 
effect on net income. The statement establishes standards
for the accounting for transactions in which an entity
exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services,
primarily focusing on the accounting for transactions in
which an entity obtains employee services in share-based
payment transactions. Entities are required to measure
the cost of employee services received in exchange for an
award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. That cost is recognized over the period
during which an employee is required to provide service
(usually the vesting period) in exchange for the award. 
The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) reduced 2006 pre-tax net
income and net income by approximately $13 and $8,
respectively, and affected earnings per share by approxi-
mately $0.10 per basic share and $0.09 per diluted share.
The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) was 
immaterial to the Company’s consolidated statement 
of cash flows.

The Company measures the grant-date fair value of
employee share options and similar instruments using
option-pricing models. If an equity award is modified 
after the grant date, incremental compensation cost is
recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair
value of the modified award over the fair value of the 
original award immediately before the modification. 
The grant-date fair value of restricted stock units is 
calculated using the Company’s share price on the date 
of grant. Compensation cost is recorded by the Company
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period
for each separately vesting portion of the award as if 
the award is, in-substance, multiple awards. Awards 
under the Company’s stock-based compensation 
plans vest over periods ranging from one to five years.
Expense is reduced by the number of awards expected 
to be forfeited prior to vesting. Forfeiture estimates 
generally are derived using historical forfeiture informa-
tion, where available, and are reviewed for reasonableness
at least annually.

The Company amortizes the grant-date fair value of stock-
based compensation awards made to retirement eligible
employees over the required service period. Upon 
notification of retirement, the Company accelerates the
unamortized portion of the award over the contractually-
required retirement notification period, if applicable.

The Company pays cash dividend equivalents, that are 
not subject to vesting, on outstanding restricted stock
units (“RSUs”) granted prior to 2009. SFAS No. 123(R)
requires dividend equivalents on RSUs expected to 
be forfeited to be included in compensation and benefits
expense. Dividend equivalents on shares expected to 
vest are charged to retained earnings.
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Portfolio Administration and Servicing Costs

Portfolio administration and servicing costs include 
payments to third parties and affiliates, including 
Merrill Lynch and PNC, primarily associated with the
admini stration and servicing of client investments 
in certain BlackRock products. Portfolio administration
and servicing costs are expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Company accounts for its operating leases in 
accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases. 
The Company expenses the lease payments associated
with operating leases during the lease term (including
rent-free periods), beginning on the commencement 
of the lease term.

Foreign Exchange

Monetary assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries hav-
ing non-U.S. dollar functional currencies are translated 
at exchange rates at the date of the consolidated state-
ments of financial condition. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-U.S. dollar
functional currencies are translated at historical exchange
rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates during the period. Gains or losses result-
ing from translating foreign currency financial statements
into U.S. dollars are included in accumulated other com-
prehensive income, a separate component of stockholders’
equity on the consolidated statements of financial condi-
tion. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency 
transactions are included in general and administration
expense on the consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the 
asset and liability method prescribed by SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”). Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases using cur-
rently enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which 
the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of 
a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities
is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date.

Management periodically assesses the recoverability of its
deferred tax assets based upon expected future earnings,
taxable income in prior carryback years, future deductibil-
ity of the asset, changes in applicable tax laws and other
factors. If management determines that it is not more
likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be fully
recoverable in the future, a valuation allowance may be
established for the difference between the asset balance
and the amount expected to be recoverable in the future.
This allowance will result in a charge to the Company’s
consolidated statements of income. Further, the Company
records its income taxes receivable and payable based
upon its estimated income tax liability.

BlackRock adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48, Accounting

for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN No. 48”) on January 1,
2007. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty 
in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial 

statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN No. 48 
prescribes a threshold for measurement and recognition
in the financial statements of an asset or liability resulting
from a tax position taken or expected to be taken in an
income tax return. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance 
on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

Excess tax benefits and shortfalls related to stock-based
compensation are recognized as additional paid in capital
and subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) excess
tax benefits are reflected as financing cash flows on the
consolidated statements of cash flows. If the Company
does not have additional paid-in capital credits (cumulative
tax benefits recorded to additional paid-in capital), the
Company will record an expense for any deficit between
recorded tax benefit and tax return benefit. At Decem-
ber 31, 2008, BlackRock had excess additional paid-in 
capital credits to absorb potential deficits between
recorded tax benefits and tax return benefits.

Earnings per Share (“EPS”)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net
income applicable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of shares of common stock 
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per 
share is computed by dividing net income by the total
weighted average number of shares of common stock and
common stock equivalents outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share are computed using the 
treasury stock method.

Due to the similarities in terms between BlackRock 
series A non-voting participating preferred stock 
issued to Merrill Lynch in the MLIM Transaction and 
the Company’s common stock, the Company considers 
the series A non-voting participating preferred stock 
to be a common stock equivalent for purposes of earnings
per share calculations.

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share

(“SFAS No. 128”), shares of the Company’s common 
stock are not included in basic earnings per share until
contingencies are resolved and the shares are released.
Shares of the Company’s common stock are not included
in diluted earnings per share unless the contingency 
has been met assuming that the contingency period 
ended on the date of the consolidated statement 
of financial condition.

Business Segments

The Company’s management directs BlackRock’s opera-
tions as one business, the asset management business. 
As such, the Company operates in one business segment
as defined in SFAS No. 131, Disclosures About Segments 

of an Enterprise and Related Information.

Fair Value Measurements

BlackRock adopted SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measure ments

(“SFAS No. 157”) as of January 1, 2008, which requires,
among other things, enhanced disclosures about invest-
ments that are measured and reported at fair value. SFAS
No. 157 establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value and
requires companies to disclose the fair value of their
financial instruments according to a fair value hierarchy

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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(i.e., Level 1, 2, and 3 inputs, as defined). The fair value
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.
Additionally, companies are required to provide enhanced
disclosure regarding instruments in the Level 3 category
(which have inputs to the valuation techniques that are
unobservable and require significant management judg-
ment), including a reconciliation of the beginning and 
ending balances separately for each major category 
of assets and liabilities.

Financial instruments measured and reported at 
fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the 
following categories:

Level 1 Inputs—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the report-
ing date. Level 1 assets include listed mutual funds,
equities and certain debt securities.

Level 2 Inputs—Quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical 
or similar assets or liabilities that are not active; and
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable,
such as models or other valuation methodologies.
Assets which generally are included in this category
may include short-term floating rate notes and asset-
backed securities held by a consolidated sponsored
cash management fund, securities held within consoli-
dated hedge funds, certain limited partnership interests
in hedge funds in which the valuations for substantially
all of the investments within the fund are based upon
Level 1 or Level 2 inputs, as well as restricted public
securities valued at a discount.

Level 3 Inputs—Unobservable inputs for the valuation 
of the asset or liability. Level 3 assets include invest-
ments for which there is little, if any, market activity.
These inputs require significant management judgment
or estimation. Assets included in this category generally
include general and limited partnership interests in pri-
vate equity funds, funds of private equity funds, real
estate funds, hedge funds, and funds of hedge funds.

Level 3 inputs include capital accounts of BlackRock’s
interest for partnership interests in various alternative
investments, including distressed credit hedge funds, 
real estate and private equity. The various partnerships 
are investment companies which record their underlying
investments at fair value based on fair value policies
established by management of the underlying fund. Fair
value policies at the underlying fund generally require the
fund to utilize pricing/valuation information, including
independent appraisals, from third party sources; how-
ever, in some instances current valuation information, 
for illiquid securities or securities in markets that are not
active, may not be available from any third party source or
fund management may conclude that the valuations that
are available from third party sources are not reliable. 
In these instances fund management may perform 
model-based analytical valuations that may be used to
value these investments.

The Company’s assessment of the significance of a partic-
ular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgment and considers factors specific to the
financial instrument.

Fair Value Option

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair

Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

(“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose
to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities at fair
value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the
fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings.
The decision to elect the fair value option is determined on
an instrument by instrument basis, must be applied to an
entire instrument and it is irrevocable once elected. Assets
and liabilities measured at fair value pursuant to SFAS No.
159 are required to be reported separately in the statement
of financial condition from those instruments measured
using another accounting method. The Company adopted
SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but elected not to apply
the fair value option to any of its eligible financial assets 
or liabilities at that date. Therefore, the adoption of SFAS 
No. 159 had no impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. The Company may elect the fair value
option for any future eligible financial assets or liabilities
upon their initial recognition.

Disclosure of Fair Value

SFAS No. 107, Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial

Instruments, requires disclosure of estimated fair values 
of certain financial instruments, both on and off the 
consolidated statements of financial condition. For finan-
cial instruments recognized at fair value in the statement
of financial position, the disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 157 also apply.

The methods and assumptions are set forth below:

• Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are carried at cost which
approximates fair value due to their short maturities.

• The fair value of marketable investments is based on
quoted market prices. If investments are not readily
marketable, fair values are primarily determined based
on net asset values of investments in limited partner-
ships/limited liability companies or by the Company
based on management’s assumptions or estimates, 
taking into consideration financial information of 
the investment, the industry of the investment, or 
valuation services from third party service providers. 
At December 31, 2008, with the exception of certain
equity method investments that are not accounted for
under a fair value measure, the carrying value of 
investments approximated fair value (See Note 5).

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities (“SFAS No. 133”), as amended, estab-
lishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments, including certain derivatives embedded 
in other contracts and for hedging activities. SFAS No. 133
generally requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the consolidated statements
of financial condition and to measure those investments 
at fair value.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments prima-
rily for purposes of hedging (a) exposures to fluctuations 
in foreign currency exchange rates of certain assets and
liabilities and (b) market exposures for certain investments.
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Derivative financial instruments are not entered into for
trading or speculative purposes. The Company may use
derivatives in connection with capital support agreements
with affiliated investment companies. Certain consolidated
funds may invest in derivatives as a part of their investment
strategy. Changes in the fair value of the Company’s deriv-
ative financial instruments are recognized in current earn-
ings and, where applicable, are offset by the corresponding
gain or loss on the related foreign-denominated assets or
liabilities, in the consolidated statements of income.

Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported have been reclassified 
to conform to the current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Developments

Amendments to the Impairment Guidance of EITF 99-20

In January 2009, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”)
EITF 99-20-1, Amendments to the Impairment Guidance of

EITF Issue No. 99-20 (“FSP EITF 99-20-1”). FSP EITF 99-20-1
amends EITF Issue No. 99-20, to allow for an entity to
exercise its own judgment in arriving at estimates of future
cash flows and assess the probability of collecting all cash
flows rather than relying solely on the assumptions used
by market participants. FSP EITF 99-20-1 is effective for
interim and annual periods ending after December 15,
2008. Retroactive application of FSP EITF 99-20-1 is pro-
hibited. The adoption of FSP EITF 99-20-1 did not materi-
ally impact BlackRock’s consolidated financial statements.

Disclosures about Transfers of Financial Assets and 

Interests in Variable Interest Entities

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 140-4 and
FIN 46(R)-8, Disclosures by Public Entities (Enterprises)

about Transfers of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable

Interest Entities (“FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8”) .
FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 amends SFAS No. 140,
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets

and Extinguishments of Liabilities, to require public entities
to provide additional disclosures about transferors’ 
continuing involvements with transferred financial assets.
It also amends FIN 46(R) to require public enterprises,
including sponsors that have a variable interest in a vari-
able interest entity, to provide additional disclosures about
its involvement with variable interest entities. The FSP is
effective for reporting periods ending after December 15,
2008. The adoption of the additional disclosure require-
ments of FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 did not materially
impact BlackRock’s consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measurements

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-1,
Application of FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement

No. 13 and Other Accounting Pronouncements That Address

Fair Value Measurements for Purposes of Lease Classifi -

cation or Measurement under Statement 13 (“FSP FAS 
157-1”) and FSP FAS 157-2, Effective Date of FASB State -

ment No. 157. (“FSP FAS 157-2”). FSP FAS 157-1 amends
SFAS No. 157 to exclude from its scope transactions
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting

for Leases, and its related interpretive accounting pro-
nouncements. FSP FAS 157-2 delays the effective date 
of the application of SFAS No. 157 to fiscal years beginning

after November 15, 2008 for all non-financial assets 
and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value in the 
financial statements on a non-recurring basis. Non-
recurring non-financial assets and liabilities include 
goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, long-lived
assets and finite-lived intangible assets each measured 
at fair value for purposes of impairment testing; asset
retirement and guarantee obligations initially measured 
at fair value; and those assets and liabilities initially 
measured at fair value in a business combination or asset
purchase. The Company does not expect that the adoption
of the provisions of FSP FAS 157-2 for non-recurring 
non-financial assets and liabilities will have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3,
Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the

Market for That Asset is Not Active (“FSP FAS 157-3”), which
became effective upon issuance, including prior periods
for which financial statements have not been issued. FSP
FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS No. 157, in a
market that is not active. The impact to the Company of
adopting FSP FAS 157-3 in its determination of fair values
at December 31, 2008 did not have a material impact 
on its consolidated financial statements.

Non-Controlling Interests

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non -

controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—

an amendment of ARB No. 51. (“SFAS No. 160”). SFAS 
No. 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards
for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for 
the deconsolidation of a subsidiary and clarifies that 
a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership
interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported
as equity, separate from the parent’s equity, in the con -
solidated financial statements. In addition, consolidated 
net income should be adjusted to include the net income
attributed to the non-controlling interests. SFAS No. 160 
is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15,
2008. SFAS No. 160 requires retrospective adoption of the
presentation and disclosure requirements for existing
non-controlling interests. All other requirements of SFAS
No. 160 shall be applied prospectively. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact of SFAS No. 160
on its consolidated financial statements. However, these
changes will not impact EPS as the net income attributed
to the non-controlling interests will be excluded from 
the basic and diluted EPS calculations.

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141
(revised), Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141(R)”). SFAS
No. 141(R) replaces SFAS No. 141, Business Combi nations

(”SFAS No. 141”), while retaining the fundamental require-
ments of SFAS No. 141 that the acquisition method of
accounting (the purchase method) be used for all business
combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each
business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) further defines the
acquirer, establishes the acquisition date and broadens the
scope of transactions that qualify as business combinations.

Additionally, SFAS No. 141(R) changes the fair value 
measurement provisions for assets acquired, liabilities

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

66

177528_TXT_59_96:Layout 1  3/26/09  10:32 PM  Page 66



assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree,
provides guidance for the measurement of fair value in a
step acquisition, changes the requirements for recognizing
assets acquired and liabilities assumed subject to contin-
gencies, provides guidance on recognition and measure-
ment of contingent consideration and requires that
acquisition-related costs of the acquirer generally be
expensed as incurred. Liabilities for unrecognized tax 
benefits related to tax positions assumed in business 
combinations that settled prior to the adoption of SFAS 
No. 141(R), affected goodwill. If such liabilities reverse
subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 141(R), such
reversals will affect the income tax provision in the period
of reversal. SFAS No. 141(R) applies prospectively to busi-
ness combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company
currently is evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS
No. 141(R) on its consolidated financial statements and 
on potential future business combinations.

Disclosures about Derivative Instruments

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an

amendment of SFAS No. 133 (“SFAS No. 161”). SFAS No. 161
expands the disclosure requirements for derivative instru-
ments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 161 specifically
requires enhanced disclosures addressing: a) how and 
why an entity uses derivative instruments, b) how deriva-
tive instruments and related hedged items are accounted
for under SFAS No. 133 and its related interpretations 
and c) how derivative instruments and related hedged
items affect an entity’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective 
for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after
November 15, 2008. The additional disclosure require-
ments of SFAS No. 161 are not expected to materially
impact BlackRock’s consolidated financial statements.

Useful Life of Intangible Assets

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 142-3, Determi na -

tion of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets (“FSP FAS 142-3”).
FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors that should be consid-
ered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used
to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible
asset under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets (“SFAS No. 142”). FSP FAS 142-3 requires that 
an entity shall consider its own experience in renewing
similar arrangements. FSP FAS 142-3 is intended to
improve the consistency between the useful life of an
intangible asset determined under SFAS No. 142 and the
period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair
value of the asset under SFAS No. 141(R) and other GAAP.
FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting FSP FAS 142-3
on its consolidated financial statements.

Disclosures about Credit Derivatives

In September 2008, the FASB issued FSP 133-1 and FIN
45-4, Disclosures about Credit Derivatives and Certain

Guarantees: An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 

and FASB Interpretation No. 45; and Clarification of the

Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 161 (“FSP FAS 133-1
and FIN 45-4”). FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 amends 
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities, to require disclosures by sellers 
of credit derivatives, including credit derivatives embedded
in hybrid instruments. FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 also
amend FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), Guarantor’s

Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,

Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, 
to require additional disclosure about the current status 
of the payment/performance risk of a guarantee. The pro-
visions of the FSP that amend SFAS 133 and FIN 45 are
effective for reporting periods ending after November 15,
2008. The additional disclosure requirements of FSP FAS
133-1 and FIN 45-4 did not materially impact BlackRock’s
consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Indexed to a Company’s Own Stock

In June 2008, the FASB issued EITF No. 07-5, Determining

Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) is Indexed to 

an Entity’s Own Stock (“EITF 07-5”). EITF 07-5 provides guid-
ance for determining whether an equity-linked financial
instrument (or embedded feature) is indexed to an entity’s
own stock. To meet the definition of “indexed to its own
stock,” an instrument’s contingent exercise provisions must
not be based on an observable market other than the mar-
ket for the issuer’s stock, and its settlement amount must
be based only on those variables that are inputs to the fair
value of a “fixed-for-fixed” forward or option on an entity’s
equity shares. EITF 07-5 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
The Company does not expect the adoption to change the
classification or measurement of its financial statements.

Convertible Debt Instruments

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1, Accounting 

for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash

upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement) (“FSP
APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 specifies that for convertible
debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon 
conversion, issuers of such instruments should separately
account for the liability and equity components in the
statement of financial condition. The excess of the initial
proceeds of the convertible debt instrument over the
amount allocated to the liability component creates a debt
discount which should be amortized as interest expense
over the expected life of the liability. FSP APB 14-1 is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008
and is to be applied retrospectively. At December 31, 2008
the Company had $249 principal amount of convertible
debentures outstanding, which were issued in February
2005, bear interest at a rate of 2.625%, and are due in
2035. The Company will retroactively adopt FSP APB 14-1
on January 1, 2009. The Company does not expect the
impact to its December 31, 2008 and 2007 statement of
financial conditions to be material. See below for the esti-
mated retrospective EPS impact of adopting FSP APB 14-1.

Earnings Per Share

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1, Deter -

mining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment

Transactions Are Participating Securities (“FSP EITF 03-6-1”).
FSP EITF 03-6-1 specifies that all outstanding unvested
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share-based payment awards that contain rights to non-
forfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents are considered
participating securities and should be included in the 
computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method as
defined in SFAS No. 128. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. All prior period
EPS data presented must be adjusted retrospectively. 
Prior to 2009, the Company awarded restricted stock 
and restricted stock units with nonforfeitable dividend

equivalent rights. The Company will retroactively adopt FSP
EITF 03-6-1 on January 1, 2009. See below for the estimated
retrospective EPS impact of adopting FSP EITF 03-6-1.

Retrospective Impact of Adoption of FSP APB 14-1 and 

FSP EITF 03-6-1

The retrospective impact of adopting FSP APB 14-1 and
FSP EITF 03-6-1 to diluted EPS for common shares in
2006, 2007 and 2008 is a decline of $0.03, $0.16, and 
$0.13, respectively.
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3. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

Impact Investing

In August 2008, the Company acquired Impact Investing,
an Australia based software development company 
specializing in equity portfolio management and analytical
software tools. The maximum total consideration to be
paid over two years is not expected to be material to 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Quellos Group

On October 1, 2007, the Company closed the Quellos
Transaction and paid Quellos $562 in cash and issued
1,191,785 shares of BlackRock common stock, valued at
$188. The common stock was placed in escrow for up 
to three years and is available to satisfy certain indemnifi-
cation obligations of Quellos under the asset purchase
agreement. The value of the common stock consideration
was determined using the average closing price of
BlackRock’s common stock ten days before the Quellos
Transaction announcement date. In April 2008, 280,519
common shares were released to Quellos in accordance
with the Quellos asset purchase agreement, which resulted
in an adjustment to the recognized purchase price.

In addition, Quellos may receive two contingent payments,
upon achieving certain investment advisory base and 
performance fee measures through December 31, 2010,
totaling up to $969 in a combination of cash and stock. The
first contingent payment, of up to $374, is payable through
2009, up to 25% in BlackRock common stock based on 
a price of $157.33 per share, and the remainder in cash.
The second contingent payment, of up to $595, is based on
investment advisory fees through 2010 and is payable in
cash in 2011. Quellos may also be entitled to a “catch-up”
payment in 2011 if certain investment advisory base fee
measures are met though 2010 to the extent that the value
of the first contingent payment is less than $374 million.

The Quellos Transaction was accounted for under the 
purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS
No. 141. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated 
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon
their estimated fair values at the date of the transaction.
The excess, if any, of the final purchase price, which 
may include contingent consideration payments, over 
the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
will be recorded as goodwill.

A summary of the recorded fair values at October 1, 2007
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in this
acquisition, including adjustments made subsequent to
the Company’s original estimates is as follows:

Adjusted 
estimate of  

fair value 

Investments $20
Property and equipment 9
Other assets 4
Goodwill 61
Finite-life intangible management contracts 161
Indefinite-life intangible management 

contracts 658
Liabilities assumed (28)
Due to Quellos (13)
Deferred tax liabilities (291)

Total purchase price, including 
transaction costs $581

Summary of consideration, net of cash acquired:
Cash paid $573
Cash acquired (49)
Other capitalized transaction costs 12
Common stock release of 280,519 shares 

from escrow agent 45

Total consideration $581

Finite-life intangible management contracts have a
weighted average estimated useful life of approximately
7.5 years and are amortized on the straight-line method.

As contingencies are resolved, BlackRock common shares
held in escrow may be released from escrow. In April 2008,
280,519 common shares were released from escrow to
Quellos in accordance with the Quellos asset purchase
agreement, which resulted in an adjustment to the recog-
nized purchase price. As additional shares held in escrow
are released, and if contingent consideration payments are
made to Quellos, additional purchase price consideration
or employee compensation will be recorded.

Adjustments to goodwill related to tax benefits realized
from tax-deductible goodwill in excess of the initial book
goodwill established are not reflected in the table above.
(See Note 9, Goodwill, for more details.)
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Fund of Hedge Funds

On April 30, 2003, the Company purchased an 80% interest
in an investment manager of a hedge fund of funds for
approximately $4 in cash. On October 1, 2007, the Company
paid $27 in cash to purchase the remaining 20% of the
investment manager. The purchase price of the remaining
interest was performance-based and was not subject 
to a maximum, minimum or the continued employment of
former employees of the investment manager with the
Company. As a result of the transaction in October 2007,
$21 and $8 of additional goodwill and indefinite-life 
intangible assets, respectively, was recorded.

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers

On September 29, 2006, the Company completed the MLIM
Transaction and issued 52,395,082 shares of BlackRock
common stock and 12,604,918 of series A non-voting par-
ticipating preferred stock to Merrill Lynch in consideration
for the MLIM Business. Total consideration issued to
Merrill Lynch was $9,089, net of cash acquired, including
capitalized transaction costs. The Company’s consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of the MLIM
Business subsequent to September 29, 2006.

In connection with the MLIM Transaction, Merrill Lynch
and PNC each have entered into stockholder agreements
with BlackRock. These agreements were amended and
restated as of February 27, 2009 and the following para-
graphs describe certain key provisions of the stockholder
agreements as amended and restated.

Pursuant to the terms of its amended and restated stock-
holder agreement, Merrill Lynch is restricted from owning
more than 4.9% of total voting power of the capital stock of
BlackRock or more than 49.8% of the fully diluted capital
stock of BlackRock. Pursuant to the terms of its amended
and restated stockholder agreement, PNC is restricted
from owning more than 49.9% of the total voting power 
of the capital stock of BlackRock or more than 38% of the
fully diluted capital stock of BlackRock.

In addition to the ownership restrictions described above,
the stockholder agreements include the following addi-
tional provisions, among others:

• Both Merrill Lynch and PNC generally are restricted
from purchasing additional shares of BlackRock 
common stock if it would result in either exceeding 
their respective ownership caps;

• Merrill Lynch is restricted from transferring any 
common stock or the series B non-voting participating
preferred stock for a period of three years after the 
third anniversary of the closing of the MLIM Transaction
without the prior consent of BlackRock;

• PNC, and Merrill Lynch after the third anniversary 
of the closing of the MLIM Transaction, are subject to
additional transfer restrictions designed to ensure that
no party acquires a significant holding of voting stock;

• Merrill Lynch and PNC are required to vote their shares
in accordance with the BlackRock Board of Directors’
recommendations to the extent consistent with the 
provisions of the stockholder agreements; and

• Certain fundamental transactions may not be entered
into without prior approval of all of the independent
directors then in office, or at least two-thirds of the

directors then in office. Additionally, BlackRock may 
not enter into certain actions without prior approval 
of Merrill Lynch and PNC.

The series A non-voting participating preferred stock:

• was non-voting except as otherwise provided by 
applicable law;

• participated in dividends, on a basis generally equal 
to the common stock;

• granted the holder the right to receive dividends in 
common stock (subject to applicable ownership 
restrictions) or in cash;

• benefited from a liquidation preference of $0.01 per
share; and

• was mandatorily convertible to BlackRock common
stock upon transfer to an unrelated party.

The MLIM Transaction was accounted for under the pur-
chase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS 
No. 141. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon
their estimated fair values at the date of the transaction.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as
goodwill. The value of the consideration paid for the net
assets acquired was determined using the average closing
price of BlackRock’s common stock two days before, the
day of and two days after the MLIM Transaction announce-
ment date of February 15, 2006 in accordance with EITF
No. 99-12, Determination of the Market Price of Acquirer

Securities Issued in a Purchase Business Combination. 
Both the common stock and the series A non-voting 
participating preferred stock were valued at a price of
$147.34 per share since both classes of stock participate
equally in dividends and have transfer restrictions.

The Company also amended and restated its stockholder
agreement with Merrill Lynch in July 2008. These 
changes are subsumed within the amendment and
restated version discussed above. The Company also
amended and restated its global distribution agreement
with Merrill Lynch in July 2008.

On January 1, 2009, Bank of America acquired Merrill
Lynch. In connection with this transaction, BlackRock
entered into exchange agreements with each of Merrill
Lynch and PNC pursuant to which on February 27, 2009 
it exchanged a portion of the BlackRock common stock it
held for an equal number of shares of non-voting pre-
ferred stock. (See Note 15, Related Party Transactions, 
for more details on these transactions.)

Nomura BlackRock Asset Management

On September 29, 2006, BlackRock acquired the remaining
50% interest in Nomura BlackRock Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. (“NBAM”) that was held by its joint venture partner,
Nomura Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Nomura”), for a
purchase price of five billion Japanese yen (approximately
$42), subject to certain adjustment provisions. Prior to 
the NBAM transaction, NBAM was consolidated in the
Company’s financial statements under FIN No. 46(R), as 
a result of the preferential payments received by a
BlackRock subsidiary which resulted in BlackRock being
considered the primary beneficiary of NBAM.
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During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006, the Company recorded other-than temporary
impairments of $7, $16 and $2, respectively, to other 
debt securities and CDO available-for-sale investments.

The Company has reviewed the gross unrealized losses of
$18 at December 31, 2008 related to available-for-sale
investments, of which $4 had been in a loss position for
greater than twelve months, and determined that these

unrealized losses were not other-than-temporary prima-
rily because the Company has the ability and intent to hold
the securities for a period of time sufficient to allow for
recovery of such unrealized losses. As a result, the Company
recorded no additional impairments on such securities.

A summary of sale activity in the Company’s available-
for-sale securities during the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006 is shown below.

4. INVESTMENTS

A summary of the carrying value of total investments is as follows:
Carrying value

December 31, 

2008 2007

Available-for-sale investments $101 $264
Trading investments 122 395
Other investments:

Consolidated sponsored investment funds (non cash management funds) 349 760
Consolidated sponsored cash management funds 326 —
Equity method investments 501 517
Deferred compensation plan hedge fund investments 30 60
Cost method — 4

Total other investments 1,206 1,341

Total investments $1,429 $2,000

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $728 of total investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds of
which $53 and $675 were classified as trading investments and other investments, respectively.

Available-for-Sale Investments

A summary of the cost and carrying value of investments classified as available-for-sale is as follows:

Gross unrealized Carrying
December 31, 2008 Cost Gains Losses value

Total available-for-sale investments:
Sponsored investment funds $109 $— $(16) $93
Collateralized debt obligations 6 — (2) 4
Other debt securities 4 — — 4

Total available-for-sale investments $119 $— $(18) $101

December 31, 2007

Total available-for-sale investments:
Sponsored investment funds $246 $6 $(1) $251
Collateralized debt obligations 10 — — 10
Other 3 — — 3

Total available-for-sale investments $259 $6 $(1) $264

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Sales proceeds (including unsettled transactions) $57 $112 $7

Net realized gain (loss):
Gross realized gains $2 $8 $1
Gross realized losses (7) — —

Net realized gain (loss) $(5) $8 $1
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Trading investments include certain deferred compensa-
tion plan mutual fund investments, equity and debt securi-
ties within certain consolidated sponsored investment
funds and equity and debt securities held in separate
accounts for the purpose of establishing an investment
history in various investment strategies before being 
marketed to investors.

Equity Method Investments

BlackRock invests in hedge funds, funds of hedge funds,
real estate funds and private equity funds to establish a
performance track record or for co-investment purposes.
BlackRock accounts for certain of these investments
under the equity method of accounting in addition to other
accounting methods. BlackRock’s ownership percentage
in its equity method investees range up to 49%.

Substantially all of its equity method investments are 
investment companies which record their underlying
investments at fair value. BlackRock’s share of the investee’s
underlying net income or loss is recorded as non-operating
income (expense). The Company’s maximum exposure 
to loss is generally limited to its equity interest.

At December 31, 2008 the Company held equity method
investments in hedge funds/funds of funds, real estate 
and private equity funds of approximately $273, $151 and
$77, respectively.

In aggregate, the funds in which BlackRock had an equity
method investment had net assets of approximately 
$12.2 billion at December 31, 2008 and net losses of
approximately $6.8 billion for the year ended December 31,
2008. At December 31, 2007, in aggregate, the equity
method investees had approximately $13.7 billion of 
net assets and approximately $1.9 billion of net income 
for the year ended December 31, 2007. The majority 
of the net assets of the equity method investees are 
comprised of investments held for capital appreciation 
offset by borrowings.

Maturity Dates

The carrying value of debt securities, classified as 
available-for-sale, trading and other investments, by
maturity at December 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:
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Trading and Other Investments

A summary of the cost and carrying value of trading and other investments is as follows:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Cost Carrying value Cost Carrying value

Trading investments:
Deferred compensation plan mutual fund 

investments $32 $29 $40 $45
Equity securities 109 75 103 116 
Debt securities:

Municipal debt 9 7 240 234
Foreign government debt 8 7 — —
Corporate debt 1 1 — —
U.S. government debt 3 3 — —

Total trading investments $162 $122 $383 $395

Other investments:
Consolidated sponsored investment funds 

(non cash management) $376 $349 $721 $760
Consolidated sponsored cash 

management funds 333 326 — —
Equity method 752 501 446 517
Deferred compensation plan 

hedge fund investments 39 30 32 60
Cost method — — 4 4

Total other investments $1,500 $1,206 $1,203 $1,341

Carrying value

December 31, 

Maturity date 2008 2007

<1 year $329 $—
>1-5 years 2 10
>5-10 years 3 29
>10 years 14 195

Total $348 $234
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At December 31, 2008, the debt securities in the table
above primarily consisted of floating rate notes and 
asset backed securities held by two consolidated 
sponsored cash management funds and municipal, 
corporate, U.S. and foreign government debt securities
held by other sponsored investment products that are 
consolidated in the Company’s consolidated statements 
of financial condition.

Impact of Consolidated Sponsored Investment Funds

The Company consolidates certain sponsored investment
funds primarily because it is deemed to control such
investments in accordance with GAAP. The investments
owned by these consolidated sponsored investment 
funds are classified as other or trading investments. 
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the following balances
related to these funds were consolidated in the consoli-
dated statements of financial condition:
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December 31, 

2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents $61 $67
Investments 728 1,054
Other net assets (liabilities) 12 (218)
Non-controlling interests (491) (578)

Total net interests in consolidated investment funds $310 $325

BlackRock acts as general partner or managing member
for consolidated sponsored private equity funds. In Decem -
ber 2007, BlackRock took necessary steps to grant addi-
tional rights to the unaffiliated investors in 14 funds with
net assets at December 31, 2007 of approximately $1,000.
In December 2008, BlackRock took necessary steps to
grant additional rights to the unaffiliated investors in 
three funds with net assets at December 31, 2008 of
approximately $210. BlackRock deconsolidated these
sponsored investment funds upon the grant of these 
additional rights.

BlackRock’s total exposure to consolidated sponsored
investment funds of $310 and $325 at December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively, represents the fair value of the

Company’s economic ownership interest in these spon-
sored investment funds. Valuation changes associated
with these consolidated investment funds are reflected 
in non-operating income and non-controlling interests.
Approximately $6 and $210 of borrowings by consolidated
sponsored investment funds at December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, is included in other liabilities on 
the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company may not be readily able to access cash and
cash equivalents held by consolidated sponsored invest-
ment funds to use in its operating activities. In addition,
the Company may not be readily able to sell investments
held by consolidated sponsored investment funds in 
order to obtain cash for use in its operations.

5. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2008 were as follows:

Quoted Significant
prices in other Significant

active markets observable unobservable Other assets
for identical inputs inputs not held at December 31,

assets (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) fair value(1) 2008

Assets:
Investments:

Available-for-sale $63 $34 $4 $— $101
Trading 113 9 — — 122
Other investments:

Consolidated sponsored investment 
funds (non cash management funds) — 21 328 — 349

Consolidated sponsored 
cash management funds — 326 — — 326

Equity method investments — — 461 40 501
Deferred compensation plan 

hedge fund investments — 10 20 — 30

Total investments 176 400 813 40 1,429
Separate account assets 2,461 85 4 73 2,623
Other assets(2) — 9 64 — 73

Total assets measured at fair value $2,637 $494 $881 $113 $4,125
(1) Includes investments in equity method investees and other assets which in accordance with GAAP are not accounted for under a fair value measure.

(2) Includes disposal group assets and company-owned and split-dollar life insurance policies.

177528_TXT_59_96:Layout 1  3/26/09  10:32 PM  Page 72



A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company is a registered
life insurance company that maintains separate account
assets, representing segregated funds held for purposes
of funding individual and group pension contracts, and
equal and offsetting separate account liabilities. At Decem -
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, the Level 3 separate account assets
were approximately $4 and $12, respectively. The changes
in Level 3 assets primarily relate to purchases, sales and
gains/(losses). The net investment income and net gains
and losses attributable to separate account assets accrue
directly to the contract owner and are not reported as 
non-operating income (expense) on the consolidated
statements of income.

Level 3 assets, which includes equity method investments
or consolidated investments of real estate funds, private
equity funds and funds of private equity funds are valued
based upon valuations received from internal as well 
as third party fund managers. Fair valuations at the 
underlying funds are based on a combination of methods
which may include third-party independent appraisals and
discounted cash flow techniques. Direct investments in
private equity companies held by funds of private equity
funds are valued based on an assessment of each under -
lying investment, incorporating evaluation of additional 
significant third party financing, changes in valuations 
of comparable peer companies and the business 
environment of the companies, among other factors. 
See Note 2 for further detail on the fair value policies 
by the underlying funds.
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Changes in Level 3 Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis for the Year Ended December 31, 2008

Investments Other assets

December 31, 2007 $1,240 $—
Realized and unrealized gains/(losses), net (409) (16)
Purchases, sales, other settlements and issuances, net 11 2
Net transfers in and/or out of Level 3 (29) 78

December 31, 2008 $813 $64

Total net (losses) for the period included in earnings 
attributable to the change in unrealized gains or (losses) 
relating to assets still held at the reporting date $(366) $(17)

Realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded for
Level 3 assets are reported in non-operating income
(expense) on the consolidated statements of income. 
Non-controlling interest expense is recorded for consoli-
dated investments to reflect the portion of gains and
losses not attributable to the Company.

The Company transfers assets in and/or out of Level 3 as
significant inputs, including performance attributes, used
for the fair value measurement become observable.

6. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In the normal course of business, the Company is the
manager of various types of sponsored investment 
vehicles, including collateralized debt obligations and
sponsored investment funds, that may be considered VIEs.
The Company receives management fees or other incen-
tive related fees for its services and may from time to time
own equity or debt securities or enter into derivatives with
the vehicles, each of which are considered variable inter-
ests. The Company engages in these variable interests
principally to address client needs through the launch of
such investment vehicles. The VIEs are primarily financed
via capital contributed by equity and debt holders. The
Company’s involvement in financing the operations of 
the VIEs is limited to its equity interests, unfunded capital
commitments for certain sponsored investment funds 
and its capital support agreements for two enhanced 
cash funds.

The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that absorbs 
a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a major -
ity of the entity’s expected residual returns or both as a
result of holding variable interests. In order to determine

whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE,
management must make significant estimates and
assumptions of probable future cash flows and assign
probabilities to different cash flow scenarios. Assumptions
made in such analyses include, but are not limited to,
market prices of securities, market interest rates, poten-
tial credit defaults on individual securities or default rates
on a portfolio of securities, gain realization, liquidity or
marketability of certain securities, discount rates and 
the probability of certain other outcomes.

VIEs in which BlackRock is the Primary Beneficiary

At December 31, 2008, the Company was the primary 
beneficiary of three VIEs, which resulted in consolidation
of three sponsored investment funds (including two 
cash management funds and one private equity fund 
of funds). Creditors of the VIEs do not have recourse to 
the credit of the Company.

During 2008, the Company determined it became the 
primary beneficiary of two enhanced cash management
funds as a result of concluding that under various cash
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flow scenarios it absorbed the majority of the variability to
cover expected losses in the funds due to its equity owner-
ship percentage of the funds along with its obligation
under the Company’s capital support agreements with the
funds which were established to cover potential realized

losses within the funds. During 2008, the Company con-
tributed $1 to the cash management funds to cover real-
ized losses. As of December 31, 2008, under the terms of
the capital support agreements, BlackRock was obligated
to cover realized losses of up to $45.
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As of December 31, 2008

Maximum risk of loss
VIE net

assets that Capital
the Company Equity support
consolidates interests agreements Total

Sponsored cash management funds $328 $88 $45 $133
Other sponsored investment funds 55 — — —

Total $383 $88 $45 $133

At December 31, 2007 the Company consolidated one
sponsored investment fund with net assets of $96, prima-
rily consisting of cash and cash equivalents and invest-
ments offset by $96 of non-controlling interests to reflect
the equity ownership of third parties. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, the Company recorded non-operating
income of $30 offset by $30 of non-controlling interests
expense on its consolidated statements of income.

VIEs in which BlackRock holds significant variable 
interests or is the sponsor that holds a variable interest 
but is not the Primary Beneficiary of VIE

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s carrying
value of assets and liabilities and its maximum risk of loss
related to VIEs in which it holds a significant variable inter-
est or is the sponsor that holds a variable interest, but for
which it was not the primary beneficiary, were as follows:

As of December 31, 2008

VIE VIE Variable interests on the statement of 
assets liabilities financial condition 

that the that the
Company Company Other net Maximum 
does not does not assets risk of

consolidate consolidate Investments Receivables (liabilities) loss

CDOs $6,660 $14,487 $4 $5 $(1) $25
Sponsored cash 

management funds 733 — — — — —
Other sponsored 

investment funds 5,813 440 9 9 (6) 18

Total $13,206 $14,927 $13 $14 $(7) $43

The assets of the VIEs are primarily comprised of cash 
and cash equivalents and investments and the liabilities
are primarily comprised of debt obligations (CDO debt
holders) and various accruals.

At December 31, 2008, BlackRock’s maximum risk of 
loss associated with these VIEs primarily relates to: 
(i) BlackRock’s equity investments, (ii) management 
fee receivables and (iii) the credit protection sold by 
BlackRock in a synthetic CDO transaction (see Note 7 
for further information).

As a result of consolidating the three private investment
funds, at December 31, 2008, the Company recorded $383
of net assets, primarily investments and cash and cash
equivalents which in consolidation is offset by $319 of non-
controlling interests which reflect the equity ownership of
third parties, on its consolidated statements of financial
condition. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the
Company recorded a non-operating expense of $12 offset

by a $13 gain in non-controlling interests on its consoli-
dated statements of income.

The maximum risk of loss related to the capital support
agreements in the table above reflect the Company’s total
obligation under the capital support agreements with 
the two enhanced cash funds. The fair value of the capital 
support agreements recorded at December 31, 2008 and
2007 was $18 and $12, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007

Maximum risk of loss
VIE net assets 

that the Company Equity
consolidates interests Total

Sponsored investment funds $96 $— $—
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The assets of the VIEs are primarily comprised of cash and
cash equivalents and investments and the liabilities are
primarily comprised of debt obligations (CDO debt holders)
and various accruals of the sponsored investment funds.

At December 31, 2007, BlackRock’s maximum risk 
of loss associated with these VIE’s primarily relates to: 

(i) BlackRock’s equity investments, (ii) management fee
receivables, (iii) credit protection sold by BlackRock 
in a synthetic CDO transaction (see Note 7 for further
information) and (iv) the impact of the Company’s obliga-
tion under the capital support agreements which were
established in support of two enhanced cash funds.
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As of December 31, 2007

VIE VIE Variable interests on the statement of 
assets liabilities financial condition 

that the that the
Company Company Other net Maximum 
does not does not assets risk of

consolidate consolidate Investments Receivables (liabilities) loss

CDOs $12,891 $16,516 $11 $8 $5 $40
Sponsored cash 

management funds 7,365 — 88 — — 188
Other sponsored 

investment funds 7,896 363 13 5 (4) 18

Total $28,152 $16,879 $112 $13 $1 $246

7. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the
Company did not hold any derivatives designated in 
a formal hedge relationship under SFAS No. 133.

By using derivative financial instruments, the Company
exposes itself to market risk. Market risk from forward
foreign currency exchange contracts is the effect on the
value of a financial instrument that results from a change
in currency exchange rates. The Company manages 
exposure to market risk associated with foreign currency
exchange contracts by establishing and monitoring
parameters that limit the types and degrees of market risk
that may be undertaken. For the year ended December 31,
2008, the change in fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts was not material to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

During 2007, the Company entered into a series of total
return swaps to economically hedge market price expo-
sures with respect to seed investments in sponsored invest-
ment products. At December 31, 2008, the outstanding total
return swaps had an aggregate notional value of approxi-
mately $49 and net realized and unrealized gains of approx-
imately $33 for the year ended December 31, 2008. The 
net gains were included in non-operating income (expense)
in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.

In December 2007, BlackRock entered into capital support
agreements, up to $100, with two enhanced cash funds.
These capital support agreements were backed by letters
of credit issued under BlackRock’s revolving credit facility.
In December 2008, the capital support agreements were
modified to be up to $45 and were no longer backed by 
the letters of credit. See Note 11, Borrowings, for further
discussion. During the twelve months ended December 31,
2008, the Company provided approximately $1 of capital
contributions to these two funds under the capital support
agreements. BlackRock determined that the capital 
support agreements qualified as derivatives under SFAS

No. 133. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the fair value 
of the derivative liabilities related to the capital support
agreements for the two funds totaled approximately $18
and $12, respectively. The fair value of these liabilities will
increase or decrease as BlackRock’s obligations under 
the capital support agreements fluctuate based on the fair
value of the derivatives. Due to consolidation of these two
funds at December 31, 2008, the derivative liability was
eliminated against the receivable of the funds on the 
consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company acts as the portfolio manager in a series of
credit default swap transactions, referred to collectively 
as the Pillars synthetic CDO transaction (“Pillars”). The
Company has entered into a credit default swap with
Citibank, N.A. (“Citibank”), providing Citibank credit pro-
tection of approximately $17, representing the Company’s
maximum risk of loss with respect to the provision of credit
protection. The Company’s management has performed an
assessment of its variable interest in Pillars (a collateral
management agreement and the credit default swap)
under FIN 46(R) and has concluded the Company is not
Pillars’ primary beneficiary. Pursuant to SFAS No. 133, 
the Company carries the Pillars credit default swap at fair
value based on the expected future cash flows under the
arrangement. For the year ended December 31, 2008, 
the Company recorded a net loss of $4 in non-operating
income (expense) in the consolidated statement of income
related to interest accrued offset by the change in the fair
value of the credit default swap. At December 31, 2008, 
the fair value of the Pillars credit default swap was
approximately $0.5 and was included in other liabilities 
on the consolidated statement of financial condition.

The Company may, at times, consolidate certain sponsored
investment funds which utilize derivative instruments 
as a part of the fund’s investment strategy. Such deriva-
tives are not material to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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9. GOODWILL

Goodwill activity during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was as follows:

2008 2007

Beginning of year balance $5,520 $5,257
Goodwill acquired related to:

Quellos 55 27
Fund of hedge funds manager — 21
Impact Investing 4 —
Other — 1

Total goodwill acquired 59 49

Goodwill adjustments related to:
MLIM — 212
Quellos (41) (5)
NBAM — 6
Other (5) 1

Total goodwill adjustments (46) 214

End of year balance $5,533 $5,520

Qualifying software costs of approximately $28, $25 and
$12 have been capitalized within equipment and computer
software for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively, and are being amortized over an 
estimated useful life of three years.

Depreciation expense was $84, $68 and $35 for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,
Estimated useful

life—in years 2008 2007 

Property and equipment:
Land N/A $4 $4 
Building 39 17 17 
Building improvements 15 12 12 
Leasehold improvements 1-15 156 145 
Equipment and computer software 3-5 257 255 
Furniture and fixtures 3-7 47 51 
Construction in progress N/A 26 8 

Gross property and equipment 519 492
Less: accumulated depreciation 259 226

Property and equipment, net $260 $266

N/A — Not applicable

During the year ended December 31, 2008, goodwill
increased by $13. Approximately $55 was recorded as
additional goodwill due to the release of 280,519 common
shares to Quellos, which were held in escrow in accor-
dance with the Quellos asset purchase agreement and an
$11 additional cash payment due to achieving certain rev-
enue measures. This increase was partially offset by a
decline in goodwill of approximately $21 as a result of the
Company’s review of the Quellos purchase price allocation
primarily in the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 
a decrease of approximately $20 related to tax benefits
realized from tax-deductible goodwill in excess of book

goodwill. At December 31, 2008, the balance of the Quellos
tax-deductible goodwill in excess of book goodwill was
approximately $409. Goodwill will continue to be reduced
in future periods by the amount of tax benefits realized
from tax-deductible goodwill in excess of book goodwill.

In August 2008, the Company acquired Impact Investing,
an Australia based software development company spe-
cializing in equity portfolio management and analytical
software tools. The total consideration to be paid is not
expected to be material to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

December 31, 2008
Remaining

weighted-average Gross 
estimated carrying Accumulated Net carrying
useful life amount amortization amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired management contracts:

Mutual funds N/A $4,461 $— $4,461
Alternative investment products N/A 917 — 917

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 5,378 — 5,378

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired management contracts:

Institutional 7.5 833 206 627
Retail 8.7 348 71 277
Alternative investment products 6.6 200 47 153

Other(1) 9.6 6 — 6

Total finite-lived intangible assets 7.7 1,387 324 1,063

Total intangible assets $6,765 $324 $6,441

December 31, 2007
Remaining

weighted-average Gross 
estimated carrying Accumulated Net carrying
useful life amount amortization amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired management contracts:

Mutual funds N/A $4,461 $— $4,461
Alternative investment products N/A 890 — 890

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 5,351 — 5,351

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Acquired management contracts:

Institutional 8.5 832 119 713
Retail 9.7 348 39 309
Alternative investment products 7.6 195 17 178

Other(1) 1.0 5 3 2

Total finite-lived intangible assets 8.7 1,380 178 1,202

Total intangible assets $6,731 $178 $6,553
(1) Other represents intellectual property in 2008 and a trademark in 2007.

N/A — Not applicable

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was
$146, $130 and $38 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Finite-Lived Acquired Management Contracts

In January 2005, the Company acquired $63 in finite-life
management contracts from MetLife, related to $48 in
contracts with institutional separate accounts, $9 in con-
tracts with real estate equity funds and $6 in contracts with
CDOs. The initial useful lives of these finite-life acquired
management contracts ranged from 5 to 20 years.

On September 29, 2006, in conjunction with the MLIM
Transaction, the Company acquired finite-life management
contracts valued at $1,135, primarily associated with $771
of contracts with institutional separate accounts, $348 of
contracts with retail separate accounts, $11 of private

equity accounts and $5 in trade name intangibles. The ini-
tial weighted-average estimated useful life of these finite-
life management contracts was approximately 10.1 years.

On September 29, 2006, in conjunction with the NBAM
transaction, the Company acquired $13 of finite-life man-
agement contracts, primarily associated of institutional
fixed income accounts. The initial weighted-average useful
life of these finite-life management contracts was approxi-
mately nine years.

On October 1, 2007, in conjunction with the Quellos
Transaction, the Company acquired $161 of finite-life
management contracts, primarily associated with private
equity, fund of funds and other contracts. The initial
weighted-average useful life of these finite-life manage-
ment contracts was approximately 7.5 years.
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In August 2008, in conjunction with the Impact Investing
transaction, the Company acquired $7 of finite-life 
contracts associated primarily of $1 of institutional equity
accounts and $6 for intellectual property. The initial
weighted-average useful life of these finite-life manage-
ment contracts was approximately 9.5 years.

Estimated amortization expense for finite-lived intangible
assets for each of the five succeeding years is as follows:

2009 $145
2010 143
2011 140
2012 139
2013 139

Indefinite-Lived Acquired Management Contracts

On January 31, 2005, the Company acquired $229 in 
indefinite-life management contracts in the SSR Holdings,

Inc. (“SSR”) transaction, consisting of $188 in contracts
with mutual funds and $41 in contracts with alternative
investment funds.

On September 29, 2006, in conjunction with the MLIM
Transaction, the Company acquired indefinite-life manage-
ment contracts valued at $4,477 consisting of $4,271 
for all retail mutual funds and $206 of alternative 
investment products.

On October 1, 2007, in conjunction with the Quellos
Transaction, the Company acquired $631 in indefinite-life
management contracts associated with alternative invest-
ment products.

On October 1, 2007, the Company purchased the remaining
20% of an investment manager of a fund of hedge funds. 
In conjunction with this transaction, the Company recorded
$8 in additional indefinite-life management contracts
associated with alternative investment products.

11. BORROWINGS

Short-Term Borrowings

In December 2006, the Company entered into an 
unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of 
banking institutions. This facility, as amended in Feb-
ruary 2007 (the “2006 facility”), permitted the Company 
to borrow up to $800.

In August 2007, the Company terminated the 2006 facility
and entered into a new five year $2,500 unsecured revolv-
ing credit facility (the “2007 facility”), which permits the
Company to request an additional $500 of borrowing
capacity, subject to lender credit approval, up to a maxi-
mum of $3,000. The 2007 facility requires the Company 
not to exceed a maximum leverage ratio (ratio of net 
debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization, where net debt equals total debt less
domestic unrestricted cash) of 3 to 1, which was satisfied
at December 31, 2008.

The 2007 facility was used to refinance the 2006 facility
and provide back-up liquidity, fund ongoing working 
capital for general corporate purposes and fund various
investment opportunities. At December 31, 2008, the
Company had $200 outstanding under the 2007 facility
with an interest rate of 0.61% and a maturity date during
January 2009. During January 2009, the Company rolled

over the $200 in borrowings with an interest rate of 0.56%
and a maturity date during February 2009.

Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. has a $140 participation
under the 2007 Facility; however BlackRock does not
expect that Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. will honor 
its commitment to fund additional amounts.

In December 2007, in order to support two enhanced cash
funds that BlackRock manages, BlackRock elected to 
procure two letters of credit under the existing 2007 facility
in an aggregate amount of $100. In December 2008, the
letters of credit were terminated.

In June 2008, BlackRock Japan Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a five billion
Japanese yen commitment-line agreement with a banking
institution (the “Japan Commitment-line”). The term of 
the Japan Commitment-line is one year and interest will
accrue at the applicable Japanese short-term prime 
rate. The Japan Commitment-line is intended to provide
liquidity flexibility for operating requirements in Japan. 
At December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings
outstanding on the Japan Commitment-line.

Long-Term Borrowings

Long-term borrowings included the following:

December 31,

2008 2007

6.25% Senior notes due in 2017 $695 $695
2.625% Convertible debentures due in 2035 249 250
Other 2 2

Total long-term borrowings $946 $947

At December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of the 
senior notes and convertible debentures was $655 and
$344, respectively. The fair value for the senior notes 

and convertible debentures was estimated using an 
applicable bond index and market prices at the end of
December 31, 2008.
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Long-Term Notes

In September 2007, the Company issued $700 in aggregate
principal amount of 6.25% senior unsecured notes matur-
ing on September 15, 2017 (the “Notes”). The Notes were
issued at a discount of $6, which is being amortized over
their ten-year term. The Company incurred approximately
$4 in debt issuance costs, which are included in other
assets on the consolidated statements of financial condi-
tion and are being amortized over the term of the Notes.

Convertible Debentures

In February 2005, the Company issued $250 aggregate
principal amount of convertible debentures (the “Deben -
tures”), due in 2035 and bearing interest at a rate of
2.625% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually 
in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, 
and commenced August 15, 2005.

Prior to February 15, 2009, the Debentures may be con-
vertible at the option of the holder at a December 31, 2008
conversion rate of 9.9639 shares of common stock per one
dollar principal amount of Debentures under certain cir-
cumstances. The Debentures will be convertible into cash
and, in some situations as described below, additional
shares of the Company’s common stock, if during the five
business day period after any five consecutive trading day
period the trading price per Debenture for each day of
such period is less than 103% of the product of the last
reported sales price of BlackRock’s common stock and the
conversion rate of the Debentures on each such day or
upon the occurrence of certain other corporate events,
such as a distribution to the holders of BlackRock com-
mon stock of certain rights, assets or debt securities, if
the Company becomes party to a merger, consolidation or
transfer of all or substantially all of its assets or a change
of control of the Company. On and after February 15, 2009,
the Debentures will be convertible into cash at any time
prior to maturity at the option of the holder and, in some
situations as described below, additional shares of the
Company’s common stock at the current conversion rate.

At the time the Debentures are tendered for conversion,
for each one dollar principal amount of Debentures 
converted, a holder shall be entitled to receive cash and
shares of BlackRock common stock, if any, the aggregate
value of which (the “conversion value”) will be determined
by multiplying the applicable conversion rate by the 
average of the daily volume weighted average price of
BlackRock common stock for each of the ten consecutive
trading days beginning on the second trading day immedi-
ately following the day the Debentures are tendered for
conversion (the “ten day weighted average price”). The
Company will deliver the conversion value to holders as
follows: (1) an amount in cash (the “principal return”)
equal to the lesser of (a) the aggregate conversion value 
of the Debentures to be converted and (b) the aggregate
principal amount of the Debentures to be converted, and
(2) if the aggregate conversion value of the Debentures 
to be converted is greater than the principal return, an
amount in shares (the “net shares”), determined as set
forth below, equal to such aggregate conversion value less
the principal return (the “net share amount”). The number
of net shares to be paid will be determined by dividing the
net share amount by the ten-day weighted average price.
In lieu of delivering fractional shares, the Company will
deliver cash based on the ten-day weighted average price.

The conversion rate for the Debentures is subject to
adjustments upon the occurrence of certain corporate
events, such as a change of control of the Company, each
payment of quarterly dividends greater than $0.30 per
share, the issuance of certain rights or warrants to 
holders of, or subdivisions on, BlackRock’s common stock,
a distribution of assets or indebtedness to holders of
BlackRock common stock or a tender offer on the com-
mon stock. The conversion rate adjustments vary depend-
ing upon the specific corporate event necessitating the
adjustment and serve to ensure that any economic gains
realized by the Company’s stockholders are shared with
the holders of the Debentures. The initial conversion rate
of 9.7282 was determined by the underwriters based on
market conditions and has been subsequently revised to
9.9639 as a result of dividends paid by the Company that
were in excess of $0.30 per share.

If the effective date or anticipated effective date of certain
transactions that constitute a change of control occurs 
on or prior to February 15, 2010, under certain circum-
stances, the Company will provide for a make-whole
amount by increasing, for a certain time period, the con-
version rate by a number of additional shares of common
stock for any conversion of Debentures in connection 
with such transactions. The amount of additional shares
will be determined based on the price paid per share of
BlackRock common stock in the transaction constituting 
a change of control and the effective date of such trans -
action. However, if such transaction constitutes a public
acquirer change of control, the Company may elect to
issue shares of the acquiring company rather than
BlackRock shares.

Beginning February 20, 2010, the Company may redeem
any of the Debentures at a redemption price of 100% of
their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
including contingent interest and accrued and unpaid liq-
uidated damages, if any. Holders of the Debentures have
the right to require the Company to repurchase the
Debentures for cash on February 15, 2010, 2015, 2020,
2025 and 2030. In addition, holders of the Debentures may
require the Company to repurchase the Debentures for
cash at a repurchase price equal to 100% of their principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, including con-
tingent interest and accrued and unpaid liquidated dam-
ages, if any, (i) upon a change of control of the Company or
(ii) if BlackRock’s common stock is neither listed for trad-
ing on the New York Stock Exchange nor approved for
trading on the NASDAQ.

The Company is obligated to pay contingent interest, 
which is the amount of interest payable to holders of the
Debentures for any six-month period from February 15 
to August 15 or from August 15 to February 15, with the
initial six-month period commencing February 15, 2010, 
if the trading price of the Debentures for each of the ten
trading days immediately preceding the first day of the
applicable six-month period equals 120% or more of the
principal amount of the Debentures. During any period
when contingent interest is payable, the contingent inter-
est payable per Debenture will equal 0.25% of the average
trading price of the Debentures during the ten trading days
immediately preceding the first day of the applicable six-
month interest period.

On October 16, 2008, the Debentures became convertible
at the option of the holders into cash and shares of the
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Company’s common stock, after the trustee determined
that the trading price for the debentures on each day 
of a five consecutive trading day period was less than
103% of the product of the last reported sale price of 
the Company’s common stock on such date and the 

conversion rate on such date. The conversion period ended
on October 30, 2008 after the Debentures failed to satisfy
the trading price condition on October 24, 2008. During the
conversion period holders of $0.5 of Debentures elected 
to convert their holdings into cash and shares.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

80

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases its primary office space under agree-
ments which expire through 2023. Future minimum com-
mitments under these operating leases are as follows:

Year Amount

2009 $62
2010 58
2011 55
2012 50
2013 47
Thereafter 274

$546

Rent expense and certain office equipment expense under
agreements amounted to $92, $85 and $43 for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The above lease commitments include facilities which 
currently are leased from Merrill Lynch, a related party 
to BlackRock. Future lease commitments on such leases
are $2 in 2009, $1 in 2010, $1 in 2011, $1 in 2012 and $1 
in 2013, and $3 thereafter.

Commitments

Investment / Loan Commitments

The Company has certain investment and loan commit-
ments relating primarily to real estate products, hedge
funds, funds of private equity funds and a warehouse entity
established for certain private equity funds of funds. Dates
shown below represent the expiration dates of the com-
mitments. Amounts to be funded generally are callable 
at any point prior to the expiration of the commitment. 
The Company has the following unfunded investment and
loan commitments at December 31, 2008:

Year of Expiration Amount

2009 $9
2010 49
2011 16
2012 1
2013 34
Thereafter 192

Total $301

Contingencies

Contingent Payments Related to Business Acquisitions

On October 1, 2007, the Company acquired the fund 
of funds business of Quellos (See Note 3). Quellos may 
be entitled to receive two contingent payments upon
achieving certain investment advisory revenue measures

through December 31, 2010, totaling up to an additional
$969 in a combination of cash and stock. The first contin-
gent payment, of up to $374, is payable in 2009, up to 25%
in BlackRock common stock and the remainder in cash.
The second contingent payment, of up to $595, is payable
in cash in 2011. Quellos may also be entitled to a “catch-
up” payment if certain performance measures are met in
2011 to the extent that the value of the first contingent
payment is less than $374.

In connection with the Impact Investing acquisition, the
Company may be required to make several additional 
contingent payments upon completion of certain operating
measures through 2010, totaling up to $12. Currently, 
the payments are anticipated to be recorded as employee
compensation.

On January 31, 2005, the Company closed the acquisition
of SSR, the holding company of State Street Research &
Management Company and SSR Realty Advisors, Inc.
(renamed BlackRock Realty Advisors, Inc., “Realty”), from
MetLife, Inc. (“MetLife”) for an adjusted purchase price of
$265 in cash and 550,000 shares of BlackRock restricted
common stock. The stock purchase agreement provides
for two contingent payments. For the first contingent pay-
ment, MetLife received 32.5% of performance fees earned,
as of March 31, 2006, from a large institutional real estate
client. In 2006, the Company incurred and paid a fee shar-
ing expense of $34 related to this arrangement. For the
second contingent payment, on the fifth anniversary of the
closing of the SSR Transaction, MetLife may receive an
additional payment up to a maximum of $10 based on the
Company’s retained AUM associated with the MetLife
defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

Capital Support Agreements

In December 2007, BlackRock entered into capital support
agreements with two enhanced cash funds. Pursuant to
the capital support agreements, BlackRock has agreed 
to make subsequent capital contributions to the funds to
cover realized losses, up to $100, related to specified
securities held by the two enhanced cash funds. The 
terms of the capital support agreements were renewed 
in December 2008 to cover realized losses up to $45 and
will expire at the end of each calendar month unless
renewed by BlackRock. In January 2009, one capital 
support agreement was terminated, due to the closure of
the related funds, leaving only one capital support agree-
ment, with a total $20 potential obligation, outstanding.

Other Contingent Payments

The Company acts as the portfolio manager in a series of
credit default swap transactions and has a maximum
potential exposure of $17 under a credit default swap
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between the Company and Citibank. See Note 7 for further
discussion of this transaction and the related commitment.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, BlackRock receives subpoenas or other
requests for information from various U.S. federal, state
governmental and regulatory authorities in connection
with certain industry-wide or other investigations or 
proceedings. It is BlackRock’s policy to fully cooperate
with such inquiries. The Company and certain of its sub-
sidiaries have been named as defendants in various legal
actions, including arbitrations and other litigation arising
in connection with BlackRock’s activities. Additionally, 
certain of the investment funds that the Company man-
ages are subject to lawsuits, any of which could potentially
harm the investment returns of the applicable fund or
result in the Company being liable to the funds for any
resulting damages.

Management, after consultation with legal counsel, 
currently does not anticipate that the aggregate liability, 
if any, arising out of regulatory matters or lawsuits will
have a material adverse effect on BlackRock’s earnings,
financial position, or cash flows although, at the present
time, management is not in a position to determine
whether any such pending or threatened matters will 
have a material adverse effect on BlackRock’s results 
of operations in any future reporting period.

Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business, BlackRock enters into
contracts pursuant to which it may agree to indemnify
third parties in certain circumstances. The terms of these
indemnities vary from contract to contract and the amount
of indemnification liability, if any, cannot be determined.

Under the Transaction Agreement in the MLIM Trans action,
the Company has agreed to indemnify Merrill Lynch for
losses it may incur arising from (1) any alleged or actual
breach, failure to comply, violation or other deficiency 
with respect to any regulatory or fiduciary requirements 
relating to the operation of BlackRock’s business, (2) any 
fees or expenses incurred or owed by BlackRock to any
brokers, financial advisors or comparable other persons
retained or employed by BlackRock in connection 
with the MLIM Transaction, and (3) certain specified 
tax covenants.

Management believes that the likelihood of any liability
arising under these indemnification provisions is remote.
Management cannot estimate any potential maximum
exposure due both to the remoteness of any potential
claims and the fact that items that would be included
within any such calculated claim would be beyond 
the control of BlackRock. Consequently, no liability 
has been recorded on the consolidated statements of
financial condition.
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13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The components of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense are comprised of the following:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Stock-based compensation:
Restricted stock and RSUs $209 $122 $48
Stock options 10 13 13
Long-term incentive plans funded by PNC 59 53 50
ESPP and other — — 9

Total stock-based compensation $278 $188 $120

Stock Award and Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the BlackRock, Inc. 1999 Stock Award and
Incentive Plan (the “Award Plan”), options to purchase
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price not less than the market value of BlackRock’s 
common stock on the date of grant in the form of stock
options, restricted stock or RSUs may be granted to
employees and non-employee directors. A maximum 
of 17,000,000 shares of common stock are authorized 
for issuance under the Award Plan. Of this amount,
4,381,646 shares remain available for future awards 
at December 31, 2008. Upon exercise of employee stock
options, the issuance of restricted stock or the vesting of

RSUs, the Company issues shares out of treasury, to the
extent available.

Stock Options

Stock option grants were made to certain employees pur-
suant to the Award Plan in 1999 through 2003. Options
granted have a ten-year life, vest ratably over periods
ranging from two to five years and become exercisable
upon vesting. Prior to the January 2007 grant described
below, the Company had not granted any stock options
since 2003. Stock option activity for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is summarized below.
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On January 31, 2007, the Company awarded options to
purchase 1,545,735 shares of BlackRock common stock 
to certain executives as long-term incentive compensation.
The options vest on September 29, 2011, provided that 
the Company has actual GAAP earnings per share of at
least $5.20 in 2009, $5.52 in 2010 or $5.85 in 2011 or has
attained an alternative performance hurdle based on the
Company’s earnings per share growth rate versus certain
peers over the term of the awards. The options have a
strike price of $167.76, which was the closing price of the
shares on the grant date. Fair value, as calculated in
accordance with a modified Black-Scholes model, was
approximately $45.88 per option. The fair value of the
options is being amortized over the vesting period as
exceeding the performance hurdles was deemed probable
of occurring.

Assumptions used in calculating the grant-date fair 
value for the stock options issued in January 2007 were 
as follows:

Exercise price $167.76
Expected term (years) 7.335
Expected volatility 24.5%
Dividend yield 1.0%-4.44%
Risk-Free interest rate 4.8%

The Company’s expected option term was derived using
the mathematical average between the earliest vesting
date and the option expiration date in accordance with SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The Company’s expected
stock volatility assumption was based upon historical
stock price fluctuations of BlackRock’s common stock. 
The dividend yield assumption was derived using esti-
mated dividends over the expected term and the stock
price at the date of grant. The risk free interest rate 
is based on the U.S. Treasury yield at date of grant.

The year 2008 included a cumulative adjustment to the
estimated forfeiture rate for unvested stock options as a
result of additional data on actual forfeiture activity.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $32 in 
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related
to unvested stock options. The unrecognized compensa-
tion cost is expected to be recognized over a remaining
weighted-average period of 2.8 years.

Restricted Stock and RSUs

Pursuant to the Award Plan, restricted stock grants and
RSUs may be granted to certain employees. Restricted
stock was issued for stock awards prior to 2006. RSUs
were issued for the majority of grants in 2006, 2007 and

Shares under Weighted average 
Outstanding at option exercise price

December 31, 2005 4,577,641 $36.81
Exercised (113,572) $33.23
Forfeited (6,400) $37.36

December 31, 2006 4,457,669 $36.90
Granted 1,545,735 $167.76
Exercised (1,899,239) $36.96
Forfeited (3,000) $37.36

December 31, 2007 4,101,165 $86.19
Exercised (662,013) $36.36
Forfeited (298,635) $167.76

December 31, 2008(1) 3,140,517 $88.82
(1) At December 31, 2008, approximately 3.1 million awards were vested or are expected to vest.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$113, $268 and $12, respectively.

Stock options outstanding and exercisable at December
31, 2008 are as follows:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Aggregate
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted intrinsic

average average average average value of 
Exercise Options remaining exercise Options exercise remaining exercisable

prices outstanding life price exercisable price life shares

(per share) (years) (years)

$14.00 80,636 0.75 $14.00 80,636 $14.00 0.75 $9,688
$37.36 1,603,781 3.79 $37.36 1,603,781 $37.36 3.79 155,230
$43.31 212,000 1.96 $43.31 212,000 $43.31 1.96 19,258

$167.76 1,244,100 8.09 $167.76 — — — — 

3,140,517 5.29 $88.82 1,896,417 $37.03 3.45 $184,176
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The Company values restricted stock and RSUs at their
grant-date fair value as measured by BlackRock’s 
common stock price. In January 2006, the Company 
issued approximately 299,400 RSUs to certain employees
at a total fair value of approximately $34. The awards 
vest evenly over three years. In November 2006, the
Company granted approximately 1,013,600 RSUs, which
vest after five years as incentive awards to former MLIM
employees remaining with BlackRock after the closing 
of the MLIM Transaction.

On January 25, 2007, the Company issued approximately
901,200 RSUs to employees in conjunction with their
annual incentive compensation awards. The RSU awards
vest over three years through January 2010. The value 
of the RSUs was calculated using BlackRock’s closing
stock price on the date of grant, or $169.70. The grant 
date fair value of the RSUs is being amortized into earn-
ings on the straight-line method over the requisite service
period, net of expected forfeitures, for each separately
vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in sub-
stance, multiple awards. In addition, in January 2007, 
the Company granted 1,559,022 of RSUs as long-term
incentive compensation, which will be funded by shares
currently held by PNC.

In January 2008 and 2009, the Company granted 295,633
and 23,417 RSUs, respectively, as long-term incentive
compensation, which will be partially funded by shares
currently held by PNC (see Long-Term Incentive Plans

Funded by PNC below). The awards cliff vest five years 
from the date of grant.

In January 2008 and 2009, the Company granted 1,212,759
and 1,789,685 RSUs, respectively, to employees as part of
annual incentive compensation under the Award Plan that
vest ratably over three years from the date of grant.

At December 31, 2008, there was $403 of total unrecog-
nized compensation cost related to unvested restricted
stock and RSUs. The unrecognized compensation cost is
expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted 
average period of 2.5 years.

Long-Term Incentive Plans Funded by PNC

Under a share surrender agreement, PNC committed to
provide up to 4,000,000 shares of BlackRock stock, held 
by PNC, to fund certain BlackRock long-term incentive
plans (“LTIP”).

The BlackRock, Inc. 2002 Long-Term Retention and
Incentive Plan (the “2002 LTIP Awards”) permitted the
grant of up to $240 in deferred compensation awards, 
of which the Company previously granted approximately
$233. Approximately $208 of the 2002 LTIP Awards were
paid in January 2007. The 2002 LTIP Awards were payable
approximately 16.7% in cash and the remainder in
BlackRock stock contributed by PNC and distributed 
to plan participants. Approximately $11 of previously
issued 2002 LTIP Awards will result in the settlement of
BlackRock shares held by PNC through 2010 at a conver-
sion price approximating the market price on the settle-
ment date. The fair value of the remaining 2002 LTIP
Awards are accrued prior to settlement over the remaining
service period in accrued compensation and benefits on
the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The settlement of the 2002 LTIP Awards in January 2007
resulted in the surrender by PNC of approximately
1,000,000 shares of BlackRock stock. Under the terms of
the 2002 LTIP Awards, employees elected to put approxi-
mately 95% of the stock portion of the awards back to the
Company at a total fair market value of approximately
$166. On the payment date, the Company recorded a 
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Unvested Weighted
restricted average
stock and grant date 

Outstanding at units fair value

December 31, 2005 291,648 $71.30
Granted 1,341,975 $137.97
Converted (113,456) $68.15
Forfeited (4,277) $113.13

December 31, 2006 1,515,890 $130.49
Granted 2,551,913 $167.64
Converted (274,164) $104.15
Forfeited (84,631) $159.95

December 31, 2007 3,709,008 $158.01
Granted 1,618,161 $201.80
Converted (468,046) $146.69
Forfeited (255,170) $163.64

December 31, 2008(1) 4,603,953 $174.24
(1) At December 31, 2008, approximately 4.4 million awards are expected to vest.

2008. These restricted shares and RSUs vest over periods
ranging from one to five years and are expensed on the
straight-line method over the requisite service period 
for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the
award was, in-substance, multiple awards. Dividend 

equivalents on restricted stock and RSUs are paid to
employees based on the dividend payment date.

Restricted stock and RSU activity for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is summarized below:
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capital contribution from PNC for the amount of shares
funded by PNC. For the shares not put back to the
Company, no dilution resulted from the delivery of stock
pursuant to the awards since they were funded by shares
held by PNC and were issued and outstanding at Decem -
ber 31, 2006. Put elections made by employees were
accounted for as treasury stock repurchases and are
accretive to the Company’s earnings per share. The 
shares repurchased were retained as treasury stock.

During 2007, the Company granted additional long-term
incentive awards, out of the Award Plan, of approximately
1,600,000 RSUs, that will be settled using BlackRock
shares held by PNC in accordance with the share surren-
der agreement. The RSU awards vest on September 29,
2011 provided that BlackRock has actual GAAP earnings
per share of at least $5.20 in 2009, $5.52 in 2010 or $5.85
in 2011 or has attained an alternative performance hurdle
based on the Company’s earnings per share growth rate
versus certain peers over the term of the awards. The
value of the RSUs was calculated using BlackRock’s clos-
ing stock price on the date of grant. The grant date fair
value of the RSUs is being amortized as an expense on 
the straight-line method over the vesting period, net of
expected forfeitures. The maximum value of awards that
may be funded by PNC, prior to the earlier of Septem-
ber 29, 2011 or the date the performance criteria are 
met is approximately $271, all of which has been granted
as of December 31, 2008.

Subsequent to September 29, 2011, the remaining com-
mitted PNC shares, of approximately 1,400,000, would be
available for future long-term incentive awards.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Through August 2006, the terms of the BlackRock
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) allowed eligible
employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock at 85% of the lesser of fair market value on the first
or last day of each six-month offering period. Eligible
employees could not purchase more than 500 shares of
common stock in any six-month offering period. In addi-
tion, for any calendar year in which the option to purchase
shares is outstanding, Section 423(b)(8) of the Internal
Revenue Code restricts an ESPP participant from purchas-
ing more than $25 thousand worth of common stock based
on its fair market value. The Company used the fair value
method of measuring compensation cost pursuant to SFAS
No. 123 and incurred ESPP-related compensation expense
of approximately $1 during the year ended December 31,
2006. The ESPP was suspended in August 2006 and
amended effective January 2007.

Effective January 2007, the terms of the amended ESPP
allow eligible employees to purchase the Company’s com-
mon stock at 95% of the fair market value on the last day
of each three-month offering period. In accordance with
SFAS No. 123R, the Company will not record compensation
expense related to employees purchasing shares under
the amended ESPP.

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Involuntary Deferred Compensation Plan

Effective January 2002, the Company adopted an Involuntary
Deferred Compensation Plan (“IDCP”) for the purpose of
providing deferred compensation and retention incentives to
key officers and employees. The IDCP provided for a manda-
tory deferral of up to 15% of annual incentive compensation.
For annual incentive awards for fiscal years prior to 2005,
the mandatory deferral was matched by BlackRock in an
amount equal to 20% of the deferral for employees with
total compensation above certain levels. The matching 
contribution related to the mandatory deferral vests on the
third anniversary of the deferral date. The Company funds
the obligation through a rabbi trust established on behalf of
the participants in the plan. No mandatory deferrals under
the IDCP have been made since the annual incentive awards
for fiscal year 2004.

During 2008, the IDCP was liquidated and all assets were
distributed to the existing participants.

Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan

Effective January 2002, the Company adopted a Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Plan (“VDCP”) which allows par-
ticipants to elect to defer between 1% and 100% of that
portion of the employee’s annual incentive compensation
not mandatorily deferred under the IDCP or the Company’s
RSUs. The participants must specify a deferral period 
of one, three, five or ten years. The Company funds the

obligation through the establishment of a rabbi trust on
behalf of the participants in the plan.

Rabbi Trust

The rabbi trust established for the IDCP and VDCP, with
assets totaling $49 and $67 as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, is reflected in investments on the
Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.
Such investments are classified as trading and other
investments. The corresponding liability balance of $41
and $60 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 is reflected 
in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial
condition as accrued compensation and benefits. Earnings
in the rabbi trust, including unrealized appreciation or
depreciation, are reflected as non-operating income or
loss and changes in the corresponding liability are
reflected as employee compensation and benefits expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Defined Benefit Plans

Certain employees of the Company participate in PNC’s
non-contributory defined benefit pension plan. Effective
July 1, 2004, PNC froze all accrued benefits related to
BlackRock participants under this plan and closed this plan
to new BlackRock participants. Effective September 29,
2006, the Company paid PNC $2 to assume all future 
liabilities under the Plan. BlackRock recorded pension
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expenses related to this plan of $0, $0 and $1 for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Through the MLIM Transaction, the Company assumed
several defined benefit pension plans in Japan, Germany,
Luxembourg and Jersey. All accrued benefits under these
defined benefit plans are currently frozen and the plans
are closed to new participants. In 2008 the defined benefit
pension values in Luxembourg were transferred into a new
defined contribution plan for such employees, removing
future liabilities. Otherwise, participant benefits under the
plans will not change with salary increases or additional
years of service. The liabilities assumed under these plans
were recorded as part of the purchase price allocation for
the MLIM Transaction (see Note 3) and are immaterial to
the Company’s 2008 and 2007 consolidated statements of
financial condition.

Pension benefit costs for the State Street Research &
Management Retirement Plan (“SSRM Plan”) are developed
from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are
key assumptions, including the discount rate and expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets. Material changes
in pension benefit costs may occur in the future due to
changes in these assumptions, changes in the number of
plan participants and changes in plan asset levels.

Effective July 1, 2007, the Company terminated the SSRM
Plan. Upon termination of the SSRM Plan, participants
were eligible to elect to receive a distribution of their
bene fits in the form of a one-time lump sum payment or
an annuity, to be purchased from an insurer at market
rates. Additional costs of termination were not material 
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
The Company made a final contribution in connection 
with the termination of the SSRM Plan in the third quarter
of 2008 of approximately $1 and distributed the remaining
assets in the third quarter of 2008.

Defined Contribution Plans

Until September 30, 2006, the Company’s employees par-
ticipated in PNC’s Incentive Savings Plan (“ISP”), a defined
contribution plan. Under the ISP, employee contributions
of up to 6% of eligible compensation, as defined by the
plan and subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations,
were matched by the Company at 100%. Effective in
October 2006, the Company established the BlackRock
Retirement Savings Plan (“BRSP”). Active employee
accounts in the ISP were transferred directly to the BRSP
in October 2006. Under the BRSP, employee contributions
of up to 6% of eligible compensation, as defined by the
plan and subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, are
matched by the Company at 50%. As part of the BRSP, the
Company also will make an annual retirement contribution
on behalf of each eligible participant equal to no less than
3% of eligible compensation, plus an additional amount,
determined in the discretion of the Company, not to exceed
2% of eligible compensation for a total contribution of no
more than 5% of eligible compensation. The BRSP and ISP
expense for the Company was $53, $31, and $11 for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. Contributions to the ISP were matched by shares of
BlackRock’s common stock in 2006. 500,000 shares of
BlackRock’s common stock have been reserved for the
ISP, of which approximately 493,000 shares have been
issued as of December 31, 2008. Contributions to the

BRSP are made in cash. Investments in BlackRock stock
were transferred from the ISP to the BRSP; however, no
new investments in BlackRock stock or matching contri-
butions of stock are available in the BRSP.

BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited (“BIM”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, contributes 
to the BlackRock Group Personal Pension Plan a defined
contribution plan for all employees of BIM. BIM con-
tributes between 6% and 15% of each employee’s 
eligible compensation.

The Company assumed two 401(k) Plans covering 
employees of SSR and Realty (the “Research Plan” 
and “Realty Plan,” respectively) as a result of the SSR
Transaction. Effective with the closing of the SSR
Transaction, contributions ceased for all participants in
the Research Plan and selected participants in the Realty
Plan and the Research Plan was closed to new partici-
pants. All participants for which contributions ceased in
either the Research Plan or Realty Plan, participated in
the ISP through September 30, 2006 and became partici-
pants of the BRSP thereafter. For all employees who were
active participants in the Realty Plan, employee contribu-
tions of up to 3% of eligible compensation, as well as an
additional 50% of the next 2% of eligible compensation,
subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, were
matched by the Company.

Effective November 1, 2007, the Company merged the
assets of the Research Plan and select participant
accounts of the Realty Plan into the BRSP.

Deferred Compensation Plans

SSR and Realty have deferred compensation plans 
(collectively, the “SSR New Plan”) which allowed partici-
pants to elect to defer a portion of their annual incentive
compensation or commissions for either a fixed term or
until retirement and invest the funds in specified invest-
ments. SSR has funded a portion of the obligation through
the purchase of company-owned life insurance (“COLI”)
policies to the benefit of SSR. The COLI assets are carried
at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial
condition, and at December 31, 2008, the value of the COLI
assets was $8 and was recorded in other assets. Changes
in the cash surrender value of the COLI policies are
recorded to non-operating income in the consolidated
statements of income. In addition, the Company has
recorded a related obligation to repay the deferred incen-
tive compensation, plus applicable earnings, to employees,
which totaled $9 and was recorded in accrued compensa-
tion and benefits on the consolidated statement of finan-
cial condition as of December 31, 2008. Changes in the
Company’s obligation under the SSR New Plan, as a 
result of appreciation of the underlying investments in 
an employee’s account, are recorded as compensation 
and benefits expense in the consolidated statements 
of income. Effective March 2004 the SSR New Plan no
longer allowed participants to defer a portion of their
annual incentive compensation or commissions.

Prior to 2003, SSR sponsored a deferred compensation
plan (the “SSR Old Plan”) under which eligible participants
could defer annual incentive compensation and commis-
sions for either a fixed term or until retirement. Obliga -
tions under this plan were funded through split-dollar life
insurance policies acquired by SSR to the benefit of the

85

177528_TXT_59_96:Layout 1  3/26/09  10:32 PM  Page 85



respective participant. SSR is entitled to the return of any
premium paid by the Company and, as such, premiums
paid are recorded by SSR as a receivable from the partici-
pant. At the end of a participant’s deferral period, all
amounts advanced by SSR under the SSR Old Plan will 
be applied first against the obligation to repay premiums
advanced by SSR, with any remaining value accruing to the
benefit of the employee. All obligations under the SSR Old
Plan are convertible to obligations under the SSR New
Plan at the election of the participant at the respective
insurance policy’s cash surrender value. At December 31,
2008, the receivables from employees and obligations
under the SSR Old Plan were $1.

Post-Retirement Benefits

Until December 31, 2006, PNC provided certain post-
retirement health care and life insurance benefits for 
certain eligible employees. As of December 31, 2006, the
Company transferred all future liability under this plan to
PNC for $2. Expenses for post-retirement benefits allo-
cated to the Company by PNC were $1 for the year ended
December 31, 2006. No separate financial obligation data
for the Company is available with respect to such plan.

In addition, in conjunction with the MLIM Transaction 
the Company assumed a requirement to deliver post-
retirement medical benefits to a closed population 
based in the United Kingdom. For the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, expenses for these
benefits were immaterial to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Determination of Related Parties

As a result of the MLIM Transaction (see Note 3 for further
discussion), Merrill Lynch acquired approximately 49.3% of
the total capital stock of BlackRock on a fully diluted basis.
The Company has considered Merrill Lynch, along with 
its affiliates, a related party in accordance with SFAS 
No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, since the closing of the
MLIM Transaction based on its level of ownership. At
December 31, 2008, Merrill Lynch owned approximately
44.2% of the Company’s voting common stock and held
approximately 48.2% of the total capital stock on a fully
diluted basis.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
the Company considered PNC, along with its affiliates, to
be related parties based on their collective ownership of
BlackRock capital stock of approximately 69% through
September 29, 2006. At December 31, 2008, PNC owned
approximately 36.5% of the Company’s voting common
stock on a fully diluted basis.

In connection with the closing of the SSR Transaction 
in January 2005, MetLife was issued 550,000 shares of
restricted BlackRock common stock (see Note 12 for 
further discussion). The Company has considered MetLife
a related party since January 2005 because of this level of
ownership and because of the significance of the revenue
earned by BlackRock from MetLife. Subsequent to the
MLIM Transaction, however, MetLife’s ownership interest
in the Company has decreased to less than 1% of the
Company’s total capital stock and the revenue earned by
BlackRock from MetLife has decreased as a percentage 
of the Company’s total revenue due to the significant
increase in the Company’s revenue. Consequently, the
Company has not considered MetLife to be a related party
since December 31, 2006.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company 
considered Nomura to be a related party because the
Company and Nomura were joint venture partners, each
holding a 50% interest in NBAM, and as a result of the 
significance of revenues earned by the Company from
Nomura. On September 29, 2006, the Company purchased
Nomura’s 50% interest in NBAM (see Note 3 for additional
information) and the Company’s revenue increased signifi-
cantly as a result of the MLIM Transaction. Consequently,
the Company has not considered Nomura to be a related
party since December 31, 2006.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
the Company considers its mutual funds to be related 
parties as a result of the Company’s advisory relationship.
In addition, equity method investments are considered
related parties due to the Company’s influence over the
financial and operating policies of the investee.

Investment Advisory and Administration Fees 
from Related Parties

The Company provides investment advisory and adminis-
tration services to its open and closed-end funds and other
commingled or pooled funds and separate accounts in
which related parties invest. In addition, the Company 
provides investment advisory and administration services
to certain Merrill Lynch subsidiaries, PNC subsidiaries,
MetLife sponsored variable annuities and separate
accounts and Nomura and its affiliates for a fee based 
on AUM. Further, the Company provides risk management
services to PNC.

Revenues for services provided by the Company to these
and other related parties are as follows.
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Certain Agreements and Arrangements with Merrill Lynch

Global Distribution Agreement

On September 29, 2006, BlackRock entered into a global
distribution agreement with Merrill Lynch. The global dis-
tribution agreement provides a framework under which
Merrill Lynch provides portfolio administration and servic-
ing of client investments in certain BlackRock investment
advisory products (including those of the former MLIM
Business). Pursuant to the global distribution agreement,
Merrill Lynch has agreed to cause each of its distributors
to continue distributing BlackRock covered products and
covered products of the former MLIM Business that it 
distributed as of February 15, 2006 on the same economic
terms as were in effect on February 15, 2006 or as the par-
ties otherwise agree. For new covered products introduced
by BlackRock to Merrill Lynch for distribution that do not
fall within an existing category, type or platform of covered
products distributed by Merrill Lynch, the Merrill Lynch
distributors must be offered the most favorable economic
terms offered by BlackRock to other distributors of the
same product. If a covered product that does not fall within
an existing category, type or platform of covered products
distributed by Merrill Lynch becomes part of a group or
program of similar products distributed by the Merrill
Lynch distributors, some of which are sponsored by man-
agers other than BlackRock, the economic terms offered
by Merrill Lynch distributors to BlackRock for the distribu-
tion of such covered products must be at least as favorable
as the most favorable economic terms to which any such
product is entitled.

July 2008 Changes to Stockholder and 

Global Distribution Agreements

In July 2008, the Company entered into an amended and
restated stockholder agreement and an amended and
restated global distribution agreement with Merrill Lynch.

These changes to the stockholder agreement with Merrill
Lynch, among other items, (i) provide Merrill Lynch with
additional flexibility to form or acquire asset managers
substantially all of the business of which is devoted to 
non-traditional investment management strategies such
as short selling, leverage, arbitrage, specialty finance and
quantitatively-driven structured trades; (ii) expand the 
definition of change in control of Merrill Lynch to include
the disposition of two-thirds or more of its Global Private
Client business; (iii) extend the general termination date 
to the later of July 16, 2013 or the date Merrill Lynch’s
beneficial ownership of BlackRock voting securities falls
below 20%; and (iv) clarify certain other provisions in 
the agreement.

The changes in the global distribution agreement in rela-
tion to the prior agreement, among other things, (i) provide
for an extension of the term to five years from the date of a
change in control of Merrill Lynch (to January 1, 2014 fol-
lowing Bank of America’s acquisition of Merrill Lynch) and
one automatic 3-year extension if certain conditions are
satisfied; (ii) strengthen the obligations of Merrill Lynch to
achieve revenue neutrality across the range of BlackRock
products distributed by Merrill Lynch if the pricing or
structure of particular products is required to be changed;
(iii) obligate Merrill Lynch to seek to obtain distribution
arrangements for BlackRock products from buyers of any
portion of its distribution business on the same terms as
the global distribution agreement for a period of at least 
3 years; and (iv) restrict the manner in which products
managed by alternative asset managers in which Merrill
Lynch has an interest may be distributed by Merrill Lynch.

The total amount expensed by BlackRock during 2008 and
2007 relating to Merrill Lynch portfolio administration and
servicing of products covered by the global distribution
agreement, including mutual funds, separate accounts,
liquidity funds, alternative investments and insurance
products, was approximately $456 and $437, respectively.
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Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Investment advisory and administration fees:
Merrill Lynch and affiliates $75 $89 $20
PNC and affiliates 8 9 13
MetLife and affiliates — — 62
Nomura and affiliates — — 6
Anthracite Capital, Inc. 14 — —
Mutual funds/Equity method investees 2,864 2,542 764

Total investment advisory and administration fees 2,961 2,640 865

BlackRock Solutions and advisory:
Merrill Lynch and affiliates 7 5 1
PNC and affiliates 11 5 5
Other 20 1 —

Total BlackRock Solutions and advisory 38 11 6

Other revenue:
Merrill Lynch and affiliates 4 11 1
PNC and affiliates — — 1
Other 3 1 —

Total other revenue 7 12 2

Total revenue from related parties $3,006 $2,663 $873
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Exchange Agreements with Merrill Lynch and PNC

On January 1, 2009, Bank of America acquired Merrill
Lynch. In connection with this transaction, BlackRock
entered into exchange agreements with each of Merrill
Lynch and PNC pursuant to which each agreed to
exchange a portion of the BlackRock common stock it held
for an equal number of shares of non-voting participating
preferred stock. Merrill Lynch exchanged (i) 49,865,000
shares of BlackRock’s common stock for a like number of
shares of BlackRock’s series B non-voting participating
preferred stock, and (ii) 12,604,918 shares of BlackRock’s
series A preferred stock for a like number of shares of
series B preferred stock. PNC exchanged (i) 17,872,000
shares of BlackRock’s common stock for a like number of
shares of series B preferred stock and (ii) 2,889,647 shares
of BlackRock’s common stock for a like number of shares
of BlackRock’s Series C non-voting participating preferred
stock. Following the closing of these exchanges on
February 27, 2009, Merrill Lynch owned approximately
4.9% of BlackRock’s voting stock, and PNC owned approxi-
mately 46.5% of BlackRock’s voting stock. The capital
stock held by Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and PNC in
BlackRock remained largely unchanged at approximately
47.4% and 31.5% on a fully diluted basis, respectively.

The series B non-voting participating preferred stock:

• is non-voting except as otherwise provided by 
applicable law;

• participates in dividends, on a basis generally equal 
to the common stock;

• grants the holder the right to receive dividends in 
common stock (subject to applicable ownership 
restrictions) or in cash;

• benefits from a liquidation preference of $0.01 per
share; and

• is mandatorily convertible to BlackRock common stock
upon transfer to an unrelated party.

The series C non-voting participating preferred stock:

• is non-voting except as otherwise provided by 
applicable law;

• participates in dividends, on a basis generally equal 
to the common stock;

• grants the holder the right to receive dividends in com-
mon stock (subject to applicable ownership restrictions)
or in cash;

• benefits from a liquidation preference of $40.00 per
share; and

• is only convertible to BlackRock common stock upon 
the termination of the obligations of PNC under its
share surrender agreement with BlackRock.

Other Agreements

On September 29, 2006, BlackRock entered into a 
transition services agreement with Merrill Lynch and 
its controlled affiliates to allow BlackRock to transition
from relying on Merrill Lynch for various functions for 
the former MLIM business and to allow Merrill Lynch 
to transition from relying on the former MLIM Business 

for various functions. The pricing for such services is
required to be consistent with historical practices. The
total amount expensed by BlackRock for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 relating to the transi-
tion services agreement with Merrill Lynch was approxi-
mately $1, $5 and $6, respectively.

In connection with the MLIM Transaction, Merrill Lynch
has agreed that it will provide reimbursement to BlackRock
for employee incentive awards issued to former MLIM
employees who became BlackRock employees subsequent
to the MLIM Transaction. Reimbursements will amount 
to 50% of the total amount of awards to former MLIM
employees between $100 and $200. The Company is 
entitled to invoice Merrill Lynch following its determination 
of the portion of awards entitled to reimbursement for 
a given calendar year. Through January 2007, the Company
had issued total eligible incentive compensation to quali-
fied employees in excess of $200 per year and intends 
to seek reimbursement from Merrill Lynch for an appro-
priate portion of these awards. Contributions made by
Merrill Lynch will be recorded as capital contributions
when received.

Effective September 29, 2006, the Company leases certain
office buildings from Merrill Lynch. The lease agreements
expire by 2018. Rent expense of $5, $18 and $4 for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, was recorded related to office buildings leased from
Merrill Lynch.

Merrill Lynch and certain of its affiliates have been
engaged by the Company to provide recordkeeping, admin-
istration and trustee services to the BRSP. The compensa-
tion to Merrill Lynch and its affiliates for these services
paid by the Company was not material.

Termination of Closed-End Fund and 
Servicing Arrangements

On September 28, 2007, the Company insourced certain
closed-end fund administration and servicing arrange-
ments in place with Merrill Lynch. In connection with this
insourcing, the Company terminated 40 agreements with
Merrill Lynch with original terms ranging from 30 to 
40 years and made a one-time payment to Merrill Lynch 
of $128 on October 31, 2007. The payment is reported 
as “termination of closed-end fund administration and
servicing arrangements” on the consolidated statement 
of income. As a result of these terminations, Merrill Lynch
was discharged of any further duty to provide the ser-
vices and BlackRock was discharged from any further 
payment obligation.

Certain Agreements and Arrangements with MetLife

During 2006, the Company incurred a fee sharing payment
of $34 payable to MetLife based upon certain contractual
arrangements entered into in conjunction with the SSR
Transaction. See Note 12 for further information.

Aggregate Expenses for Transactions with Related Parties

Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated state-
ments of income for transactions with related parties are
as follows.
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Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Expenses with related parties:
Portfolio administration and servicing costs

Merrill Lynch and affiliates $464 $444 $96
PNC and affiliates 30 23 24
Other 1 3 6

495 470 126
General and administration

Merrill Lynch and affiliates 13 48 11
PNC and affiliates — — 2
MetLife and affiliates — — 4
Support of two private sponsored enhanced cash funds 10 36 —
Other mutual fund related 21 9 1

44 93 18
Termination of closed-end fund administration and servicing 

arrangements with Merrill Lynch — 128 —
Fee sharing payment—MetLife — — 34

Total expenses with related parties $539 $691 $178
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Receivables and Payables with Related Parties

Due from related parties was $309 and $175 at Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and primarily 
represented receivables for investment advisory and
administration services provided by BlackRock, and loan
receivables and unsettled redemptions from a warehouse
entity established to launch certain private equity funds
and Anthracite Capital, Inc. (“Anthracite”) (see below)
managed by BlackRock. Due from related parties at
December 31, 2008 included $200 and $40 in loan receiv-
ables and unsettled redemptions, respectively, from 
certain investment products and $20 in receivables from
Merrill Lynch and PNC. Due from related parties at
December 31, 2007 included $80 in loan receivables from
certain investment products, $15 in receivables from PNC
and $43 in receivables from Merrill Lynch and affiliates.

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2008 and 2007
includes $253 and $388, respectively, related to receiv-
ables from BlackRock mutual funds for investment 
advisory and administration services.

Due to related parties was $103 and $114 at December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively, including $78 payable to
Merrill Lynch and $5 payable to PNC and its affiliates at

December 31, 2008. Due to related parties as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007 included $96 payable to Merrill Lynch and 
its affiliates and $3 payable to PNC and its affiliates. 
The payable to Merrill Lynch and its affiliates primarily
includes acquired payables and accrued liabilities under
the global distribution agreement and the transition 
services agreement. The payable to PNC and its affiliates
represents fund administration and servicing costs.

Loan Commitment with Anthracite

At December 31, 2008, the Company was committed to
provide financing of up to $60, until March 2010, to
Anthracite, a specialty commercial real estate finance
company that is managed by a subsidiary of BlackRock.
The financing is collateralized by Anthracite pledging its
ownership interest in an investment fund which is also
managed by a subsidiary of BlackRock. At December 31,
2008, $30 of financing was outstanding, which matures 
in 2009 at an interest rate of 6.02% and which was
included in due from related parties on the Company’s
consolidated statement of financial condition. Subsequent
to December 31, 2008, Anthracite borrowed an additional
$3.5, which matures in April 2009 at a current interest 
rate of 4.76%.

16. NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Company is required to maintain net capital in certain
jurisdictions, which is met in part by retaining cash and
cash equivalent investments in those jurisdictions. As a
result, the Company may be restricted in its ability to
transfer cash between different jurisdictions. Additionally,
transfer of cash between international jurisdictions,
including repatriation to the United States, may have
adverse tax consequences that could discourage such
transfers. At December 31, 2008, the Company was

required to maintain approximately $172 in net capital at
these subsidiaries and was in compliance with all applica-
ble regulatory minimum net capital requirements.

BlackRock Investments, Inc. and BlackRock Capital
Markets LLC, are registered broker-dealers and wholly-
owned subsidiaries of BlackRock that are subject to the
Uniform Net Capital requirements under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, which requires maintenance of 
certain minimum net capital levels.
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On September 29, 2006, the Company completed the MLIM
Transaction and issued 52,395,082 shares of BlackRock
common stock and 12,604,918 of series A non-voting 
participating preferred shares to Merrill Lynch in consid-
eration for the MLIM business. In conjunction with the
MLIM Transaction, all existing class A and class B 
common stockholders exchanged their shares for the
newly issued common stock of the Company. All such
shares contain the same voting rights.

BlackRock’s authorized common stock, $0.01 par 
value, was 500,000,000 shares at December 31, 2008.
BlackRock’s authorized Series A non-voting participating
preferred stock, $0.01 par value, was 20,000,000 shares 
at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The series A non-voting participating preferred stock:

• except as otherwise provided by applicable law, is 
non-voting;

• participates in dividends on a basis generally equal 
to the common stock;

• grants the holder the option to receive dividends 
in common stock (subject to applicable ownership
restrictions) or in cash;

• benefits from a liquidation preference of $0.01 per
share; and

• is mandatorily convertible to BlackRock common stock
upon transfer to an unrelated party.

On October 1, 2007, the Company acquired the fund of
funds business of Quellos (See Note 3). The Company
issued 1,191,785 shares of BlackRock common stock that
were placed into an escrow account. The common shares
held in escrow had no dilutive effect for 2007. In April 2008,
280,519 common shares were released to Quellos in
accordance with the Quellos asset purchase agreement,
which resulted in an adjustment to the recognized pur-
chase price and had a dilutive effect in 2008. The remain-
ing 911,266 common shares may have a dilutive effect in
future periods based on the timing of the release of shares
from the escrow account in accordance with the Quellos
asset purchase agreement.

On January 1, 2009, Bank of America acquired Merrill
Lynch. In connection with this transaction, BlackRock
entered into exchange agreements with each of Merrill
Lynch and PNC pursuant to which on February 27, 2009 it
exchanged a portion of the BlackRock common stock it
held for an equal number of shares of non-voting pre-
ferred stock. (See Note 15, Related Party Transactions, 
for more details on these transactions.)

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 
and 2006, the Company paid cash dividends of 
$3.12 per common/preferred share (or $419), $2.68 
per common/preferred share (or $353) and $1.68 
per common/preferred share (or $136), respectively.

The Company’s common shares issued and outstanding
and related activity consist of the following:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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17. CAPITAL STOCK

Shares Issued Shares Outstanding
Common Treasury Preferred Common Preferred

Shares Common Escrow Shares Treasury Shares Shares Common Shares 
Class A & B Shares Shares Class A & B Shares Series A Class A & B Shares Series A

January 1, 2006 65,092,589 — — (1,091,771) — — 64,000,818 — —
Conversion of class B stock 

to class A stock (154,181) — — 154,181 — — — — —
Issuance of class A common stock 48,094 — — 179,604 — — 227,698 — —
Treasury stock transactions — — — (190,081) `— — (190,081) — —
Conversion of class A common 

stock to common stock (20,072,356) 20,072,356 — — — — (20,072,356) 20,072,356 —
Conversion of class B common 

stock to common stock (44,914,146) 44,914,146 — — — — (44,914,146) 44,914,146 —
Issuance of preferred 

series A stock — — — — — 12,604,918 — — 12,604,918
Issuance of common stock — 52,395,080 — — (24,618) — — 52,370,462 —
Conversion of class A treasury stock 

to treasury shares — — — 141,400 (141,400) — 141,400 (141,400) —
Conversion of class B treasury stock 

to treasury shares — — — 806,667 (806,667) — 806,667 (806,667) —

December 31, 2006 — 117,381,582 — — (972,685) 12,604,918 — 116,408,897 12,604,918

Issuance of common stock — — — — 2,089,341 — — 2,089,341 —
Issuance of common stock to 

escrow agent in connection with 
Quellos Transaction — 1,191,785 (1,191,785) — — — — — —

PNC capital contribution — — — — (966,512) — — (966,512) —
Treasury stock transactions — — — — (1,472,166) — — (1,472,166) —

December 31, 2007 — 118,573,367 (1,191,785) — (1,322,022) 12,604,918 — 116,059,560 12,604,918

Issuance of common stock — — — — 1,191,668 — — 1,191,668 —
Release of common stock from 

escrow agent — — 280,519 — — — — 280,519 —
PNC capital contribution — — — — (25,072) — — (25,072) —
Treasury stock transactions — — — — (215,565) — — (215,565) —

December 31, 2008 — 118,573,367 (911,266) — (370,991) 12,604,918 — 117,291,110 12,604,918
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During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company reduced
its workforce globally by approximately 9%. This action
was the result of a cost cutting initiative designed to
streamline operations, enhance competitiveness and bet-
ter position the Company in the asset management mar-
ketplace. The Company recorded a pre-tax restructuring
charge of approximately $38 ($26 after-tax) for the year
ended December 31, 2008. This charge was comprised 
of $34 of severance and associated outplacement costs, 
$3 of expenses related to the accelerated amortization of
previously granted equity-based compensation awards,
and $1 of expenses related to legal services for the 
year ended December 31, 2008.

The following table presents a rollforward of the Company’s
restructuring liability, which is included within other 
liabilities on the Company’s consolidated statement of
financial condition at December 31, 2008.

(Dollar amounts in millions)

Liability as of December 31, 2007 $—
Additions 35
Cash payments (14)

Liability as of December 31, 2008 $21 
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18. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

19. INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Current income tax expense:
Federal $396 $327 $184
State and local 49 48 22
Foreign 175 194 26

Total net current income tax expense 620 569 232

Deferred income tax expense (benefit):
Federal (159) (38) (26)
State and local (21) (9) (11)
Foreign (52) (58) (6)

Total net deferred income tax expense (benefit) (232) (105) (43)

Total income tax expense $388 $464 $189

Income tax expense has been based on the following components of income before taxes:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Domestic $657 $736 $448
Foreign 517 723 64

Total $1,174 $1,459 $512

A reconciliation of income tax expense with expected federal income tax expense computed at the applicable federal
income tax rate of 35% is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 

2008 % 2007 % 2006 %

Statutory income tax expense $411 35% $511 35% $179 35%

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Change in deferred foreign taxes for tax rate changes — — (50) (4) — —
Effect of foreign tax rates (37) (3) (36) (2) 5 1
State and local taxes (net of federal benefit) 25 2 39 3 16 3
Change in deferred state and local 

taxes for tax rate changes — — — — (11) (2)
Other (11) (1) — — — —

Income tax expense $388 33% $464 32% $189 37%
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Deferred income taxes are provided for the effects of 
temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset 
or liability and its reported amount in the Company’s

financial statements. These temporary differences result
in taxable or deductible amounts in future years.

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are shown below:

Year ended December 31, 

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:
Compensation and benefits $216 $147
Unrealized investment losses 157 —
Other 65 85

Gross deferred tax asset 438 232

Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill and acquired intangibles 2,199 2,246
Other 53 37

Gross deferred tax liability 2,252 2,283

Net deferred tax (liabilities) ($1,814) ($2,051)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded net when
related to the same tax jurisdiction. At December 31, 2008,
the Company recorded on the statement of financial condi-
tion deferred income tax assets, within other assets, and
deferred tax liabilities of $11 and $1,825, respectively. 
At December 31, 2007, the Company recorded on the
statement of financial condition deferred income tax
assets, within other assets, and deferred tax liabilities 
of $9 and $2,060, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2007, the United Kingdom and
Germany enacted legislation to reduce corporate income
tax rates, effective in April and January 2008, respectively.
As a result, the Company revalued its deferred tax liabili-
ties attributable to these jurisdictions and recorded a 
one-time deferred income tax benefit of $51 in 2007.

During 2008, the Company incurred investment losses of
$573 primarily related to unrealized losses on invest-
ments. Substantially all of the investment losses relate 
to investments held by subsidiaries in the United States.
After consideration of non-controlling interests of $155,
the net unrealized loss on investments was $418. Realized
capital losses may be carried back three years and carried
forward five years and offset against realized capital gains
for federal income tax purposes. The Company expects to
be able to carry back a portion of its unrealized capital
losses when realized, hold certain fixed income securities
over a period sufficient for them to recover their unreal-
ized losses, and to generate future capital gains sufficient
to offset the unrealized capital losses. The Company has
established a deferred tax asset of approximately $157
reflecting the Company’s conclusion that based on the
weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that
the deferred tax asset will be realized.

Goodwill recorded in connection with the Quellos Trans -
action has been reduced during the period by the amount
of tax benefit realized from tax-deductible goodwill. 
(See Note 9)

At December 31, 2008, the Company had a $14 valuation
allowance recorded on the consolidated statements of

financial condition. At December 31, 2007, the Company
had a $15 valuation allowance recorded in the consoli-
dated statements of financial condition. The year over year
decrease in valuation allowance primarily relates to the
2008 utilization of state net operating losses partially 
offset by an increase in valuation allowance for foreign
deferred tax assets.

Current income taxes are recorded net in the consolidated
statements of financial condition when related to the same
tax jurisdiction. The Company had current income taxes
receivable and payable of $44 and $120, respectively, as of
December 31, 2008 recorded in other assets and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, respectively. The Company
had current income taxes receivable and payable of $47
and $228, respectively, as of December 31, 2007 recorded
in other assets and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, respectively.

We do not provide the deferred taxes on the excess of 
the financial reporting over tax basis on our investments 
in foreign subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in
duration. The excess totaled $561 as of December 31,
2008. The determination of the additional deferred taxes
that have not been provided is not practicable due to the
complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation.

BlackRock adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48 on
January 1, 2007. As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, 
the Company recognized approximately $15 in increased
income tax reserves related to uncertain tax positions.
Approximately $14 of this increase related to taxes that
would affect the effective tax rate if recognized, and this
portion was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1,
2007 balance in retained earnings. The remaining $1 
balance, if disallowed, would not affect the annual effec-
tive tax rate. Total gross unrecognized tax benefits at
January 1, 2007 were approximately $52. The total amount
of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would
have affected the effective tax rate at January 1, 2007, 
was approximately $26.
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Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits 
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, are $60 and
$41 of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related 
to income tax matters as a component of income tax
expense. Related to the unrecognized tax benefits noted
above, the Company accrued interest and penalties of 
$5 during 2008 and in total, as of December 31, 2008, has
recognized a liability for interest of $11. During 2007, the
Company accrued interest of $2 and in total, as of Decem -
ber 31, 2007, had recognized a liability for interest of $6.

BlackRock is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well 
as income tax in multiple jurisdictions. The tax years after
2004 remain open to U.S. federal, state and local income
tax examination, and the tax years after 2005 remain open
to income tax examination in the United Kingdom. With 
few exceptions, as of December 31, 2008, the Company is
no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local or foreign
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004. 
The Company, however, is currently under audit in several
jurisdictions. During 2008, the Company received notifica-
tion from the Internal Revenue Service that it will conduct
an examination of BlackRock’s federal tax return and 
the audit cycle is expected to include the 2006, 2007 and
2008 tax years.

As of December 31, 2008, it is reasonably possible the 
total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will decrease

within the next twelve months. Until formal resolutions are
reached between the Company and tax authorities, the
determination of a possible audit settlement range with
respect to the impact on unrecognized tax benefits is 
not practicable. The Company does not anticipate that 
any possible adjustments resulting from these audits
would result in a material change to its consolidated 
financial statements.

Prior to September 29, 2006, BlackRock had filed selected
state and municipal income tax returns with one or more
PNC subsidiaries on a combined or unitary basis. When
BlackRock was included in a group’s combined or unitary
state or municipal income tax filing with PNC subsidiaries,
BlackRock’s share of the liability generally was an alloca-
tion to BlackRock of a percentage of the total tax liability
based upon BlackRock’s level of activity in such state or
municipality. PNC and BlackRock have entered into a tax
disaffiliation agreement that sets forth each party’s rights
and obligations with respect to income tax payments and
refunds and addresses related matters such as the filing
of tax returns and the conduct of audits or other proceed-
ings involving claims made by taxing authorities. As such,
the Company may be responsible for its pro rata share of
tax positions taken by PNC for unaudited tax years which
may be subsequently challenged by taxing authorities.
Management does not anticipate that any such amounts
would be material to the Company’s operations, financial
position or cash flows.
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The following tabular reconciliation presents the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits.

2008 2007

Balance at January 1 $66 $52
Additions for tax positions of prior years 12 1
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (2) (11)
Additions based on tax positions related to current year 42 24
Lapse of statute of limitations — —
Settlements (7) —
Foreign exchange translation 3 —

Balance at December 31 $114 $66

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Net income $786 $995 $323

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 129,543,443 128,488,561 80,638,167
Dilutive potential shares from stock options and 

restricted stock units 2,791,990 2,447,727 2,207,139
Dilutive potential shares from convertible debt 254,284 1,033,789 513,088
Dilutive potential shares from acquisition-related 

contingent stock payments 406,709 118,733 —

Dilutive weighted-average shares outstanding 132,996,426 132,088,810 83,358,394

Basic earnings per share $6.07 $7.75 $4.00

Diluted earnings per share $5.91 $7.53 $3.87
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The following table illustrates the Company’s total revenue
and long-lived assets, including goodwill and property and
equipment for the years ended December 2008, 2007 and
2006 by geographic region. These amounts are aggregated

on a legal entity basis and do not necessarily reflect 
where the customer is sourced or where the asset is 
physically located.

Due to the similarities in terms between BlackRock 
series A non-voting participating preferred stock and the
Company’s common stock, the Company considers the
series A non-voting participating preferred stock to be a
common stock equivalent for purposes of earnings per
share calculations. As such, the Company has included 
the outstanding series A non-voting participating preferred
stock in the calculation of average basic and diluted
shares outstanding for the years ended December 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006,
1,336,911, 1,545,735, and 0 stock options, respectively,
were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share because to include them would have an 
anti-dilutive effect.

Shares Issued in Acquisition

On October 1, 2007, the Company acquired the fund of
funds business of Quellos (See Note 3). The Company
issued 1,191,785 shares of BlackRock common stock that
were placed into an escrow account. The common shares
issued had no dilutive effect for 2007. In April 2008,
280,519 common shares were released to Quellos in
accordance with the Quellos asset purchase agreement,
which resulted in an adjustment to the recognized pur-
chase price and had a dilutive effect in 2008. The remain-
ing 911,266 common shares may have a dilutive effect 
in future periods based on the timing of the release of
shares from the escrow account in accordance with 
the Quellos asset purchase agreement. The release of 
the remaining escrow shares could begin to occur in 
2009 and be completed in 2010.
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21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

North America primarily is comprised of the United 
States, while Europe primarily is comprised of the United

Kingdom and Asia-Pacific primarily is comprised of Japan,
Australia and Hong Kong.

The Company’s management directs BlackRock’s opera-
tions as one business, the asset management business. 
As such, the Company believes it operates in one business
segment in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures

About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

The following table illustrates investment advisory and
administration base and performance fees, BlackRock

Solutions and advisory, distribution fees and other revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Fixed income $896 $906 $596
Equity and balanced 2,196 2,325 645
Cash management 708 520 203
Alternative investment products 609 609 397

Total investment advisory and administration fees 4,409 4,360 1,841
BlackRock Solutions and advisory 406 198 148
Distribution fees 139 123 36
Other revenue 110 164 73

Total revenue $5,064 $4,845 $2,098

2008 % of total 2007 % of total 2006 % of total

Revenues
North America $3,438 68% $3,070 63% $1,715 82%
Europe 1,360 27% 1,490 31% 321 15%
Asia-Pacific 266 5% 285 6% 62 3%

Total revenues $5,064 100% $4,845 100% $2,098 100%

Long-Lived Assets
North America $5,714 99% $5,695 98% $5,408 99%
Europe 27 0% 35 1% 30 0%
Asia-Pacific 52 1% 56 1% 34 1%

Total long-lived assets $5,793 100% $5,786 100% $5,472 100%
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MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

BlackRock’s common stock is listed on the NYSE and is
traded under the symbol “BLK”. At the close of business
on January 31, 2009, there were 504 common stock holders
of record. Common stockholders include institutional or
omnibus accounts that hold common stock for multiple
underlying investors.

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated 
the high and low reported sale prices, period-end closing
prices for the common stock and dividends declared per
share for the common stock as reported on the NYSE:

Common Stock Price Ranges Closing Dividends
High Low Price Declared

2008

First Quarter $231.99 $165.72 $204.18 $0.78
Second Quarter $227.51 $171.86 $177.00 $0.78
Third Quarter $249.37 $156.20 $194.50 $0.78
Fourth Quarter $195.00 $94.78 $134.15 $0.78

2007

First Quarter $180.30 $151.32 $156.31 $0.67
Second Quarter $162.83 $143.69 $156.59 $0.67
Third Quarter $179.97 $139.20 $173.41 $0.67
Fourth Quarter $224.54 $172.18 $216.80 $0.67

BlackRock’s closing common stock price as of February 27,
2009 was $96.81.

Dividends

On February 26, 2009, the Board of Directors approved
BlackRock’s quarterly dividend of $0.78 to be paid on
March 23, 2009 to stockholders of record on March 9, 2009.

Merrill Lynch and its affiliates and PNC and its affiliates
receive dividends on the non-voting participating preferred
stock that they hold equivalent to the dividends received by
common stockholders.
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COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on BlackRock’s common stock from 
December 31, 2003 through December 31, 2008, with the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index 
(“Russell 2000”) and the SNL Asset Manager Index.* The graph assumes the investment of $100 in BlackRock’s 
common stock and in each of the two indices on December 31, 2003 and the reinvestment of all dividends, 
if any. The following information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but neither its 
accuracy nor its completeness is guaranteed. The perfor mance graph is not necessarily indicative of future 
investment performance.

TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE

Period Ending

Index 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08

BlackRock, Inc. 100.00 147.62 210.20 297.95 432.32 272.46
SNL Asset Manager 100.00 130.47 165.93 192.43 219.04 104.10
Russell 2000 100.00 118.33 123.72 146.44 144.15 95.44

* The SNL Asset Manager Index currently comprises the following companies: Affiliated Managers Group Inc.; AllianceBernstein Holding L.P.; Alternative Asset
Management;  BKF Capital Group Inc.; BlackRock, Inc.; Blackstone Group L.P.; Brookfield Asset Management; Calamos Asset Management Inc.; Cohen & Steers
Inc.; Diamond Hill Investment Group; Eaton Vance Corp.; Epoch Holding Corp.; Federated Investors Inc.; Fortress Investment Group LLC; Franklin Resources Inc.;
GAMCO Investors, Inc.; GLG Partners Inc.; Hennessy Advisors Inc.; Integrity Mutual Funds Inc.; INVESCO Ltd.; Janus Capital Group Inc.; Legg Mason Inc.; Och-Ziff
Capital Management; Pzena Investment Management; SEI Investments Co.; T. Rowe Price Group Inc.; Triplecrown Acquisition Corp.; U.S. Global Investors Inc.;
Value Line Inc.; W.P. Stewart & Co. Ltd.; Waddell & Reed Financial Inc.; Westwood Holdings Group Inc.

12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08
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BOARD MEMBERS                 OPERATING COMMITTEE

Laurence D. Fink (2)

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, BlackRock, Inc. 

Abdlatif Y. Al-Hamad

Director General/Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of the Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development 

Mathis Cabiallavetta (1,4)

Former Vice Chairman, Office of the Chief Executive Officer 
of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. (MMC), 
Chairman of MMC International 

Dennis D. Dammerman (1,3)

Former Vice Chairman of the Board and Executive Officer,
General Electric Company and Chairman, 
General Electric Capital Services, Inc. 

William S. Demchak

Senior Vice Chairman, 
The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. and PNC Bank 

Kenneth B. Dunn, Ph.D. (1)

Dean and Professor of Financial Economics,  
David A. Tepper School of Business at 
Carnegie Mellon University

Murry S. Gerber (1,2)

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, 
EQT Corporation 

James Grosfeld (3,4)

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Pulte 

Robert S. Kapito

President, BlackRock, Inc. 

David H. Komansky (3)

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. 

Sir Deryck Maughan (3)

Member and Head of Financial Institutions Group, 
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts 

Brian T. Moynihan (2)

President of Global Banking and Wealth Management, 
Bank of America Corporation 

Thomas H. O’Brien (4)

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. 

Linda Gosden Robinson (2,4)

Chairman, Robinson Lerer & Montgomery, LLC 

James E. Rohr (2)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.

Daniel C. Sontag

President, Merrill Lynch Global Wealth Management

1. Audit Committee
2. Executive Committee
3. Management Development & Compensation Committee
4. Nominating & Governance Committee
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Laurence D. Fink, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Robert S. Kapito, President

Scott M. Amero, Vice Chairman

Paul L. Audet, Vice Chairman

Robert C. Doll, Vice Chairman

Robert W. Fairbairn, Vice Chairman

Bennett W. Golub, Ph.D., Vice Chairman

Charles S. Hallac, Vice Chairman

J. Richard Kushel, Vice Chairman

Susan L. Wagner, Vice Chairman & Chief Operating Officer

Robert E. Capaldi, Managing Director

James J. Charrington, Managing Director

Charles I. Clarvit, Managing Director

Robert P. Connolly, Managing Director & General Counsel

John J. Davis, Managing Director

Richard S. Davis, Managing Director

Andrew C. Dyson, Managing Director

Peter R. Fisher, Managing Director

Edward Fishwick, Managing Director

Thomas M. Fortin, Managing Director

Robert L. Goldstein, Managing Director

Edward F. Hart, Managing Director

Peter J. Hayes, Managing Director

Michael C. Huebsch, Managing Director

James Kong, Managing Director

Milan D. Lint, Managing Director

Simon Mendelson, Managing Director

Susan Ward Mink, Managing Director

Ann Marie Petach, Managing Director & Chief Financial Officer

Andrew J. Phillips, Managing Director

Francis M. Porcelli, Managing Director

Quintin R. Price, Managing Director

Charles C. Prideaux, Managing Director

Bryan K. White, Managing Director

Homes, Inc.

, Frederich Lieblich

Vice ChairmanBarbara G. Novick, 

Managing Director
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Corporate Headquarters
BlackRock, Inc.
40 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10022
(212) 810-5300

Stock Listing
BlackRock, Inc.’s common stock is traded on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol BLK. At the 
close of business on January 31, 2009, there were 504
common stockholders of record, including institutional
omnibus accounts.

Internet Information
Information on BlackRock’s financial results and its
products and services is available on the Internet at
www.blackrock.com.

Financial Information
BlackRock makes available, free of charge, through 
its website at www.blackrock.com, under the heading
“Investor Relations,” its Annual Report to Stockholders,
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, its Proxy Statement
and Form of Proxy and all amendments to those reports
as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The Company has included as
Exhibit 31 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
year 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
certificates of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company certifying the quality 
of the Company’s public disclosure, and the Company has
submitted to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate 
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company certifying
that he is not aware of any violation by the Company of
New York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing
standards.

Inquiries
BlackRock will provide, free of charge to each stockholder
upon written request, a copy of BlackRock’s Annual
Report to Stockholders, Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, Proxy Statement and Form of Proxy and all
amendments to those reports. Requests for copies
should be addressed to Investor Relations, BlackRock,
Inc., 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10055. Requests
may also be directed to (212) 810-5300 or via e-mail to
invrel@blackrock.com. Copies may also be accessed 
electronically by means of the SEC’s home page on the
Internet at www.sec.gov. Stockholders and analysts should
contact Investor Relations at (212) 810-5300 or via e-mail
at invrel@blackrock.com. News media representatives and
others seeking general information should contact
Corporate Communications at (212) 810-5300 or via 
e-mail at invrel@blackrock.com.

Annual Stockholders Meeting
All stockholders are invited to attend the BlackRock
annual meeting on Thursday, May 21, 2009, beginning 
at 10:30 a.m., local time. The meeting will be held at
BlackRock, Inc., 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10055.

Dividend Policy
The declaration of and payment of dividends by
BlackRock are subject to the discretion of our Board of
Directors. On February 26, 2009, the Board of Directors
approved a quarterly dividend of $0.78, which was 
paid on March 23, 2009, to stockholders of record on
March 9, 2009.

Registrar and Transfer Agent
BNY Mellon Shareholder Services
480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900
(800) 851-9677

CORPORATE INFORMATION

High

$231.99
$227.51
$249.37
$195.00

$180.30
$162.83
$179.97
$224.54

Low

$165.72
$171.86
$156.20
$ 94.78

$151.32
$143.69
$139.20
$172.18

Closing
Price

$204.18
$177.00
$194.50
$134.15

$156.31
$156.59
$173.41
$216.80

Dividends
Declared

$0.78
$0.78
$0.78
$0.78

$0.67
$0.67
$0.67
$0.67

2008

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter 
Fourth Quarter

2007 

First Quarter 
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Common Stock Prices
The table below sets forth by quarter the range of high and low sale and quarter-end closing prices for BlackRock’s
common stock.

Stock Price Ranges
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Past performance is not indicative of future results. Source of performance information is BlackRock, Inc., and is based in part
on data from Lipper Inc. for U.S. funds and Morningstar©, Inc. for non-U.S. funds. Fund performance reflects the reinvestment of
dividends and distributions, but does not reflect sales charges.

The S&P 500® is a widely recognized, unmanaged index of common stock prices of industrial, utility, transportation and financial
companies in U.S. markets. The MSCI World Index is a free float-adjusted market capitalization weighted index that is designed
to measure the equity market performance of developed markets. 

The disclosure of any representative client does not indicate approval or disapproval by such client of BlackRock or of the 
services provided. 

The Morningstar information contained herein: (1) is proprietary to Morningstar; (2) may not be copied or distributed; and (3) is
not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. Morningstar is not responsible for any damages or losses arising from any use
of this information. For each fund with at least a three-year history, Morningstar calculates a Morningstar Rating™ based on a
Morningstar Risk-Adjusted Return measure that accounts for variation in a fund’s monthly performance (including the effects of
sales charges, loads, and redemption fees), placing more emphasis on downward variations and rewarding consistent perform-
ance. The top 10% of funds in each category receive 5 stars, the next 22.5% receive 4 stars. The overall Morningstar Rating for a
fund is derived from a weighted average of the performance figures associated with its three-, five- and ten-year (if applicable)
Morningstar Ranking metrics.

Opinions expressed through page 15 are as of April 2009 and are subject to change. 

IMPORTANT NOTES

Corporate Headquarters
BlackRock, Inc.
40 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10022
(212) 810-5300

Americas

Atlanta, GA
Bloomfield Hills, MI
Boston, MA
Charlotte, NC
Chicago, IL
Cincinnati, OH
Dallas, TX
Durham, NC
Florham Park, NJ
Houston, TX
Jacksonville, FL
La Jolla, CA
Los Angeles, CA
Miami, FL
Minneapolis, MN
New York, NY
Newport Beach, CA
Palm Beach, FL

Europe

Amsterdam
Brussels
Edinburgh
Frankfurt
Geneva
Isle of Man
Jersey
London
Luxembourg
Madrid
Milan
Munich
Paris
Peterborough
Stockholm
Vienna
Warsaw
Zurich

BLACKROCK OFFICES WORLDWIDE

Asia Pacific

Beijing
Hong Kong
Mumbai
Seoul
Singapore
Taipei
Tokyo

Australia

Brisbane
Melbourne
Perth
Sydney

Philadelphia, PA
Phoenix, AZ
Pittsburgh, PA
Princeton, NJ
San Francisco, CA
Seattle, WA
Stamford, CT
St. Louis, MO
St. Petersburg, FL
Washington, DC
Wilmington, DE
Toronto, Canada

Headquartered in New York City, BlackRock has offices in 21 countries and a major presence in key global
markets, including the Americas, Europe, Asia Pacific and Australia.



40 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10022
Telephone: (212) 810-5300
www.blackrock.com

Copyright © 2009 BlackRock, Inc.
All Rights Reserved

http://www.blackrock.com



